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Abbreviations

AC

Author’s collection, Kensington, Maryland.

AMC

Anthracite Museum Complex, Scranton, Pa.

ASC

Anthracite Strike Commission 

BG

Boston Globe

BH

Borehole

BLM

U.S. Bureau of Land Management

BMP

Bloomsburg Morning Press

BOM

U.S. Bureau of Mines

BPE

Bloomsburg Press-Enterprise

CC

Concerned Citizens

CCRA

Columbia County Redevelopment Authority, Bloomsburg, Pa.

CHD

Campaign for Human Development, Washington, D.C.

CMF 

Centralia Mine Fire

CUA

Catholic University of America, Washington, D.C.

CW

Catholic Witness

DEP/DMS
Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection/Division of Deep Mine Safety 

DOI

U.S. Department of the Interior

DOL

U.S. Department of Labor

FOIA

Freedom of Information Act 

GMA

Good Morning America
HPN

Harrisburg Patriot-News

HSS

Hazelton Standard-Speaker

LVCC

Lehigh Valley Coal Company

LVRR

Lehigh Valley Railroad

LOC

Library of Congress, Washington, D.C.

MCI

Mount Carmel Item

MCDN
Mount Carmel Daily News

MLSB

Mary Lou Gaughan’s two-volume scrapbook

MIR

Mine Inspection Reports, published annually by the state of Pennsylvania

MJ

Miners’ Journal

MSHA

U.S. Mine Safety and Health Administration 

NOTP

New Orleans Times-Picayune

NYT 

New York Times 

OSM

U.S. Office of Surface Mining

PDN

Philadelphia Daily News

PHMC

Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission
PSA

Pennsylvania State Archives, Harrisburg, Pa.

PI

Philadelphia Inquirer

PR

Pottsville Republican

PP

Pittsburgh Press

RE

Reading Eagle

SCHS

Schuylkill County Historical Society, Pottsville, Pa.

SEH

Shenandoah Evening Herald


SMCRA
Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act

SNI

Shamokin News Item

UMBC

University of Maryland, Baltimore County, Md.

WP

Washington Post

YDR

York Daily Record

VV 

Village Voice

Prologue: Into the Fire 

Todd Domboski: Unless otherwise indicated, this account is based on interviews with multiple participants and eyewitnesses, including Todd and Flo Domboski, Terri Coleman (the first journalist on the scene) residents and officials. In addition, Todd discussed his experience with the media on many occasions, including Good Morning America, NBC Nightly News and ABC Evening News, and the author reviewed video tapes of these broadcasts. See also Chapter Five notes for more detailed references to media coverage of Todd’s experience. 

Carrie Wolfgang had glanced: David DeKok, Unseen Danger: A Tragedy of People, Government and the Centralia Mine Fire (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1986), p. 152.

About 500 homes and 1,000 residents: Bureau of Mines, Problems in the Control of the Centralia Mine Fire (Aug. 15, 1980), p. 19 (hereafter, “Red Book”); Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, p. 110 (1,019 residents in 1980 and 1,200 in 1970).

Spotted a cluster: DeKok, Unseen Danger, p. 152.

Phoned her daughter: Ibid.
Dispatched Todd to investigate: Ibid.
Saturated from a deluge: SNI, Feb. 11, 1981. 

Orange hat: Video footage and Todd’s own statements confirm the knitted cap was day-glo orange, a hunting cap, as he described it. See Good Morning America, ABC, Aug. 4, 1981, copy in AC; Nightline, ABC, Oct. 20, 1981, copy in AC (transcript and video).

“Put your hand up:” Renee Jacobs, Slow Burn: A Photodocument of Centralia, Pennsylvania (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1986), p. 9; PR, June 2, 1990.

Snapped Todd’s photograph: The photograph, taken by Terri Coleman, appears on the front cover of this book, along with another of her photographs of the aftermath, an image of officials huddled near the cave-in, with its plume of steam.

Anthracite properties and geography: Anthony F. C. Wallace, St. Clair: A Nineteenth Century Coal Town’s Experience with a Disaster-Prone Industry (New York: Knopf, 1987), pp. 3-7; Donald L. Miller & Richard E. Sharpless, The Kingdom of Coal: Work, Enterprise and Ethnic Communities in the Mine Fields (Philadelphia: U. Penn. Press, 1985), pp. 2-5.

A 34-mile-long, four-mile-wide: Reports of the Inspectors of Coal Mines of the Anthracite Coal Regions of Pennsylvania for the Year 1870  (Harrisburg: B. Singerly, 1871) (frontispiece map) (hereafter, “MIR”), copy in AC.

At 33- to 45-degree angles: 1870 MIR, p. 71.

Two thousand to three thousand feet below ground, and surge back upward several miles away, often in the next coal town: Wallace, St. Clair, p. 7.

Quality and quantity: 1870 MIR, p. 71.
Unsurpassed anywhere in state: Ibid. The official also noted: “The veins are very thick both sides of the [Centralia] basin and continue so its whole length, and occupy a very conspicuous uniformity of character for excellence, purity and inexhaustible quantity.” Ibid.

Buried in inaccessible seams: Miller & Sharpless, Kingdom of Coal, pp. 3-6.

After the War of 1812: Eliot Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination in the United States (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1914), pp. 11-22; Alfred D. Chandler, Jr., Anthracite Coal and the Beginnings of the Industrial Revolution in the United States, Business History Review, Vol. XLVI (1972), pp.151-65.

Girard, Biddle and Wharton: Miller & Sharpless, Kingdom of Coal, p. 48.

Siphoned profits to New York and Philadelphia: Ibid, pp. 49-50.

Fourteen mines opened in and around Centralia, employing up to several hundred men and boys -- some as young as nine: Thomas Dempsey, Centralia 125: Special Anniversary Edition (1866-1991) (Selinsgrove, Pa.: Meadowood Publications, Inc., 1991), pp. 26-30; 1878 MIR, p. 254, copy in AC (showing 1871 wage scales for breaker boys, starting at age nine).

By 1890, more than: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 24.

Three locals in Centralia: Ibid, p. 12.

More than one thousand: Ibid, p. 12.

Fires raged in seven: U.S. Code Congressional and Administrative News, pp. 3584-85 (1954).

One mine fire, in Laurel Run: NYT Magazine, Nov. 22, 1981.

Smoldering since 1915: Ibid.

Atop an abandoned strip-mining pit: Bureau of Mines, Problems in the Control of Anthracite Mine Fires: A Case Study of the Centralia Mine Fire (Aug. 1983), p. 21 (hereafter, “Case Study”); Red Book, p. 19.

About 50-feet deep and 75-feet wide: Case Study, p. 21; Red Book, p. 19.

Independent contractor stripped: Case Study, p. 21; Red Book, p. 19.
Seven-foot-wide: Case Study, p. 4.

Abandoned by Lehigh Valley Coal: See Chapter Two.

In 1931: Case Study, p. 21; Red Book, p. 19; see Chapter Two.

Nine-thousand-dollar median: Robins and Associates, Socioeconomic Impact Analysis: Centralia Mine-Fire Abatement Alternatives, Final Report (Dec. 12, 1980), p. 119, copy in AC (hereafter, “Socioeconomic Impact Analysis”).

Half the national average: Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, p. 119.

Oven-fried fish at the senior center: SNI, Feb. 14, 1981.

Pouring off the AP wire: SNI, Feb. 10, 1981; SNI, Feb. 13, 1981; SNI, Feb. 14, 1981.

Old Episcopal church: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 15.

Valentine’s dance that evening: SNI, Feb. 10, 1981.

Music by Audio-Feedback: Ibid.

Lynch-Gugie-Cheppa-Liptock Post No. 608: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 20.
Time capsule: Ibid, p. 24.

Whitey’s Polka Band: SNI, Feb. 14, 1981.

Valentine’s dance that evening: Ibid.

Nelligan conferred with Watt: SEH, Feb. 16, 1981.

In January: Ibid.

What Centralians wanted: DeKok, Unseen Danger, p. 154.

Pressured Centralia’s mayor and council: SEH, Feb. 16, 1981.

Favored making the county: Ibid.

Twenty dollars per month: Centralia Borough Council, Financial Statement for Month Ending Apr. 30, 1981, General Fund Expenditures, copy in AC (Polites docs).

Balked at shouldering responsibility: SEH, Feb. 16, 1981.
Half opposed, including relocation: Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, pp. 158-59.

Nelligan suggested a referendum: SEH, Feb. 16, 1981.
Monitor sounded seven times: See generally Daily Records of Centralia gas testing, maintained by Edward Narcavage and Wayne Readly, Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, Anthracite and Industrial Minerals Mine Safety Division, Pottsville, Pa., copies in AC. 

Governmental safety threshold: Case Study, p. 18; Red Book, p. 34.

Unsafe for habitation: HPN, Feb. 16, 1981; SNI, Feb. 19, 1981.

Reluctant to move, even temporarily: SEH, Feb. 16, 1981.

Saw figures running: DeKok, Unseen Danger, p. 153.

Grabbed an aide: Ibid.

Told him to call: Ibid.

Carrie dialed Flo: Jacobs, Slow Burn, p. 9.

“Get over here:” Ibid.

“Todd fell in a:” Ibid.

Flo panicked: Ibid.

Tried to hug him: Ibid.

Pushed her away: Ibid.

Said he was okay: Ibid.

Mayor suggested a test: Ibid.

Relocation simply not necessary: SEH, Feb. 16, 1981.

Todd couldn’t sleep: Jacobs, Slow Burn, p. 9.

No blanket: Ibid.

Measured 160 degrees: SNI, Feb. 17, 1981.

Registered 1,154 parts per million: Memorandum from M.E. Hager to David G. Simpson (Feb. 23, 1981), copy in AC (FOIA docs); see DOL, MSHA Laboratories, Mount Hope, W.V. Air Sample Analysis (Feb. 16, 1981), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (gas sample collected at a depth of one feet inside the subsidence where Todd fell contained .05 percent methane. The same sample contained 1,154 ppm of carbon monoxide, 96 percent of the level the government deemed immediately dangerous to life and health); DOL, MSHA Laboratories, Mount Hope, W.V. Air Sample Analysis (Feb. 19, 1981), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (.04 percent methane and 893 ppm CO); SNI, Feb. 20, 1981.

More than thirty times: Case Study, p. 18; see Red Book, p. 34. Under federal workplace-safety guidelines, the recommended exposure for an eight-hour shift is 35 parts per million; the maximum allowable exposure is 50 parts per million. See Red Book, p. 34.

Would have died: PR, Feb. 16, 1981.
First grade for 37 years: MCI, Sept. 16, 1940.
Shuttered classrooms: MCI, Sept. 17, 1940.

After third grade: I base this account on my grandfather’s obituary, which said he attended school until age nine. MCI, Mar. 15, 1947; see also V. Green, e-mail to the author, May 14, 2003 (age nine). My father’s brother, my Uncle Jim, believes their father completed fifth grade. When my grandfather died, however, several of his siblings were still alive, and they presumably knew when their brother started working as a breaker boy.

Ten hours a day, six days a week and pocketed about 40 cents a day: 1878 MIR, p. 254.

Fire boss duties: Mauchline, The Mine Foreman’s Handbook, pp. 28-32; WPA History Project, “A Fire Boss on His Rounds,” FN 700, Folder No. 42, PSA; Bureau of Mines, “The Miner’s Lesson,” U.S. Bureau of Mines Film No. 26 (1914), RG 70, National Archives II, College Park, Md.

Replaced his older brother: MCI, Mar. 5, 1924. Reading promoted my grandfather’s brother, Pat Quigley, from Reliance Colliery foreman to divisional superintendent, charged with supervising three collieries in Shenandoah.

Foreman: MCI, Mar. 5, 1924. Before the promotion, my grandfather served as the assistant foreman at Reliance, where he presumably reported to his brother. 

An 800-employee: 1913 MIR, pp. 431, 433, copy in AC; SEH, Mar. 9, 1979, p. 4 (Reliance photo). 
Chapter One: Powder Keg

With three days remaining: See Author’s Note. 

Clean the dump: Centralia Borough Council, Meeting Minutes (May 7, 1962), copy in AC.

Received the suggestion very favorably: Ibid. At the May 7 meeting, council also mulled sewer repairs, fire-truck maintenance and the janitor’s request for a pay hike. 

On Saturday May 26: See Author’s Note at the end of The Day the Earth Caved In. For an alternate account, see DeKok, Unseen Danger, pp. 20-25 (firefighters started the blaze by igniting the dump on May 27). 

My analysis of how the blaze started is anchored in my seven-year process of reporting and researching the town, the mine fire and the history of the anthracite industry – as well as close to 200 interviews with current and former residents. And, as I wrote in the Author’s Note at the end of the book and explain in greater detail here, evidence I unearthed from multiple sources, including interviews with eyewitnesses, volunteer firemen, the former fire chief and borough officials, as well as contemporaneous borough council minutes, support the conclusion I reached – that the fire started on May 26, 1962 when a commercial hauler named Curly Stasulevich dumped a load of hot ashes on the town’s landfill, which sat atop an exposed coal seam in an abandoned stripping pit. 

As the foregoing makes plain, I did not casually deviate from prior reporting about Centralia – or from Mr. DeKok’s contention in his book that the fire started one day later, on May 27, when firefighters ignited the landfill. I support my conclusion with the following points:

First, I interviewed several former residents who were present at the dump in the hours and days after the mine fire started. These eyewitnesses include Mary Lou Gaughan, who ran to watch the firefighters at the dump, where she overheard a bystander say that someone had flung hot ashes on the landfill. Her account squared with – and provided fresh insight into -- an explanation I heard frequently over the years when I asked former residents how the fire started: someone heaved hot ashes on the dump. Another eyewitness, who went to the landfill either the day the fire started or the next day, shared with me, on condition of anonymity, what a firefighter said during this visit: Curly Stasulevich was just up here and he dumped a lot of hot ashes. 

Second, on June 4, 1962, when borough council met for the first time after the fire started, the meeting minutes report that five firemen submitted bills for “fighting the fire at the landfill area” on May 27. This squares with the eyewitness accounts I excavated, that a fire was already burning in the landfill by May 27 and had to be fought. And, as Mary Lou overheard at the landfill on May 27, the firefighters thought they had extinguished the fire – the one started by hot ashes the day before.

Third, minutes from the June 4 meeting report two fires at the dump. They also refer to a May 27 “cleaning” of the dump with a front-end loader. In Centralia, “cleaning” the dumps typically meant the fire company’s annual spring ritual of igniting the top layer of refuse, to minimize odors and vermin. There is no mention or discussion of the other fire. And with borough officials obviously concerned about the landfill fire, presumably out of loyalty to Stasulevich, his dumping and the blaze it caused were the episode to omit, as the minutes did. 

This evidence buttresses my conclusion about when and how the fire started. In his own book, (p. 25), Mr. DeKok admitted uncertainty about his sequence of events. “Perhaps there is no way to prove that the fire of May 27, 1962 became the Centralia mine fire,” he wrote, “but the weight of the evidence supports that conclusion.” My extensive research, including new sources I cultivated and a fresh look at existing documents, led me to a different conclusion.

As a matter of professional courtesy and responsibility, on the occasions when I relied on Mr. DeKok’s reporting, I cited his book in these notes. I also included his book on a list of secondary sources, entitled Further Reading, at the end of mine. 

Before finalizing the manuscript, I trimmed some of the analysis set forth above from the Author’s Note and the Chapter Notes on the assumption that this level of detail would not be of interest to most readers. I have added this information back into the Chapter Notes on the web so that readers may learn more -- about this or any other topic in the book. Centralia remains an inherently interesting subject, like the industry that created and abandoned the town, bequeathing a legacy of environmental wreckage that endures to this day.

Failed to excite: See PP, Mar. 6, 1983 (Mary Lou Gaughan, recalling she thought to herself, “The dump, who cares?”); BPE, Apr. 20, 1984 (former fire chief James Cleary saying no one panicked when the dump fire ignited; he had seen dozens of them and it could wait until Tuesday, [May 29], when someone could drive to Ashland and borrow 500 extra feet of hose).

Next morning, a crew of five: Centralia Borough Council, Meeting Minutes (June 4, 1962), copy in AC. 

Bulldozer: Renee Jacobs, Slow Burn: A Photodocument of Centralia, Pennsylvania (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1986), p. 28 (interview with Jerry “Slavy” Wysochansky, a former borough-council member, about the day the fire started); Centralia Borough Council Minutes (June 4, 1962). 
Two days elapsed: See HPN, May 31, 2005; DeKok, Unseen Danger, p. 23; BPE, Apr. 20, 1984 (interview with James Cleary, saying firefighters borrowed 500 feet of extra hose from Ashland on Tuesday, [May 29]); Nightline, ABC, Aug. 11, 1983) (interview with former councilman Joe Tighe, saying we tried to put the fire out ourselves by borrowing extra hose from Ashland, pouring water on it ourselves and rooting around with a bulldozer, but it had spread down too deep). 

A few days later: HPN, May 30, 2005; see Nightline, ABC, Aug. 11, 1983 (interview with former councilman Joe Tighe). 

General fund boasted about $2,300: Centralia Borough Council Minutes (May 7, 1962).

For decades, operators undertook: David R. Philbin & John A. Holbrook, II, Progress Toward Abatement of Mine Fires in the Anthracite Coal Fields (April 1988), pp. 2, 5, copy in AC (FOIA docs); see Mauchline, Mine Foreman’s Handbook, pp. 228-31, 263-64.

Kept quiet: The state renewed Centralia’s waste-disposal permit for the dump permit on June 11, 1962. Memorandum from Lewis E. Evans to George Segaritis (June 28, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Alerted the commonwealth: Memo from Evans to Segaritis (June 28, 1962); Memorandum from C. S. Kuebler to J. A. Corgan (Aug. 8, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); DeKok, Unseen Danger, p. 25. The whistleblower’s name was C. Elmer Wills. Letter from Evans to Wills (July 11, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Admonishing him: Memo from Evans to Segaritis (June 28, 1962).

On vacation: Letter from James J. Shober to Lewis E. Evans (July 6, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Blaze had extinguished: Ibid.

Borough hired a bulldozer: Ibid.

Almost 200 feet: Red Book, p. 19; Memorandum from J.J. Rosella to John W. Buch (July 30, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

About seventeen hundred feet east: LVCC, Map of Centralia Colliery (June 30, 1915), No. AC88.24622.335M85, PHMC/AMC, Scranton, copy in AC (showing Buck outcrops).

The south dip: LVCC Map of Centralia Colliery (June 30, 1915) (showing Buck outcrops).

The north dip: Ibid.

Vapors spurted: Memorandum from J.J. Rosella to John W. Buch (July 30, 1962) (FOIA docs).

Fumes in St. Ignatius: Rev. Msgr. William J. Burke, the St. Ignatius pastor, complained to Mary Lavelle, a registered nurse and the borough’s public health officer, about the odor. Centralia Borough Council, Meeting Minutes (July 2, 1962), copy in AC; St. Ignatius’ Church Centenary: 1869-1969 (no publisher information supplied), p. 30, copy in AC.

About nine hundred feet:  LVCC Map of Centralia Colliery (June 30, 1915), (showing Buck outcrops); Centralia Surface Map, Shelf E-1, Map No. 453, DEP/DMS, Pottsville, Pa, copy in AC.

Closed the dump: Centralia Borough Council, Meeting Minutes (Aug. 6, 1962), copy in AC.

Conceded the obvious: Centralia Borough Council, Meeting Minutes (July 25, 1962), copy in AC.

Notified the landlord: Ibid.

Mayor, council president and secretary: Ibid.

Informed the state: Ibid.

Fudged the cause and start date: “In spite of all precautions to operate the waste disposal area within the provisions of the applicable law, a fire of unknown origin started on or about June 25, 1962 during a period of unusually hot weather,” they wrote. “The results were always the same; the fire would appear to be out, only to reappear within a few days.” Letter to Lewis E. Evans from George Winnick, Robert Burge and John Koschoff (July 26, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs). 
The next day: Memorandum from J.J. Rosella to John W. Buch (July 30, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Isolate and uproot: Letter from James Shober to Lewis Evans (Aug. 3, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Unveiled their strategy: Memorandum from Rosella to Buch (July 30, 1962); Memorandum from Charles Kuebler to J. A. Corgan (July 30, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Letter from Shober to Evans (Aug. 3, 1962).

Estimated cost of thirty thousand dollars: Memorandum from Rosella to Buch (July 30, 1962); Letter from Shober to Evans (Aug. 3, 1962); Red Book, pp. 19, 21.

Knew they had to hustle: Letter from Shober to Evans (Aug. 3, 1962).

Congress’s 1954 mandates: 30 U.S.C. secs. 555(b)(1), 558 (West Supp. 1971) (enacted Aug. 31, 1954).

Including twenty-three anthracite mine fires: Philbin & Holbrook, Progress Toward Abatement of Mine Fires, p. 7.

Invoked financial hardship: 30 U.S.C. sec. 555(b) (West Supp. 1971).

Adversity opt-out: 30 U.S.C. sec. 555(b)(2) (West Supp. 1971).

Empowering the secretary to scrutinize: 30 U.S.C. sec. 555(b)(2) (West Supp. 1971).

Six operators retained an interest: Memorandum from Charles Kuebler to J. A. Corgan (July 30, 1962) (FOIA docs); Letter from James Shober to Lewis Evans (Aug. 3, 1962) (FOIA docs).

Require the state to cooperate: 30 U.S.C. sec. 555(a)(1) (West Supp. 1971).

Convened a summit: Memorandum from Charles Kuebler to J. A. Corgan (Aug. 8, 1962) (FOIA docs); Red Book, p. 21; Preliminary Report on Centralia Mine Fire (Dec. 12, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs). 

Lehigh Valley Coal and Susquehanna Coal: Memorandum from Kuebler to Corgan (Aug. 8, 1962); Red Book, p. 21; Preliminary Report on Centralia Mine Fire (Dec. 12, 1962).

Officials said: Red Book, p. 21; Preliminary Report on Centralia Mine Fire (Dec. 12, 1962).

Federal funding remained in doubt: Memo from Kuebler to Corgan (Aug. 8, 1962). 

Three months would elapse: Ibid. 

Charles Kuebler: Ibid. 

Pool their capital: Ibid. 

So contractors could begin: Ibid.
Not their fire and not their fault: This summary is based on an interview with a Centralia official who attended the meeting.

Reported $3.8 million in assets, including $55,000 in cash: LVCC, Annual Report for the year ended Dec. 31, 1961, No. 1961 338.21 L54, PHMC, Scranton, copy in AC. The balance sheet – and Lehigh Valley Coal’s claim of poverty – reflected the bottom-line impact of the industry’s downturn and the lingering weight of leveraged coal properties, now close to 100 years old. Based on 1913 appraisals, the company valued its real-estate and mineral assets at $27.6 million, less a $23.8 million reserve for depletion and depreciation and $1.2 million in appreciation stemming from a restatement of its investment in mining properties. The balance sheet also reported $4.8 million in liabilities, including $3.9 million in 1924 mortgage bonds on its coal lands.

Didn’t have the money: Memo from Kuebler to Corgan (Aug. 8, 1962). 

Shouldered the project alone: Memo from Kuebler to Corgan (Aug. 8, 1962); see also Letter from Evans to Shober (Aug. 7, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs). 
An eighty-foot boom and 2.5-yard bucket: This account is based in part on an interview with one of the workers. For more on this project, see Red Book, pp. 21-23; Letter from Evans to Shober (Aug. 22, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Preliminary Report on the Centralia Mine Fire (Dec. 12, 1962); Letter from Gordon Smith to H. B. Charmbury (May 3, 1963), copy in AC (FOIA docs); DeKok, Unseen Danger, pp. 38-39.  

Barreled ahead: Letter from Shober to Evans (Oct. 23, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Memorandum from Evans to Shober (Oct. 23, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Letter from Shober to Evans (Dec. 26, 1962), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Letter from Smith to Charmbury (May 3, 1963), copy in AC (FOIA docs). 

Eleven-month mark: Letter from Smith to Charmbury (May 3, 1963). 
Propagated along two fronts: Ibid. 
About 700 feet east: Ibid.

About 130 feet north: Ibid.

Flopped: Red Book, p. 22; Letter from Smith to Charmbury (May 3, 1963).
Skyrocketed almost ten-fold, to $296,000: Letter from Smith to Charmbury (May 3, 1963); Red Book, p. 24.
More pressing mine fires, the state did nothing: Red Book, p. 24; Philbin & Holbrook, Progress Toward Abatement of Mine Fires, p. 4.

One more ill-fated attempt: Red Book, p. 24. 
Squandered more than $106,000: Ibid.

Centralia Centennial: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 24; Centralia Centennial: 1866-1966 (1966), copy in AC. The centennial booklet provides no author credit, publisher location or name. According to Tom Dempsey, it was written by Ira F. Roadarmel, then-editor of The Mount Carmel Item.  

On May 5, 1969: Red Book, p. 27.

Originally conceived as a $2.2 million trench: Red Book, pp. 24-25. Several years later, Charles Kuebler called this figure a “wild estimate.” See CCRA, CMF Meeting Transcript (Aug. 9, 1978), p. 2, copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Consuming nine acres: Red Book, pp. 24, 27.

About $4.5 million to excavate: Ibid.

Great Society push: The Appalachian Regional Development Act, Public Law 89-4, sec. 1 (Mar. 9, 1965).

Earmarked $8.5 million: BOM, Status Report: Appalachian Mining Area Restoration Projects (Oct. 27, 1967), copy in AC (FOIA docs); see also Case Study, p. 17 ($20 million for fires in Mount Carmel and Kehley Run).

Hoping to leverage: Memorandum from Flynn to BOM Director (Aug. 4, 1978) (noting the $5 million trench was discarded in 1965 as too costly), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Fly ash: Red Book, p. 27.

Laced with arsenic and heavy metals: Schuylkill Living (Spring 2004), p. 28, copy in AC.

A non-combustible underground wedge: Red Book, pp. 27, 29.

Measuring 10 feet high, 150 feet wide and 1,100 feet long: Red Book, pp. 27, 29.

Janet Birster woke up early: This account is based in part on an interview with Bill Birster in 2000, as well as interviews with neighbors and relatives of the Birsters and contemporaneous press accounts and government documents.

Nausea and headaches: These are symptoms of carbon-monoxide exposure. See Red Book, p. 32. Breathing difficulties and nausea are also symptoms of oxygen deficiency and exposure to excess carbon dioxide. Red Book, pp. 34-35.
Difficulty breathing: SNI, May 23, 1969; SEH, May 24, 1969.

Headaches to shortness of breath: SNI, May 23, 1969; This Week Magazine (Apr. 10, 1977), copy in AC (passing out and nausea).

Matches and candles: WSJ, Mar. 3, 1977.

Around 5:00 a.m.: SNI, May 23, 1969; SEH, May 24, 1969.

New canary, Bill brought home: This Week Magazine (Apr. 10, 1977), copy in AC.

About five hundred feet southeast: Centralia Surface Map, Map No. 453, DEP/DMS, Pottsville, Pa; LVCC Map of Centralia Colliery (June 30, 1915).

About one hundred feet: LVCC Map of Centralia Colliery (June 30, 1915).

Found none: U.S. Department of the Interior, Mine Atmosphere Analysis Report (Dec. 19, 1967), copy in AC (FOIA docs). As early as January 1967 and again in December, officials tested six homes on East Park and Wood Streets, including the Laughlin row, for carbon monoxide. 

Colorless, odorless: Red Book, p. 32.

Hijacking oxygen: Ibid.

Fatal respiratory failure: Ibid.

Open windows and no danger: HPN, June 1, 1969; SNI, May 23, 1969; SEH, May 24, 1969.

Trace of carbon monoxide: Memorandum from Corgan to BOM Director (June 16, 1969), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Red Book, p. 27. He could not order them to leave their home, but he urged them not to spend the night there. SNI, May 23, 1969; SEH, May 24, 1969.

Shelter with relatives and friends: SNI, May 23, 1969; SEH, May 24, 1969.

Seconds later, the flame vanished: SNI, May 23, 1969; SEH, May 24, 1969.

Black damp: Mauchline, The Mine Foreman’s Handbook, p. 19-20.
Safety lantern went out: Mauchline, The Mine Foreman’s Handbook, p. 20.

Twenty times higher: Red Book, p. 34.

Forty-five-family patch: St. Ignatius Centenary, pp. 12, 43 (listing early members of the parish by neighborhood, including Upper and Lower Shanties).

Before the Civil War to house: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 26; St. Ignatius Centenary, pp. 11, 43.

To natives, it was The Shanties: St. Ignatius Centenary, p. 11.

Home to twenty families: SEH, May 24, 1969.

Registered 18 to 19 percent oxygen: Memorandum from Corgan to BOM Director, John F. O’Leary (June 16, 1969), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Two to 3 percent: Memo from Corgan to BOM Director (June 16, 1969).

Between 65 and 120 degrees: Ibid.

15 to 70 degrees higher: Letter from Charles Kuebler to Francis Goncalves (Feb. 21, 1979) (normal temperature in underground mines is 50 degrees) (FOIA docs).

About 150 feet southeast: Memo from Corgan to BOM Director (June 16, 1969). 

About 400 feet from Locust: Ibid. 

Temperatures of 760 and 900 degrees: Ibid.

Anthracite’s 800-degree ignition point: Philbin & Holbrook, Progress Toward Abatement of Mine Fires, p. 2.

About 65 feet below: SNI, May 23, 1969; SEH, May 24, 1969; SNI, May 27, 1969.

Proposed southern border: Red Book, p. 27.

Surmount the obstacle before: Ibid.

Residents said they opposed: SNI, May 23, 1969; SEH, May 24, 1969.

Wanted a trench: SNI, May 23, 1969; SEH, May 24, 1969.

Hard-coal debut: SNI, May 23, 1969; SEH, May 24, 1969; Red Book, p. 27.

Furrow would save the rest: SNI, May 23, 1969; SEH, May 24, 1969.

Stewed about gases: SNI, May 24, 1969 (MLSB).

Her head ached: SNI, May 23, 1969; SEH, May 24, 1969.

Cave-in at the Womers: SNI, May 23, 1969.

Several feet from one: Ibid.

Complained of headaches: Ibid.

Raid the urban renewal coffers: SNI, May 24, 1969 (MLSB).

Reimburse for temporary housing: Ibid.

Ahead of schedule with: SNI, May 24, 1969 (MLSB); Memo from Corgan to BOM Director (June 16, 1969); Red Book, p. 27.

Vowed not to return: SNI, May 24, 1969 (MLSB).

It wouldn’t work: Ibid.
Pledged to keep fighting: Ibid.

Questioned how long: Ibid.

“How do they expect:” Ibid.

“It’s like living on:” Ibid.

Supplied at no cost: SNI, May 27, 1969.

Metropolitan Edison Company in Reading: Ibid.

Into mine voids: SNI, May 27, 1969; Memo from Corgan to BOM Director (June 16, 1969).

More than fifteen hundred tons: BOM, Completion Report: Appalachian Mine Fire Control Project No. 7, Phase 2, Part 1 (Apr. 1971), Fig. 1, Surface Map of the Fly-Ash Barrier, copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Pit near the Odd Fellows Cemetery: Red Book, p. 27.

Crews delved into the fire: Ibid.

Six more vents: SNI, May 27, 1969.
Hot fumes laden with carbon monoxide: Ibid.

Later that week: HPN, June 1, 1969.
Bulldozer smashed into the fire: Ibid.
About twenty feet below: Ibid.
A hundred feet from: Ibid.

Apollo 10 astronauts: SNI, May 23, 1969; SNI, May 26, 1969.

Notebook with their spleen: Tony second-guessed, including whether they even knew the blaze’s location. Helen Womer lashed out as well. “They check the houses for gas every day,” she said. “And when these inspectors check the holes outside, they hold their equipment at arm’s length and turn their heads the other way.” HPN, June 1, 1969.

A few days later: PR, July 18, 1969 (MLSB); SEH, Apr. 30, 1981. 

Asked for a meeting: SEH, Apr. 30, 1981; PR, July 18, 1969 (MLSB).

Inside a trailer: Memo from Corgan to BOM Director (June 16, 1969); Letter from Wilbert Malenka to Gordon Smith (June 11, 1969), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Red Book, p. 27. This account is also based on an interview with one of the surveyors, Roland Harper.

Chapter Two: Where The Dog Star Never Glows 

Fled Ireland in a hurry: In the1960s, my dad visited his Uncle Pat, Patrick Quigley’s grandson and the oldest boy in his family, hoping to assemble genealogical data about the Quigleys. Uncle Pat told my father the British authorities forced Patrick Quigley from Ireland after he and two other men participated in an anti-British demonstration, the Londonderry incident, at a county fair. Uncle Pat separately recounted the same story to my Uncle Jim. In 1979, Uncle Pat’s eldest son, Tom, told his cousin (my Uncle Jim) that he had often heard his father say Patrick Quigley was forced to leave Ireland -- abandoning a wife and child, whom he never saw again. My dad and Uncle Jim visited their cousin Tom, then an elderly man, in June 1992. He confirmed the hasty departure story and my dad memorialized their conversation in a memo. See Letter from James M. Quigley to James P. Quigley, Apr. 15, 1979, copy in AC; TJQ Memo to File, June 29, 1992, copy in AC.

Protest against the crown: TJQ Memo to File, June 29, 1992, copy in AC.

Embodied in King William IV: In the 1830s, the trans-Atlantic passage from Ireland to the United States took five to six weeks. Kerby A. Miller, Emigrants and Exiles: Ireland and the Irish Exodus to North America (New York: Oxford University Press, 1985), p. 252. Since Patrick Quigley landed in New York on July 14, 1837, he must have left Ireland in early June, before Queen Victoria ascended to the throne.

Londonderry incident: TJQ Memo to File, June 29, 1992, copy in AC.

Crops did not fail: Miller, Emigrants and Exiles, pp. 205, 221; The London Times (June- July 1837), copies in AC (discussing the Irish problem).

Dispatching them to the United States: This was a frequent outcome during Irish tenant evictions. See Wallace, St. Clair, p. 182. 

Five children named Quigly: My research uncovered five passengers named Quigly who landed in New York on May 23, 1837 on the Ship Garrick, after sailing from Ireland and Liverpool: James, 9; Philip, 11; Margaret, 13; Patrick, 15 and John, 17. I have not confirmed these earlier immigrants were related to my great-great grandfather and, given the fragmentary oral and documentary evidence, I am not sure I will. I don’t rule out the possibility one family could have had two sons with the same first name, especially a name such as Patrick, or that the ship’s manifest, a handwritten accounting, might have misidentified one or more of the passengers. During the 1992 visit, my dad’s cousin Tom said Patrick Quigley had two brothers in New York City. Annie Quigley also told my father that Patrick Quigley had two brothers, including one named Jack. By the 1840 census, at least two of the May 1837 immigrant Quiglys, Philip and Margaret, appear to have died or fled New York. John and James remained in the city – and they might have been my great-great grandfather’s younger brothers, including the one named Jack.

Spurred him to radicalism: Disinherited tenant farmers who protested against British authority in Ireland suffered banishment for their efforts. See Miller, Emigrants and Exiles, pp. 132, 214, 227.

His Galway home: In his citizenship papers, he says he is a Galway native. See Court of Common Pleas, Orwigsburg, Pa., Patrick Quigley’s Declaration of Intent to Become a U.S. Citizen (Aug. 3, 1843), copy in AC.

County fair: TJQ Memo to File, June 29, 1992, copy in AC.

Two other men: Ibid.

Chased him to Westport: See Letter from James M. Quigley to James P. Quigley, Apr. 15, 1979, copy in AC.

Abandoning wife and child: In the 1960s, my dad also sought input from his great-aunt, Annie Quigley, who said Patrick Quigley was married in Ireland, his wife’s name was either Catherine or Bridget and they came from Ireland without children. See Letter from James M. Quigley to James P. Quigley, Apr. 15, 1979. She told still another Tom Quigley, whose grandfather was my dad’s Uncle Pat and father was my dad and uncle’s cousin Tom, that Patrick Quigley and his wife sailed together from Ireland, leaving a child behind, because, as the boat pulled away, a shore-bound relative refused to surrender the baby. I only learned about Patrick Quigley’s Irish wife and child in April 2003, when I started reporting this book. Based on my research, however, Patrick arrived in New York alone, not with a wife. I have not found any Irish marriage records in his name, but I suspect Catherine was his wife in Ireland, and they married in 1836, the year before he fled. See TJQ Memo, June 29, 1992. If they married in the first eight or nine months of 1836, he could have had an infant in June 1837, when he left Ireland. I don’t know the fate of the Irish child and his or her mother or if they survived the potato famine. It’s possible Patrick emigrated with his wife and she died during the journey or after their arrival in New York. But I don’t think so, especially since church records show he later married Bridget Carey in Pottsville under the name of Luck Nolan. 

Twenty-four-year-old: See Passenger Manifest, The Levant, July 14, 1837, National Archives, Washington, D.C., copy in AC.

Bank panic: Edwin G. Burrows & Mike Wallace, Gotham: A History of New York City to 1898, (New York: Oxford University Press, 1999), p. 611.

Fifty thousand unemployed: Burrows & Wallace, Gotham, p. 617.

Trolling for work: Ibid.

Relief committees: Ibid.

Towanda: TJQ Memo to file, June 29, 1992.

Digging a canal: See ibid.

St. Anthony’s wilderness and Lenape Indians: Kevin Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires (New York: Oxford University Press, 1998), p. 46.

Sold Manhattan to the Dutch: Burrows & Wallace, Gotham, pp. 23-24.

Three-quarters of the world’s anthracite: Miller & Sharpless, Kingdom of Coal, p. 3. Pennsylvania’s anthracite region also harbors the world’s largest concentration of hard coal. See Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, p. 5; Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 46.

To 40 feet: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 3, 7.

Landlocked: Chandler, Anthracite Coal and the Beginnings of the Industrial Revolution, p.151.

Stone coal – almost pure carbon: Chandler, Anthracite Coal and the Beginnings of the Industrial Revolution, p. 151 (85 to 100 percent carbon); Wallace, St. Clair, p. 7 (88 to 94 percent carbon).

Could not be harnessed: Chandler, Anthracite Coal and the Beginnings of the Industrial Revolution, p. 151.

War of 1812: Chandler, Anthracite Coal and the Beginnings of the Industrial Revolution, p. 152; Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, pp. 16-22.

By the mid-1820s: Chandler, Anthracite Coal and the Beginnings of the Industrial Revolution, pp. 152-53.

Schuylkill Canal: Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, p. 18.

Lehigh Canal: Ibid., p. 15.

Delaware and Hudson Canal: Ibid., p. 10.

Secondary network: The Morris Canal, stretching across New Jersey from Easton on the Delaware to New York, The Delaware Division Canal, flowing from Easton to Philadelphia, and The Delaware and Raritan Canal, uniting Trenton, on the Delaware River, and New York. Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, pp. 16, 20, 35; Chandler, Anthracite Coal and the Beginnings of the Industrial Revolution, p. 153, n. 27.

Anthracite usage soared: Chandler, Anthracite Coal and the Beginnings of the Industrial Revolution, p. 154.

In January 1842: Wallace, St. Clair, p. 241.

Last segment of track: Miller & Sharpless, Kingdom of Coal, pp. 52, 57-58.

Ninety-eight mile: H.V. & H.W. Poor, Poor’s Manual of the Railroads of the United States (New York: American Bank Note Co., 1902), pp. 143, 145.

Celebration surrounding the Reading’s arrival: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 241-42.

Luck Nolan: This is the groom’s name on the April 8, 1942 marriage record from St. Patrick’s, the Irish-Catholic parish in the Pottsville region until 1864, and the church’s only marriage record for a bride named Bridget Carey. St. Patrick’s has no marriage records for a Patrick Quigley and the only Quigley groom, Martin Quigley, married Eleanor Dalton in 1875. It is possible, of course, that the priest mistakenly transcribed Patrick Quigley’s name or confused him with another groom, but, given the oral history, the available church records and census data and the otherwise incomplete evidence surrounding Patrick Quigley’s flight, I don’t believe this to be the case. Marital Record for Luck Nolan and Bridget Carey, St. Patrick’s Cathedral, Pottsville, Pa., Apr. 8, 1842, copy in AC. 

A 26-year-old Irish immigrant: This is her age based on the 1860 census, which was the closest to their wedding date and may be the most accurate. 
Renounced all loyalty: See Declaration of Intent to Become a U.S. Citizen, Aug. 3, 1843; Patrick Quigley Citizenship Petition, Schuylkill County Court of Common Pleas, Pa., Sept. 6, 1847, copy in AC.

Alexander W. Rea, an agent: SEH, Feb. 3, 1877.

Then known as Centerville: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 7.

In February1853: SEH, Feb. 3, 1877.

From the Centre Turnpike: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 6.

Early-nineteenth century toll road: Ibid.

Between Reading and Fort Augusta: Ibid.

Stage-coach travelers: Ibid.

Overnight at the Bull’s Head Tavern: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 6; St. Ignatius Centenary, p. 5.

A twenty-eight-year-old: Rea was born on May 3, 1824, according to a Feb. 3, 1877 profile in the Shenandoah Evening Herald, written with the cooperation of his former employer, Locust Mountain Coal and Iron.

Flemington, New Jersey native: SEH, Feb. 3, 1877.

Lafayette College graduate: Ibid.

Squatter’s log-frame home: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 7; St. Ignatius Centenary, p. 5.

Surrounded by forests and swamps: Dempsey, Centralia 125, pp. 6-7.

From a basin: Reports of the Inspectors of Coal Mines, Anthracite Coal Regions of Pennsylvania, for the Year 1870 (Harrisburg: B. Singerly, 1871), p. 71, copy in AC. The inspector noted: “The veins are very thick both sides of the basin and continue so its whole length, and occupy a very conspicuous uniformity of character for excellence, purity and inexhaustible quantity.”

Recently inked deal: Dempsey, Centralia 125, pp. 7-8. 

A civil and mining engineer: SEH, Feb. 3, 1877. He trained at Philadelphia’s Franklin Institute.

Surveyed a grid: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 7.

Railroads tracks encroached from the south: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 8.

Big Mine Run, Bast, Locust Run and Hazel Dell: Ibid.

1860 population: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 9.

About five miles northeast: 1869 MIR, p. 68.

A three-hundred-foot vertical shaft: 1870 MIR, p. 125.

Pine Forest and Samuel Wetherill: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 60, 62, 112.

Squat shed near the mine’s entrance: Wallace, St. Clair, p. 113, with pen-and-ink drawing of Pine Forest in 1866.

Schuylkill Valley Railroad, a Reading affiliate: 1869 MIR, p. 68, 1870 MIR, pp. 33-34.

A two-mile: 1869 MIR, p. 68, 1870 MIR, pp. 33-34 & map (frontispiece).

Rail to Philadelphia and New York: 1869 MIR, p. 68, 1870 MIR, pp. 33-34.

By 1860, they had seven children: U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1860 Census, East Norwegian Township, Schuylkill County, Penn.

Life in Crow Hollow: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 138-39, 145, 200.
Contract miners: Wallace, St. Clair, p. 133; Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 62.

Dislodged and quit: Wallace, St. Clair, p. 137; Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, pp. 61-62.

Unskilled Irish immigrants: Wallace, St. Clair, p. 135.

Laborers’ experience: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 136-37.

One-third to two-thirds: A bit more than two-thirds according to Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 142-43; One-third according to Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 61. Miners earned about $1.15 per day. Wallace, St. Clair, p. 142.

Gushers like steam from a boiler: Mauchline, The Mine Foreman’s Handbook, pp. 17-22.

Risk of death and injury: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, pp. 126-27; 1870 MIR, pp. 5-27.

Hundreds of feet to their deaths: 1870 MIR, pp. 5, 13-16.

Almost three times the fatality rate: 1870 MIR, p. 7; Wallace, St. Clair,  p. 251.

Stranding families without income: Wallace, St. Clair, p. 148.

Annual production averaged 52,342 tons: Wallace, St. Clair, p. 114.

(between 1866 and its demise in 1890). 

Estimated capacity of 150,000: Ibid.

Civil War draft protestors: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 275-76, 287-88, 325-28. Irish mine workers did serve in the Union Army, including the Pennsylvania 48th Regiment, which endured heavy fighting at Bull Run, Antietam, Fredericksburg and Petersburg, where miners tunneled under the Confederate forces and detonated an ill-fated crater. Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 327-28; Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 82. 

Workingmen’s Benevolent Association: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, pp. 111-114; Wallace, St. Clair, p. 288.

Improve pay and conditions: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 126; Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 392-95, 398.

Twenty thousand members: Wallace, St. Clair, p. 397.

Taking notes, policing infractions: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 295-305.

Annual reports to the governor: Ibid.

Frozen at their entry point: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, pp. 62-63, 65; Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 134, 374, 437. 

Two oldest sons: U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1870 Census, East Norwegian Township, Schuylkill County, Pa.

Poised to follow: See Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 56 (child labor recorded in the 1870 census for the first time).

“Center of commerce:” Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 9.

Three new mines: Dempsey, Centralia 125, pp. 26-28. The Civil War stimulated demand for anthracite: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, pp. 82-83.

More than a thousand: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 9.

Organized Protestant congregations: Dempsey, Centralia 125, pp. 14-15.

Independent Order of Odd Fellows: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 155-56, 159, 323; Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 19.

The Patriotic Order Sons of America: Patriotic Order Sons of America: Our Second Century (Philadelphia: Patriotic Order Sons of America, No date) pp. 1, 4, 5, copy in AC; Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 19.

Mass at St. Joseph’s in Ashland: St. Ignatius Centenary, p. 20.

Centralia’s twelve saloons: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 9.

Bucket of Blood: Ibid.

Without a union: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 12 (first Centralia miners’ union organized in 1885). Dempsey, Centralia’s most knowledgeable historian, says Centralia mine workers liked Rea and his murder stemmed from a botched highway robbery, not a labor issue. Still, even if Centralia’s workforce esteemed Rea, who donated the land for St. Ignatius Church, he knew he represented a high-profile target in the surrounding area: he carried a pistol and kept a revolver in his home.

Managing seven collieries: SEH, Feb. 3, 1877. 

Philadelphia-based officers and directors: Ibid.

Rea ambush and murder: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 11; Commonwealth v. Hester, et al (1877). The original one-volume, 800-page trial transcript from 1877 was re-typed during the Depression, as WPA Project No. 5175 (1936). Both are located at the Bloomsburg Public Library, in Bloomsburg, Pa. Unless otherwise noted, references here are to the WPA Transcript (hereafter, “WPA Tr.”), copy in AC. 

About eight a.m.: WPA Tr., p. 341.

Six men: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 110.

Black hats and coats: Donahue Tr., p. 41; WPA Tr., pp. 354-56.

About two miles west: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 11.

Underground spring: WPA Tr., p. 353.

Eighteen-thousand-dollar payroll: Ibid, pp. 363, 367.

Surrounded him and demanded: Ibid, p. 403.

Paid the day before: WPA Tr., p. 341; Donahue Tr., p. 21.

Gold watch and wallet: WPA Tr., p. 403.

Containing just sixty dollars: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires p. 110; WPA Tr., pp. 405-406.

Botched heist, started shooting: WPA Tr., pp. 365, 403, 404.

Rea Fled: Ibid., p. 404.

About forty yards: Donahue Tr., p. 19 [47 yards]; WPA Tr., p. 365  [40 to 50 yards]. 

Bullet into his skull: WPA Tr., pp. 365, 404.

Scattered across the mountain: Ibid, p. 365.

Blood-spattered glove: Ibid, pp. 349, 351.

Found his body: Ibid, pp. 348-351.

Brain, liver and spinal column: WPA Tr., pp. 342, 350; Donahue Tr., p. 19.

Labor activists: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 57. 

Terrorists, bent on violence and mayhem: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, pp. 57, 85, 87, 102; for Catholic church opposition, see ibid, pp. 162-63, 212, 269.

Origins of name: Ibid, pp. 18-24.

In Ireland, the Mollys: Ibid, p. 19.

One month after Rea’s murder: WPA Tr., pp. 115-16.

Rousted four reputed Mollys and charged: Commonwealth v. Donahue, et al., (Bloomsburg, Pa.: Columbian Steam-Power Print, 1869), pp. 2, 37-38, copy in AC and at PSA (hereafter, “Donahue Tr.”). The defendants were: Patrick Hester, an Irish immigrant and tavernkeeper in Locust Gap Junction, on the outskirts of Mount Carmel, John Duffy, a Mahanoy City liquor dealer, Thomas Donahue, an Ashland tavernkeeper, and Michael Pryor, a miner from Branchdale, about 10 miles west of Pottsville.

District attorney: Donahue Tr., p. 19; Historical and Biographical Annals of Columbia and Montour  Counties, Penn.: Containing A Concise History of the Two Counties and a Genealogical and Biographical Record of Representative Families (Chicago: J.H. Beers & Co. 1915), p. 73. His name was Elijah R. Ikeler.

Stymied efforts: Donahue Tr., pp. 33-34; NYT, Mar. 26, 1878 (Tully’s deathbed confession says most of the defense witnesses were paid).

Each jury returned an acquittal: Donahue Tr., p. 92; Historical and Biographical Annals of Columbia and Montour Counties, p. 73.

Dropped the charges against the fourth: Hester v. Commonwealth, 85 Pa. 139 (Jan. 7, 1878); Donahue Tr., p. 19; Historical and Biographical Annals of Columbia and Montour Counties, p. 73. His name was Patrick Hester.

Confronted adherents at home: This account is taken from George Korson, Minstrels of the Mine Patch: Songs and Stories of the Anthracite Industry (Hatboro, Pa.: Folklore Associates, Inc., 1964), pp. 244-47. Korson, a Pottsville journalist who roamed the anthracite region, collecting and recording miners’ ballads, based his narrative of McDermott’s curse on an interview with an eyewitness. Korson, Minstrels of the Mine Patch, p. 244. Several versions of the curse have been published over the years, especially during the 1980s. For the most recent example, see Deryl B. Johnson, Images of America: Centralia (Charleston, S.C.: Arcadia, 2004), p. 83. Only Korson’s account relies on an eyewitness, whose identity he does not disclose. Tom Dempsey, a former Centralia resident, the borough’s most knowledgeable historian and the founder of Centcony, a Yahoo group devoted to Centralia research and genealogy, has identified Korson’s source as Bernard I. Curran, a retired teacher and one of Rev. McDermott’s altar boys. 

Twenty-five-year-old Londonderry, Ireland native and recent seminary graduate: A Souvenir Book Commemorating the Diamond Jubilee of St. Ignatius Church (Harrisburg Diocese, Aug. 29, 1944), pp. 18, 38; St. Ignatius Centenary, p. 20.

Crushed to death and prison term for murder: Korson, Minstrels of the Mine Patch, p. 247. Although Korson placed McDermott’s statements in quotes, I do not, allowing for the possibility the eyewitness did not recall the priest’s exact words. Korson did not identify the cursed men, but later generations of Centralians did.

St. Ignatius: The church opened its doors on Nov. 18, 1869. See St. Ignatius Centenary, p. 19 (photo of church in 1870), 21; St. Ignatius Diamond Jubilee, p. 20.

Michael and Anna Fowler Laughlin: 1870 Census, Centralia, Columbia County, Pennsylvania. Over the years, some relatives, including my Uncle Jim, believe Anna’s maiden name was Foley, not the more Anglicized version, Fowler. For the sake of consistency, I rely on my grandparents’ marriage record from St. Ignatius, which refers to my grandmother’s mother as Anna Fowler.

Squatted in Crow Hollow: Letter from James M. Quigley to James P. Quigley (Apr. 15, 1979).

Four-year, $40 million to $45 million spree: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 114, 334, 418 ($45 million); Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, p. 31; Miller & Sharpless, p. 154 ($40 million).

70,000 acres of coal lands – enough, the railroad crowed, to fill its freight cars for centuries: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 114, 334; Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, pp. 30-31 (quoting LVRR’s 1871 annual report).

Owned 60 to 80 percent of Schuylkill County’s coal reserves and one-third of Pennsylvania’s anthracite: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 334; United States v. Reading Co., 253 U.S. 26, 44 (1920) (quoting Reading’s 1881 annual report, saying Reading Coal & Iron owned 60 percent of Schuylkill’s district’s reserves and 30 percent of Pennsylvania’s anthracite); Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, p. 30; Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, pp. 170-71.

One quarter of the world’s: One third of three-quarters equals one-fourth.

Summoning the state militia: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, pp. 176-77; SEH, Oct. 17, 1978 (reprinting George Bretz photo from UMBC collection).

Patrol the streets: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 177.

Dumping about five hundred workers, roughly half: Wallace, St. Clair, p. 436.

Plummeted by 27 percent: Wallace, St. Clair, p. 437; Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, pp. 51, 52, 222. 

Six miles up the face and: Donahue Tr., pp. 46-47, 80.

Locust Mountain, about a two-mile ascent: Ibid, pp. 46-47, 80.

Reading’s chief competitor: Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, p. 41.

More than a thousand miles: Poor’s Intermediate Manual of Railroads 1917 (New York: Poor’s Manual Co., 1917), p. 433; Poor’s Manual (1902), p. 104 (owns outright 317 miles; owns capital stock 663 miles; total system mileage is 1,399).

Wilkes-Barre to Perth Amboy, the Great Lakes:  Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, p. 26; Poor’s Manual (1902), p. 105 (map of LVRR).

Wrested control from Locust Mountain Coal: D.G. Baird, History of Lehigh Valley Coal Co.(1907), PSA, copy in AC (no page numbers).

Flipped its real estate: United States v. Lehigh Valley Railroad Co., 245 U.S. 255 (1920).

The Lehigh Valley Coal Company: Baird, History of Lehigh Valley Coal; Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, pp. 26-27; United States v. Lehigh Valley Railroad Co., 245 U.S. 255 (1920).

Brick, neo classical courthouse: Souvenir Book of Bloomsburg (Bloomsburg, Pa.: The Columbian Printing Office, 1901), Bloomsburg Public Library, Bloomsburg, Pa., copy in AC (no page number – features an engraving from Freeze’s History of Columbia County).

Riveted Bloomsburg: About a dozen reporters covered the trial, by one count. See SEH, Feb. 8, 1877. Newspapers funneled the proceedings into special editions, with maps depicting the crime scene, see SEH, Feb. 12, 1877, and pen-and-ink drawings of Hester and Rea, SEH, Feb. 9,1877 (Hester); SEH, Feb. 10, 1877 (both) – third ed; SEH, Feb. 16, 1877 (Hester’s tavern).

Iron ore hub: Souvenir Book of Bloomsburg (no page number).

Crammed the courtroom for a glimpse: SEH, Feb. 10, 1877.

Molly henchman: WPA Tr., pp. 25-26, 392.

Sprung by gubernatorial pardon: WPA Tr., pp. 361; 373; Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, pp. 229-30. 

Hester, Tully, McHugh: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, pp.  295, 229 n.55. 

Dredged up witnesses: WPA Tr., pp. 294, 297-302, 306.

Subpoenaed them: Ibid.
No charge, on Reading trains: Ibid.
Giant-taming Lilliputians in Gulliver’s Travels: SEH, Feb. 7, 1877. 

Predominantly German-American farmers: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 229; SEH, Feb. 9, 1877.

Verdict in two hours: Shamokin Herald, Mar. 1, 1877.

Windsor-back chairs: One of the jurors’ chairs is on display at the Columbia County Historical Society, Bloomsburg, Pennsylvania.

Hester’s wife fainted: Shamokin Herald, Mar. 1, 1877.

Ads for Locust Mountain coal from: MJ, Feb. 9, 1877.

Mollys’ reign had ended: MJ, Mar. 2, 1877.

Polluted the jury pool: Defendants’ brief, summarized in Hester v. Commonwealth, 85 Pa. 139 (1878).

Reading president affixed: Hester v. Commonwealth, 85 Pa. 139 (1878).

Columbia County’s first: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 271.

About three thousand gawkers: NYT, Mar. 26, 1878. They poured onto the main street, flooded the sidewalks and clustered in bars, drinking whiskey. Ibid.

Sheriff printed tickets: NYT, Mar. 26, 1878. State law prevented the sheriff from staging a public execution: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 245.

About 200 local dignitaries: NYT, Mar. 26, 1878.

Gallows rose from the center, a two-story assemblage of oak posts and cross-beams: NYT, Mar. 26, 1878; Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, Fig. 19 (drawing of the Mauch Chunk Gallows) & p. 248.

Already hanged four Mollys: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, pp. 250-53.

Rooftops of nearby buildings: NYT, Mar. 26, 1878; Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 271.

Tully confessed and implicated Hester: Historical and Biographical Annals of Columbia and Montour Counties, pp. 74, 675; NYT, Mar. 26, 1878. 

Priests hovered nearby, mumbling prayers: NYT, Mar. 26, 1878.

Steel manacles: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 250 

Around the prisoners’ hands: NYT, Mar. 26, 1878.
Bound their legs with straps: Ibid.
White hoods: Ibid.
Positioned over the trap doors: Ibid.
Dangled for nine to 12 minutes, suffocating: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 271; NYT, Mar. 26, 1878.

Onlookers howled: NYT, Mar. 26, 1878.

Doctors monitored their pulse: Ibid.

Log the times: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 271; NYT, Mar. 26, 1878.

Cut the bodies down: NYT, Mar. 26, 1878.

Pine coffins: Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 271.

Glimpse of the corpses: NYT, Mar. 26, 1878.

Souvenir strand: Ibid.

Eight Centralia-area collieries: 1878 MIR, pp. 88-89, 94-95, copy in AC. 
More than eighteen hundred men and boys: Ibid. 

Landed work as a miner: U.S. Census Bureau, 1880 census, Centralia, Columbia County, Pa.

Dripping with water and mud: At the Pioneer Coal Mine and Tunnel tour in Ashland, two miles from Centralia, tourists can descend into a mine, stroll through a gangway and peer up into a breast. Miners inside Pioneer worked the same coal seams as did Centralia miners two miles away, using the same techniques.

As far as a hundred yards: Wallace, St. Clair, p. 12.

Fifteen to forty-feet wide: Ibid, pp. 12, 50.

Often proved irresistible: Ibid, pp. 50-51.

Most lucrative and dangerous: 1880 MIR, pp. 68-69, copy in AC. Describing a fatal accident and explosion that killed two men, the mine inspector said: Pillar robbing under active workings is “of such a dangerous character, especially where the angle of dip is more than 15 degrees to 20 degrees, that it cannot be too severely condemned, and when brought to our attention, we demand that every precaution be taken to prevent accident.”

Inside Continental Colliery: 1883 MIR, p. 70, copy in AC.

Mammoth vein measured twenty-five feet: 1878 MIR, pp. 88-89, copy in AC.

New slope poised:1883 MIR, p. 60, copy in AC.

Between the sixth and fifth breasts: 1883 MIR, p. 70, copy in AC. A quarter-mile gangway had as many as 20 breasts. Wallace, St. Clair, p.12.

Roof collapsed, burying him: 1883 MIR, p. 70, copy in AC.

A 39-year-old father of four, died fifteen hours later – one of fifteen killed in Centralia-area mines that year: 1883 MIR, pp. 70, 85-86, copy in AC.

In August 1884: Columbia County Mortgagee Index Book, Vol. 13, p. 412, Columbia County Court House, Bloomsburg, Pa. They took out a $600 mortgage. Ibid. In a town that named many of its quarters for early mining figureheads, from Rea’s Hill on West Park Street to Gorrell’s Patch, for Hazel Dell’s operator, Robert Gorrell, on the western periphery, Jim and Maggie’s homestead sat across from Centralia Colliery, in a low-slung neighborhood locals dubbed the swamp. Dempsey, Centralia 125, pp. 7, 23, 26. The site had been rejected, with future mining projected for underneath the plot, 15 years earlier as a possible site for St. Ignatius church. St. Ignatius Centenary, p. 21.

Twelve feet wide and two-and-a-half stories high: See Columbia County Redevelopment Authority, Photograph of 120 E. Center Street, Centralia, Pa. (circa 1984), copy in AC.

About five hundred yards northeast: LVCC Map of Centralia Colliery (June 30, 1915), PHMC/AMC, Scranton, Pa., No. AC88.24 622.335M85. 

Soared about a hundred feet: Wallace, St. Clair, p. 15. 

Hoisted coal cars: George Bretz Photograph, DEP/DMS, Pottsville, Pa., copy in AC; Johnson, Centralia, pp. 41, 42  (photos).

Ribbon of tracks: T. Dempsey, e-mail message to author, July 27, 2004; T. Dempsey, interview with the author, July 2, 2004. 

Breaker effuvia: H.L. Nelson, Life in the Coal Villages, Harper’s Weekly (June 23, 1888). Residents could hear coal crashing through the hopper, the hiss of the breaker’s steam engines and railroad cars clattering into the colliery and lumbering back out: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 15-18; Johnson, Centralia, p. 42 (photo of Centralia Colliery tipple, with Quigley row in the background); H.L. Nelson, Life in the Coal Villages, Harper’s Weekly, June 23, 1888, p. 458. 

Breaker refuse: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 17-18.

Six-figure interest payments: Baird, History of Lehigh Valley Coal, pp. 381 (results of the business), 383-420.

Supply, demand, locked the collieries: Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, pp. 46; 40–58.

Average of 135 days: See 1880 MIR, p. 82, copy in AC. This assumes 312 possible work days, if miners worked six-day-weeks for 52 weeks. In 1880, six Centralia mines logged 1,062 work days, for an average of 177 active days and 135 idle days. In 1883, the eight Centralia-area mines lay inactive for an average of 94 days, more than three months. And in 1888, Centralia’s six functioning collieries averaged 82 idle days – about two-and-a-half months. 1883 MIR, pp. 92-93, copy in AC; 1888 MIR, pp. 209-11, copy in AC.

Between 1874: John Quigley, their first child, was born on June 20, 1874 and baptized at St. Mary’s in St. Clair. 

Maggie proved adept: V. Green, e-mail message to the author, May 14, 2003, copy in AC.

Mammoth Store: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 31; St. Ignatius Centenary, p. 18.

Two-hundred-dollar second mortgage: Columbia County Mortgagee Index Book, Vol. 22, p. 65, Columbia County Court House, Bloomsburg, Pa.

Nine-year-old: His obituary says he attended school until age nine, when he started working as a breaker boy. MCI, Mar. 15, 1947, p.1; see also V. Green, e-mail message to the author, May 14, 2003. 

Prohibited employment by children younger than twelve: Perry K. Blatz, Democratic Miners: Work and Labor Relations in the Anthracite Coal Industry, 1875-1925 (Albany: State University of New York Press, 1994), pp. 28, 29; Kenny, Making Sense of the Molly Maguires, p. 60.

Parents circumvented: See 1878 MIR, p. 254, copy in AC (showing slatepickers’ 1871 wage scales, starting with nine-year-old boys).

Tallied 664 slate pickers: 1891 MIR, pp. 261-64. 

Centralia’s eight breakers: Ibid. 

21 percent of the mine-labor force: Ibid. 

Averaging 111 inactive days: Ibid.

Inside the breaker: Wallace, St. Clair, pp. 15-17.

Work and conditions of the breaker boys: Louis Poliniak, When Coal Was King: Mining Pennsylvania’s Anthracite (Lebanon, Pa.: Applied Arts Publishers, 1996), pp. 12-14; Wallace, St. Clair, p. 17; Breaker boys in Kohinor mine, Shenandoah City, Pa. (1891) (by Frances Benjamin Johnston, at LOC, LC-USZC4-2322; Photo (no date) from DEP/DMS, Pottsville; SEH Oct. 20, 1978 p. 4 (crediting George Bretz Collection, University of Maryland Baltimore County); WPA History Project, Pennsylvania Anthracite Book, FN No. 711, Folder No. 93, p. 1 (Interview with Arthur Dixon), FN No. 719, Folder No. 93, Interview with William O’Boyle, p. 2; Job. No. 54, FN No. 636, A Short Sketch of a Miner’s Life; Job No. 54, FN No. 335, (Interview with Robert L. Reid); Stephen Crane, In the Depths of a Coal Mine, (McClure’s, August, 1894), reprinted in The Pennsylvania Sampler, (Harrisburg: Stackpole Books, 1970).

Red Tops: Poliniak, p. 12; WPA History Project, Pennsylvania Anthracite Book, FN No. 711, Folder No. 93, p. 1 (Interview with Arthur Dixon). 

Saw the sun only on Sundays: See V. Green, e-mail message to the author, May 14, 2003.

By 1901: Directory of Columbia and Montour Counties (Elmira, N.Y.: Advertiser Association, 1901), p. 254, copy in AC.

Sixteen-year-old: My grandmother was born on Feb. 27, 1885, according to her obituary in The Shenandoah Evening Herald. 

Dominated the principal anthracite: Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, pp. 70-73.

Snatched both at foreclosure: Ibid, pp. 114; 54; Poor’s Manual (1902), p. 144.

Reading grabbed New Jersey Central: Ibid, p. 62.

Second-largest mineral reserves: Ibid, p. 62; Poor’s Manual of Railroads (1902), p.136. 

A $12 million, 30 percent stake: Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, p. 68. 

Overlapping ownership and shared directorates: Charles Steele, a Morgan partner and New York railroad lawyer, served as a director of Lehigh Valley Coal Company, Lehigh Valley Railroad, Reading Coal & Iron, and the Reading railroad Jean Strouse, Morgan: American Financier (New York: Random House, 1999), p. 394; Poor’s Manual (1902), pp. 113, 143, 141. George F. Baer, president of the Reading and Reading Coal & Iron, sat on Lehigh Valley Railroad’s board: Poor’s Manual (1902), pp. 113, 141, 143.

Unprecedented harmony and prosperity: Jones, pp. 59, 70.

About four hundred miners died: Blatz, Work and Labor Relations in the Anthracite Coal Industry, p. 29.

Eighth most hazardous profession: Ibid, pp. 29-32.

Gloucester fishermen and South African diamond miners: Ibid, pp. 29-30. 

Average daily earnings hovered at $2.48: Ibid, p. 154 (Table 7.1). Company-wide, 84 percent of Lehigh Valley’s contract miners earned $2.61 per day or less: ASC, Report to the President on the Anthracite Coal Strike of May-October, 1902 (Washington, D.C., 1903), p. 178. Forty-nine percent earned less than $200. ASC, Report to the President, p. 179. 

More than seventy-eight thousand: Blatz, Work and Labor Relations in the Anthracite Coal Industry, p. 121. 

Called a strike: Ibid, p. 131; NYT, May 10, 1902.

More than 140,000: NYT, May 13, 1902 (approximately 140,000); Blatz, Work and Labor Relations in the Anthracite Coal Industry, p. 121 (150,000 workers); Strouse, Morgan, p. 448 (140,000); Miller & Sharpless, Kingdom of Coal, p. 257 (more than 147,000).
All 357 collieries: NYT, May 13, 1902. Meanwhile, J.P. Morgan went yachting in the Mediterranean and combed antique dealers from Berlin to Paris, snaring Egyptian and Roman glass, Louis Quinze almanacs and a 15th century Florentine statue of Hercules. MCDN, June 11, 1902; NYT, June 20, 1902; NYT, June 22, 1902; NYT, June 15, 1902; NYT, June 22, 1902; NYT, June 1, 1902.

Picking huckleberries: MCDN, July 12, 1902; MCDN, Sept. 12, 1902.

Five cents a quart: MCDN, July 12, 1902; MCDN, Sept. 12, 1902. Grocers saw demand plunge as much as 50 percent for flour, candy and canned goods. MCDN, July 24, 1902; MCDN, July 25, 1902. Only tobacco sales remained brisk. MCDN, July 25, 1902. 

Coal and iron police materialized: MCDN, July 23, 1902.

Deputy sheriff’s brother died: NYT, Aug. 1, 1902. 

Riot at the train station: NYT, Aug. 1, 1902; Edmund Morris, Theodore Rex (New York: Random House, 2001), pp. 133-34.
National guard troops massed: NYT, Aug 1, 1902; NYT, Oct. 19, 1902. 

White canvas tents: NYT, Aug 1, 1902; NYT, Oct. 19, 1902; Morris, Theodore Rex, pp. 133-34; LOC photos LC-USZ62-12495 and LC-USF343-40461-ZD; Stewart Culin, A Trooper’s Narrative of Service in the Anthracite Coal Strike, 1902 (Philadelphia: George W. Jacobs & Co., 1903), p. 16.  

Go back to work: MCDN, Sept. 2, 1902.

“Impoverished you and ruined:” MCDN, Aug. 13, 1902.

A silver-haired Holy Cross College alumnus: St. Ignatius Diamond Jubilee, pp. 35, 38, 40.

Entertained Reading officials: MCDN, Sept. 18, 1902.

Blocked strikers from parish hall: MCDN, Aug. 13, 1902.

 “The longer you delay:” MCDN, Aug. 13, 1902. 

Slated to lead ten thousand marchers: MCDN, Sept. 2, 1902. Meanwhile, 3,000 strikers were scheduled to muster for baseball, marching and speeches in Mount Carmel. See MCDN, Sept. 2, 1902.

Nothing but broken promises: Ibid. 

“You have been gulled:” Ibid.

Corn, apples, chickens, potatoes: MCDN, Aug. 12, 1902; MCDN, Aug. 20, 1902.

Carried supper to her brother: MCDN, Aug. 28, 1902. The victim’s name was Mary Markley.

Dynamite blast in Gilberton: NYT, Sept. 20, 1902. 

Even teenagers: PR, Sept. 25, 1902.

Thirty-two-year-old bituminous miner: Morris, Theodore Rex, p. 132.

Despaired of peaceful resolution: Letter from John Mitchell to David Mitchell, (Sept. 24, 1902), Mitchell Papers, CUA Archives, File Folder (Sept. 1902, Box 8); Letter from John Mitchell to D.J. Keefe (Sept. 23, 1902) (marked “personal”), Mitchell Papers, CUA Archives, File Folder (Sept. 1902, Box 8)).

Operators refused to negotiate: MCDN, Aug. 27, 1902.

“The rights and interests:” NYT, Aug. 21, 1902; Morris, Theodore Rex, p. 137. Baer was responding to a Wilkes-Barre photographer who urged him, as a Christian man, to settle the strike.

Pressured Roosevelt to intervene: Letter from John Mitchell to Sen. Mark Hanna (Sept. 8, 1902), p. 3, Mitchell Papers, CUA Archives Folder (Sept.-Oct.1902), Box 8; See Mitchell’s list of expenses for September 1902, including a Sept. 27, 1902 trip to Beaver, Penn. Mitchell Papers, CUA Archives Folder (Sept. 1902), Box 9; Blatz, Work and Labor Relations in the Anthracite Coal Industry, p. 121.

Military occupation: By late September, the national guard occupied Lackawanna, Luzerne, Carbon and Schuylkill counties. PR, Sept. 25, 1902. The operators began spiriting coal out of the region, often at night. See Culin, Trooper’s Narrative, p. 28. Brigadier General John P.S. Gobin, the commanding officer, ordered soldiers to shoot strikers first and ask questions later. Culin, Trooper’s Narrative, p. 12; Miller & Sharpless, Kingdom of Coal, p. 270; Bloomsburg Daily Sentinel, Aug. 4, 1902; MCDN, Aug. 30, 1902. 

One hundred to two hundred union leaders and strikers: PR, Sept. 27, 1902; Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902.

Converged on the depot: PR, Sept. 27, 1902; Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902.

Loaded with ten to twenty non-union: Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902. They had just finished manning the pumps at a Lehigh Valley colliery in Mount Carmel.

Two union leaders spoke: Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902; Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902. 

Urging them to respect: Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902; Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902. 

Strikers poured into Centralia’s depot: Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902.

Only three boarded: Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902. 

Columbia County’s sheriff: Bloomsburg Daily, Sept. 30, 1902. His name was Daniel Knorr.

Telegraphed the governor, asking for troops: Daily Chronicle, Sept. 27, 1902 (from Centcony newspaper file). That same day, September 27, a Bloomsburg justice of the peace issued an arrest warrant for 134 Centralia residents. Commonwealth v. Patrick Cain, et al., Columbia County Court of Common Pleas, Prothonotary, Bloomsburg, Pa. (filed Nov. 11, 1902); Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 1, 1902. The Centralia Miners Union fired a telegram to the governor, guaranteeing peaceful surrender: MCDN, Sept. 29, 1902; Bloomsburg Daily, Sept. 30, 1902. Meanwhile, coal operators and union leaders deadlocked in Philadelphia. NYT, Sept. 30, 1902; Mitchell Papers, CUA Archives File Folder (Sept. 29, 1902-Oct. 7, 1902), Box 8.

Serving warrants and arresting: Commonwealth v. Patrick Cain, et al.; Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902; Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902; Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 1, 1902.

Strikers forged their response: Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902; Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 1, 1902. 

All but seven – a total of 127: Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902; PR, Oct. 2, 1902. 

Herded suspects into the Odd Fellows Hall: MCDN, Oct. 1, 1902. 

Thirteen horse-drawn wagons: Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902.

At 1:29 p.m. on October 1: Mitchell’s telegram is archived with the Mitchell Papers, CUA Archives File Folder (Sept. 1902), Box 8.

Telegrams to Mitchell and the operators: Ibid.

“Failure of the coal supply:” Morris, Theodore Rex, p. 154, MCDN, Oct. 2, 1902; NYT, Oct. 2, 1902.

Meanwhile, the procession: Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902.

Arrested for participating: Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902; Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902; PR, Oct. 2, 1902.

Headed the convoy, clutching their drums, tubas and trombones: Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902, p. 1; see POSA Band photo (T. Dempsey collection), copy in AC.

McGinley, Dempsey, Gaughan and Cleary: Commonwealth v. Patrick Cain, et al. 

School directors, borough-council members and the chief burgess: PR, Oct. 2, 1902.

Past the fire department: Johnson, Centralia, p. 21 (photo of building). 

Serenaded Lehigh Valley Coal’s headquarters: PR, Oct. 1, 1902, p.1; see St. Ignatius Centenary, p. 18 (LVCC office located in wing on south side of the Mammoth Store); Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 31 (photo of Mammoth Store).

Five-hour trek: Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902, p. 3.

Lawyers inhabited Georgian mansions: Souvenir Book of Bloomsburg, Bloomsburg Public Library, Bloomsburg, Pa. (no page number).

Brick commercial storefronts: Ibid.

“Marching Through Georgia:” Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902.

Onlookers knotted the sidewalks: Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902.

Cheers for Mitchell, the union and Centralia: Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902; PR, Oct. 2, 1902; Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902.

Fell into place behind the band: Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902.

Marched to their lawyer’s office: Grant Herring, a barrel-chested former judge, represented the miners. Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902; Directory of Columbia and Montour Counties, p. 86 (Grant Herring’s office is at 4 E. 2nd St.); Historical and Biographical Annals, p. 313. 

That evening: Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902.

Patriotic Order Sons of America: Historical and Biographical Annals, p. 644.

Second-floor courtroom: The courthouse, on Bloomsburg’s Main Street, is still in use.

Crammed into wooden benches and spilled into the jury box: Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902; Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902.

Packed the aisles: Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902. Spectators streamed into the courthouse before the prisoners arrived. Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902. One estimate pegged the crowd at 1,500. PR, Oct. 2, 1902.

Prosecution’s witnesses: Commonwealth v. Patrick Cain, et al.; Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902; Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902.

Had not brandished weapons or resorted to violence: Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902; Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902. 

Patrick Cain and John O’Donnell: Commonwealth v. Patrick Cain, et al.; Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 29, 1902; Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902.

Strikers had never used force: Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902; Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 29, 1902. 

Called my great-uncles Pat and Tom: Commonwealth v. Patrick Cain, et al.; Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902; Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902. No court official or newspaper reporter preserved a record of their testimony.

At 11:30 p.m.: Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902.

Dropped the charges against thirty one Centralians: Commonwealth v. Patrick Cain, et al.

Including my great-uncle Pat: Ibid.

Scheduled the rest for trial: Ibid; Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902; Bloomsburg Daily, Oct. 2, 1902; MCDN, Oct. 1, 1902.

Including my great-uncle Tom and my grandfather: Commonwealth v. Patrick Cain, et al.

Released on their own recognizance: Commonwealth v. Patrick Cain, et al.; Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902; MCDN, Oct. 1, 1902. 

Back home the next afternoon: Bloomsburg Columbian, Oct. 2, 1902.

Spending the night in the court house: Ibid.
News of Roosevelt’s planned meeting: MCDN, Oct. 2, 1902. 

“Things Seem Brighter than:” Ibid.
Seven-member strike arbitration: NYT, Oct. 16, 1902; PR, Nov. 5, 1902. Commissioners included a federal court of appeals judge, the U.S. commissioner of labor and the Catholic bishop of Peoria, Illinois.

Investigate conditions: NYT, Oct. 16, 1902; ASC, Report to the President, p. 11.

Ended the walkout and returned: MCDN, Oct. 21, 1902; MCDN, Oct. 23, 1902. 

Vanished from the court’s docket: Commonwealth v. Patrick Cain, et al.

Toured the region’s collieries, including Potts: MCDN, Nov. 6, 1902; NYT, Nov. 6, 1902. A photo at the Library of Congress shows the commissioners, clad in derby hats and business attire, posed outside a breaker. LC-USZ62-37984.

Testimony from mine workers and breaker boys: NYT, Dec. 10, 1902; NYT, Dec. 14. 1902. 

Clarence Darrow represented the miners: NYT, Dec. 16, 1902.

“Trade unions are for:” PI, Feb. 14, 1903. 

“They are the greatest:” Ibid.

By 1906: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 24.

Nineteen general and grocery stores: Ibid.

Five hotels: Ibid. 

Two jewelry stores, two theaters: Ibid.

Twenty-six saloons: Ibid.

St. Mary’s: Ibid, p. 16.

Saints Peter and Paul: Ibid, p. 17.

Married at St. Ignatius: MCI, Oct. 11, 1911.

Her father died six years earlier: MCDN, Oct. 12, 1905.

Oldest and earliest settlers: Ibid. He bequeathed the Wood Street homestead to she “whom I most love, my dear wife, Annie Laughlin:” Michael Laughlin, Last Will and Testament, Columbia County Register of Wills and Recorder of Deeds, Bloomsburg, Pa. (June 10, 1905), copy in AC. 

Stroke at the breakfast table: MCI, Nov. 22, 1915. 

One of Centralia’s best known: Ibid.
Died of miner’s asthma: MCI, June 22, 1918.

Father of mine bosses -- and one of Centralia’s most prominent citizens: MCI, June 22, 1918.

State salary: He was the mine inspector for the 22nd anthracite district. MCI, Dec. 22, 1926; 1926 MIR, p. 100. 

Deliveries to the kitchen: F.J. Beierschmitt, Ledger for Mr. James Quigley (Oct. 8, 1929-Aug. 2, 1932), copy in AC. 

Report about unemployment: James Quigley, Daily MIRs, Dec. 8-15, 1931, copy in AC.

Most productive mines: 1926 MIR, p. 100 (No. 2), copy in AC; 1923 MIR, p. 64 (No. 1), copy in AC. 

Water filling the lower level: James Quigley, Daily MIR (Dec. 15, 1931), copy in AC.

Struggled to turn a profit: Baird, History of Lehigh Valley Coal Co., pp. 379-82, (showing a net $8 million mining loss between 1874 and 1906 and more than $5 million in debt payments ensured by the railroad between 1896 and 1902); Poor’s Manual (1902), p. 112; Lehigh Valley Coal Co. Annual Reports (1910-1916), LOC, copy in AC; Lehigh Valley Coal Co. Annual Reports (1929-1935 and 1937-1938), PHMC/AMC, Scranton, Pa, copy in AC. 

Let alone honor interest: Baird, History of Lehigh Valley Coal Co., pp. 379-82; Poor’s Manual (1902), p. 112; LVCC Annual Reports (1910-1916), LOC, copy in AC; LVCC Annual Reports (1929-1935 and 1937-1938), PHMC/AMC, Scranton, Pa, copy in AC. 

Borrowed cash to meet operating expenses: Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, p. 120. 

Did not pay a dividend: Ibid.
Forgave debt and renegotiated loans: LVCC Annual Report (F/Y/E June 30, 1912), p.7; LVCC Annual Report (F/Y/E June 30, 1916), p. 17; LVCC Annual Report (1934), p. 1, note 4; LVCC Annual Report (1937), p. 1, note 6; LVCC Annual Report (1938), p. 1, note 1.

More than 40 percent of revenue: Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, p. 138; Poor’s Manual (1902), pp. 109, 146 (freight earnings for Lehigh Valley Railroad and Reading from 1895-1901). According to one scholar, they charged rates triple the cost of transport. See Jones, The Anthracite Coal Combination, pp. 136-38, 144. 

The western frontier: Poor’s Manual (1902), p. 105 (map of LVRR). 

Especially vulnerable: For example, between 1927 and 1936, Lehigh Valley Coal Co. closed four Schuylkill County mines, shedding 2,270 employees. During the same period, Reading Coal and Iron shut 25 collieries in Schuylkill County and five in Northumberland, laying off 13,289 employees. Anthracite Coal Industry Commission, Bootlegging or Illegal Mining in Pennsylvania: A Census and Survey of the Facts (1937), p. 23, copy at Pennsylvania State Library, Harrisburg and in AC. As the industry strove to shave costs and promote efficiency, the least profitable and most expensive mines were closed. Oliver Carlson, Bootlegging Coal: A New Industry Appears on the Horizon, Harper’s Magazine (Apr. 1935), p. 614; ACI Commission, Bootlegging in Pennsylvania, pp. 2, 6. The Western Middle Field, with its hard-to-mine, steeply pitched veins, absorbed the brunt of the shutdowns.

Closed twenty-one mines, including three: NYT, Sept. 28, 1931 (saying LVCC planned to re-open Locust Run, Continental, Centralia Colliery and 18 other mines, some closed for more than a year). 

About eight hundred mine workers: 1926 MIR, p. 100 (showing 785 Lehigh Valley Coal Co. employees at Centralia Colliery and 32 at Continental washery, plus 44 at Repplier Coal Company’s Locust Run washery, for a total of 861). 

More than one-third: 1926 MIR, p. 100 (Bast and Potts, both Reading collieries, employed 1,437 workers in 1926 and Midvalley had 111). 

Tumbled into unemployment: NYT, Sept. 28, 1931 (saying LVCC planned to re-open Locust Run, Continental, Centralia and 18 other collieries, some closed for more than a year); Dempsey, Centralia 125, pp. 26-28 (saying LVCC closed Centralia Colliery and Continental in 1929; no date given for Locust Run, which was run by LVCC). Company-wide production dwindled by 1.2 million tons from 1929 to 1931. See also LVCC Annual Reports (1929-31).

Between late 1931: Evidence gleaned from local and national press, the state’s mine-inspection reports and historical archives indicates Lehigh Valley Coal Co. abandoned Centralia Colliery in mid-December 1931, just as my grandfather’s inspection report suggests. A handwritten Lehigh Valley Coal Co. notebook from the Anthracite Museum Complex in Scranton, Pa., No. AC 88.24, says Centralia Colliery’s operations were discontinued on Dec. 12, 1931, three days before my grandfather’s inspection. Even after re-opening in late September 1931, Centralia Colliery only remained active during October, November and part of December. See 1931 MIR, p. 24. The Mount Carmel newspaper, which published local colliery work schedules, listed its last Lehigh Valley Coal Co. shift at Centralia Colliery on Friday Dec. 11, 1931. The following Monday, it ran no shifts at the local Lehigh Valley collieries, including Centralia. See MCI, Dec. 11, 1931, p. 13; MCI, Dec. 14, 1931, p. 7. The state’s mine-inspection reports for 1931 and 1932 also suggest Lehigh Valley Coal’s Centralia Colliery operations ended in mid-December 1931. See 1931 MIR, p. 24 (Centralia Colliery worked 59 days in 1931, with 371 employees); 1932 MIR, p. 49 (reporting no LVCC production; Centralia Colliery and Continental are not listed).

And 1932, when Lehigh Valley jettisoned Continental: 1932 MIR, p. 49 (no LVCC production; Centralia Colliery and Continental not listed); Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 28 (Continental abandoned in 1932). Evidence on this point is not entirely clear, as the handwritten Lehigh Valley Coal notebook from the Anthracite Museum Complex, No. AC 88.24, says Continental Colliery’s operations were discontinued on Oct. 9, 1928. Continental’s lease from Girard Estate expired on Dec. 31, 1928, according to a Centralia Colliery map from Scranton’s Anthracite Museum Complex. Also, Lehigh Valley Coal’s 1893 bonds matured on Jan. 1, 1933, giving the company incentive to trim operations in 1932. See NYT, Oct. 23, 1932; NYT, Dec. 5, 1932. Like Centralia Colliery, which closed after the crash and briefly re-opened in 1931, Continental may have weathered several shut-downs before its complete abandonment.

Retaining about a thousand employees: 1931 MIR, p. 24 (1,054 employees at Bast and Potts); 1932 MIR, p. 49 (568 employees at Bast, none at Potts) 1933 MIR, p. 78 (1,270 mine workers at Bast and Potts) These MIRs are at SCHS, copies in AC. 

Mine fire shuttered Bast, tossing about six hundred: 1933 MIR, p. 78 (Bast has 647 employees in 1933); 1934 MIR, p. 106 (Bast has 613 employees in 1934); 1935 MIR, p. 132-33 (Bast is stripping only in 1935; Potts has 587 employees).

By 1936, Reading scrapped: ACI Commission, Bootlegging in Pennsylvania, p. 24.

Potts closed every other year: 1935 MIR, pp. 132-33 (Bast is stripping only; Potts has 587 employees); 1936 MIR, p. 159 (no Potts employees); 1937 MIR, pp. 187-88 (Bast is stripping only, Potts has 687 employees); 1939 MIR, p. 256 (Potts has 710 employees); 1940 MIR, pp. 291-92 (Bast is stripping only and Potts has 721 employees); 1941 MIR, p. 328 (Potts has 776 employees). 

Fended for themselves: MCDN, July 23, 1902; Louis Adamic, The Great Bootleg Coal Industry, The Nation, Jan. 9, 1935, p. 46; WPA Anthracite Book, J. Reardon, Coal Bootlegging: A Compilation, FN 35, Folder 81, p. 3; ACI Commission, Bootlegging in Pennsylvania, p. 34 & Maps 2, 3 (estimating more than 7,000 men, from Shamokin to Shenandoah, worked about 1,965 bootleg holes, as of 1937).

Labored in teams: ACI Commission, Bootlegging in Pennsylvania, pp. 2, 33.

Several weeks of digging: Ibid, p. 38.

From twenty to a hundred feet: The Great Bootleg Coal Industry, The Nation, p. 48.

From Baltimore to Connecticut: ACI Commission Bootlegging in Pennsylvania, p. 3.

About twenty dollars per week, after expenses: Ibid, p. 37.

Law enforcement officials: Ibid, pp. 6-8.

And parish priests: The Great Bootleg Coal Industry, The Nation, p. 48; Carlson, Bootlegging Coal, Harper’s, p. 621.

Warded off starvation: ACI Commission, Bootlegging in Pennsylvania, pp. 6, 8; Carlson, Bootlegging Coal, Harper’s, p. 616 (quoting a bootlegger who says: “Are we supposed to starve to death just ‘cause the collieries are closed?”).

About a hundred feet south: Centralia Surface Map, Shelf E-1, No. 453, DEP/DMS, Pottsville, Pa.; LVCC Map of Centralia Colliery (June 30, 1915) (showing outline of Buck outcrop); ACI Commission, Bootlegging in Pennsylvania, Map 3 (showing bootleg holes in Schuylkill County area, including Centralia, and a coal hole that, based on location, looks like the Laughlin-Donahue-Ryan enterprise).

Hundreds just like it: ACI Commission, Bootlegging in Pennsylvania, p. 39.

Often skimping: Carlson, Bootlegging Coal, Harper’s, pp. 615-16 (quoting a bootlegger who said we can’t afford timber and good equipment and a couple of dollars look so big to us we’ll take chances with our lives).

About a hundred bootleggers – two to three times: ACI Commission, Bootlegging in Pennsylvania, p. 39. Stanley Jurgill, a 26-year-old Centralia resident and St. Ignatius parishioner, was crushed by a fall of coal inside a bootleg hole, 75 feet underground, on Jan. 6, 1938. MCI, Jan. 6, 1938.

Almost doubling: 1942 MIR, pp. 29-30; 1936 MIR, p. 159, copy in AC.

Posters urged: In late September and early October 1942, the federal government staged war-production rallies in Mount Carmel, Scranton, Wilkes-Barre and Hazleton. Photographs of the events, taken by the Office of War Information, are at the Library of Congress. For war-production posters, see LC-USW3-058390-C, copy in AC. For the war-bond competition, see LC-USE6-D-010732, copy in AC. For a miner posing with his pick and a soldier, see LC-USE6-D-010728, copy in AC. For miners demonstrating their drilling techniques, see LC-USW3-058385-C, copy in AC

More than 220 parishioners: St. Ignatius Diamond Jubilee, p. 38 (providing parish enlistment figures and fatalities as of August 1944).

Battle of the Bulge: His headstone at St. Ignatius cemetery reads: John M. Ryan, WWII 1922-1944. He is buried next to his parents, Oliver P. Ryan (1887-1956) and Anne M. Ryan (1887-1984).

First Centralia soldiers killed: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 20 (John J. Lynch and Nicholas Gugie).

Fire destroyed its previous lodge, Alexander Rea’s former home: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 20. 

Dating back to Father Hayes’s tenure: Diamond Jubilee, pp. 23-24; Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 14; Dedication Brochure for St. Ignatius School (June 19, 1955), copy in AC (Harrisburg Diocese docs).

A one-story brick building: Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 14. 

Blamed the United Mine Workers and John L. Lewis: The Last Days of Lehigh Coal: Did it Have to Die?, Forbes, Sept. 15, 1967, p. 180, PHMC/AMC, Scranton, Pa., copy in AC. 

Even before the Depression: Richard R. Mead, An Analysis of the Decline of the Anthracite Industry since 1921, (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania, 1935), pp. 115-16.

Peaked in 1917: 1949 MIR, p. 4, copy at Pennsylvania State Library, Harrisburg, Pa. and in AC; ACI Commission, Bootlegging in Pennsylvania, pp. 5-6.

The slide accelerated: ACI Commission, Bootlegging in Pennsylvania, pp. 5-6; 1949 MIR, pp. 4-5 (listing annual production figures from 1870-1949). In 1899, anthracite accounted for 22 percent of fuel-produced energy, while oil and gas claimed 8 percent. By 1935, their fortunes had more than reversed: anthracite slid to an 8-percent share and oil and gas surged to 38 percent. Time, Industrial Cannibalism, Jan. 31, 1938.

Storage bins for furnaces: Mead, Analysis of the Decline, p. 117; Last Days of Lehigh Coal, p. 180.

Freeing basements for rec rooms: Last Days of Lehigh Coal, pp. 180, 182.

Demand for hard coal plummeted: Ibid, p. 180. 

Pennies on the dollar: Ibid, p. 182.

Between 1949 and 1952: See legislative history, 1954 U.S. Code Congressional and Administrative News (USCCAN), p. 3581 (Table 1).
Spent $1.3 million: 1954 USCCAN, p. 3581 (Table 1).

In five states: Ibid. (Colorado, Pennsylvania, Wyoming, West Virginia and New Mexico).

Including $570,000 – almost half: Ibid.

Five anthracite-mine fires: Ibid. (Shamokin, Kulpmont, Carbondale, Mount Carmel and Tower City).

In 1954, blazes consumed: Ibid., p. 3578.

Seventy inactive coal deposits in Pennsylvania -- 48 percent: Ibid.

Requiring them to finance 50 percent: Ibid, pp. 3577, 3579, 3588-89.

In mid-August: The deed between Coates and Centralia borough is recorded in Columbia County Deed Book 191, p. 6 (Aug. 16, 1954), Columbia County Courthouse, Bloomsburg, Pa, copy in AC.

Slated for passage: 1954 USCCAN, p. 3577 (The Senate report, echoing the earlier House report and recommending passage of the bill, is dated July 29, 1954).

For one dollar: The deed between Coates and Centralia borough is recorded in Columbia County Deed Book 191, p. 6, Columbia County Courthouse, Bloomsburg, Pa, copy in AC. The sub-surface mineral rights had been long prized by Lehigh Valley Coal Co. and reserved in homeowners’ deeds, including Jim and Maggie Quigley’s deed.

Two weeks later, the legislation cleared Congress: 30 U.S.C. secs. 551-58 (West Supp. 1971) (enacted Aug. 31, 1954).

Continental Colliery closed in 1955: T. Dempsey, interview with the author, Mar. 25, 2004.
Germantown in 1960: 1959 MIR. In 1959, Germantown had 249 employees, reduced from 727 workers in 1952.

By 93 percent: In 1950, Centralia’s three collieries, Continental, Germantown and Centralia, employed 1,268 workers. See 1950 MIR, at SCHS. Coates Coal’s Centralia Colliery operation had 95 employees in 1960. See 1960 MIR, at SCHS.
Northern New Jersey: Thomas Dublin, When the Mines Closed: Stories of Struggles in Hard Times (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1998), pp. 55-56, 182, 212.

Women filed into garment factories: Dublin, When the Mines Closed, pp. 29-30, 67, 110, 198.

Borough’s 1960 population: St. Ignatius Centenary, p. 7. The borough’s population peaked at 2,761 in 1890. Dempsey, Centralia 125, p. 24. 

About five hundred feet: Centralia Surface Map, DEP/DMS, Pottsville, Pa., Shelf E-1, No. 453.
Chapter Three: Trench Warfare

Friday supper: Mary Lou started serving meat on Fridays after Vatican II, which was in 1965. Tony, a meat-and-potatoes-guy, had never liked fish.

Wilkes-Barre lawyer and twenty-year veteran: George Crile, The Best Congressman, Harper’s, Jan. 1975, pp. 61, 63.

Clamored for an update: Memorandum from Corgan to O’Leary (June 16, 1969), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Labeled the situation an emergency: Memorandum from Kuebler to Corgan (June 13, 1969), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Memo from Corgan to O’Leary (June 16, 1969).

Coal bed and surface smoldered: Letter from Kuebler to Stearns (June 13, 1969), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

A hundred-thousand-dollar ditch: SNI, June 16, 1969; HPN, June 22, 1969; Memo from Kuebler to Corgan (June 13, 1969).

More than half the length and width of a football field and five stories deep: Measuring 240 feet long, 175 feet wide and 50 feet deep according to SNI, June 16, 1969; Memo from Kuebler to Corgan (June 13, 1969).

Former Shakespearean actor: Crile, The Best Congressman, p. 61.

Top hat, white gloves and tails: Photograph of Dan Flood, Centralia Centennial (1966), copy in AC (Bob Burge docs).

Flood’s remarks: Memorandum from Malenka to Kuebler (June 17, 1969), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

The Iris: Published by the senior class of Conyngham Township High School, 1946, 1947, copy in AC (from MCPL).

Mine fire experts: Memo from Malenka to Kuebler (June 17, 1969).

County officials were deliberating: CCRA Minutes (June 20, 1969); Memo from Malenka to Kuebler (June 17, 1969).

Meet with county commissioners: Memo from Malenka to Kuebler (June 17, 1969).

Flood telegram: Daniel J. Flood Papers, King’s College, Wilkes-Barre, Pa, copy in AC.

Helen Womer letter to the editor: PR, June 18, 1969.

Where recent coverage: PR, May 20, 1969; PR, May 23, 1969; PR, June 7, 1969; PR, June 18, 1969.

“Upon our request:” PR, June 6, 1969.

“Result – We Have Been:” Ibid.

Thought they had saved: PR, July 18, 1969 (MLSB).

Carrot-shaped wedge: See Red Book, p. 28 (Fig.9).

At the rim: Photograph of Mary Lou Gaughan (undated), MLSB.

Exposed a burning pillar: SEH, Apr. 30, 1981.

Exhausted the hundred-thousand-dollar appropriation: See BOM, Completion Report, No. 7, Phase Two, Part One (Apr. 1971) (Table 1), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (trench cost $105,000).

Ordered them to fill: SEH, Apr. 30, 1981; VV, May 20, 1981; DeKok, Unseen Danger, p. 77.

Polaroids: See M.L. Gaughan Photographs, MLSB.

Photo op: See BOM, Completion Report, No. 7, Phase Two, Part One (black and white photos).

Pledging to conquer: Letter from Mrs. F. Huber to DOI Secretary, Walter J. Hickel (Sept. 17, 1970), copy in AC (FOIA docs); see also BOM, Completion Report, ARC No. 7, Phase 2, Part 1 (Apr. 1971); Letter from Flynn to Mrs. F. Huber (Oct. 12, 1970), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (saying projects protected the town and contained the mine fire, which was completely excavated at the northwest section, near the homes).

Helen fired a letter: Letter from H. Womer to Mrs. F. Huber, quoted in Letter from Mrs. F. Huber to Hickel (Sept. 17, 1970).

“The enclosed article is:” Ibid.

“I told one of:” Ibid.
Two underground blockades: Red Book, pp. 28 (Fig. 9), 30 (Fig. 10).

Fly-ash barrier statistics: Ibid.

Flood inspection and comments: WBTL, Feb. 13, 1974, copy in AC (FOIA docs); Congressman Daniel J. Flood, untitled news release, Feb. 15, 1974, copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Cropfall near the Odd Fellows Cemetery: Memorandum from Rosella to Everett (May 20, 1974), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Memorandum from Rogers to Vicinelly (June 7, 1974), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Memorandum from Yaccino to Fowler (June 20, 1974), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Carbon monoxide outside Mary Lou’s house: BOM, CMF Project No. 53, Meeting Transcript (Oct. 5, 1978), pp. 2, 3, copy in AC (FOIA docs); Memorandum from D. Lewis to File (Sept. 4, 1975), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (discussing steaming cave-ins on East Park Street and just southeast of the cemetery); Red Book, p. 31 (a trace of CO detected in two monitoring boreholes in late 1975 and early 1976); Memorandum from Malenka to Kuebler (Apr. 9, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (Malenka finds .002 percent CO in BH 191); Memorandum from Rosella to Malenka (June 1, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (feds find CO in BHs 191E (.04 percent) and T-7 (.1 percent), within 60 to 70 feet of Gaughans’); Memorandum from Rogers to Shober (June 4, 1976), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs) (state finds CO in BHs T-7 (1 percent) and 191 (.04 percent)); Memorandum from Malenka to Kuebler (June 10, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (borehole data show elevated temperatures and CO in the vicinity of Wood and South Streets); Letter from Eva Moran to Sen. Kury (June 21, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Status Report from Malenka to Kuebler (July 19, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (.1 percent CO in T-7 and .04 percent CO in BH 191E); Memorandum from Rogers to Shober (July 26, 1976), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs; FOIA docs) (.1 percent CO in T-7, 37 feet NE of Gaughans’ home, and .04 percent in 191E); Minutes of Federal-State Meeting on CMF (July 27, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (CO detected in BHs T-7 and 191E); Memorandum from Rogers to Shober (Oct. 22, 1976), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs) (BH 191 reads .1 percent CO, up from .04 percent, and BH T-7 also at .1 percent); Federal Borehole Temperature Logs (Mar. 15, 1977, Apr. 27, 1977, Aug. 1, 1977, Aug. 8, 1977 ), copy in AC (from MLSB) (fed inspectors found .1 CO in BHs 191E and T-7); CCRA, CMF Meeting Transcript (Aug. 9, 1978), p. 3, copy in AC (FOIA docs) (Kuebler says barrier-reinforcement project began after CO detected at Gaughans’).

Engineers knew then: BOM, Meeting Transcript (Oct. 5, 1978), pp. 2, 3 (saying any CO is evidence the barrier failed, it doesn’t matter how much, and the first CO was detected in the fall of 1975).

Lodged seventy to ninety feet: Federal Borehole Logs (March-August, 1977), copy in AC (MLSB).

She worried: Letter from T. Gaughan to Kuebler (Sept. 20, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

June 1976, state officials probed: Memorandum from Rogers to Shober (June 4, 1976), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs).

One percent carbon monoxide: Memo from Rogers to Shober (June 4, 1976). Rogers even typed the number twice, once as a numeral, surrounded by parentheses, and once written out, to deflect second-guessing about a possible typographical error.

Government deemed life-threatening: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, “Preventing Carbon-Monoxide Poisoning from Small Gasoline-Powered Engines and Tools,” Publication No. 96-118 (NIOSH Alert, 1996), p. 4, http:// www.cdc.gov/niosh/carbon2.html (accessed Aug. 15, 2005) (hereafter, “NIOSH Alert”).

Drew a map: Memo from Rogers to Shober (June 4, 1976).

Met in Schuykill Haven: Memorandum from Malenka to Kuebler (June 10, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Jointly funded: CCRA, CMF Meeting Transcript (Aug. 9, 1978), p. 3; see Appalachian Regional Development Act, Public Law 89-4 (Mar. 9, 1965).

Footed 75 percent: See Appalachian Regional Development Act. The state paid the remaining 25 percent. Public Law 89-4, (Mar. 9, 1965).

Remained unconvinced: Memorandum from Malenka to Kuebler (June 10, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Detailed a mine inspector: Memo from Rogers to Shober (June 16, 1976), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs); see also Memo from Malenka to Kuebler (June 10, 1976).

Life-threatening dose: For several years, borehole CO readings outside the Gaughans’ home ranged between .04 percent and .1 percent. A reading of .005 percent translates into 50 parts per million, roughly the amount of CO in two burning cigarettes. See SNI, Dec. 20, 1978. A reading of .01 percent equates to 100 parts per million, or twice the maximum allowable exposure under federal workplace-safety guidelines and three times the recommended exposure. A reading of .1 percent translates to 1,000 parts per million, or 83 percent of the federal government’s standard for life-threatening exposure. See Red Book, p. 34. The federal guidelines are geared toward workplace exposure and eight-hour shifts, not residential settings where homebound individuals, such as Tony Gaughan, could face exposure 24 hours a day.

A thirty-minute margin: DHHS, NIOSH Alert, p. 4.

Phone calls and letters: See Letter to from Eva Moran to Rep. Flood (June 14, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (discussing CO readings outside Gaughans’ home); Letter from Eva Moran to Sen. Kury (June 21, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (re: CO readings outside Gaughans’ home); Letter from Kuebler to Rep. Flood (July 27, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Letter from T. Gaughan to Kuebler (Sept. 20, 1976), copy in AC  (FOIA docs) (BOM lied to Flood about location of the BH outside his home); Letter from Kuebler to T. Gaughan (Sept. 24, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (state and feds can’t do anything until ARC approves the funding); Letter from T. Gaughan to J. Paone (Sept. 22, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (noting “too many lies”); Paone Letter to Gaughan (Oct. 16, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (the state has to initiate the project); SNI, Dec. 7, 1976 (MLSB); SEH, July 6, 1977 (Tony Gaughan says feds are bluffing the public) (MLSB); Letter from Kuebler to Shober (June 7, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA docs & DEP/DMS docs) (Kuebler says “rumors and individual assessment by those unfamiliar with the facts have tended to confuse the status of the work”); CCRA, CMF Meeting Transcript (Aug. 9, 1978), p. 3 (Kuebler says CO emissions from a sewer had created a panic and residents would be happy with nothing less than a trench).

Local reporters to The Wall Street Journal and CBS: SNI, Dec. 8, 1976; WSJ, Mar. 3, 1977. For a piece about Tony and Mary Lou, Gary Sheppard of CBS News interviewed Malenka and Rosella in Centralia on Mar. 8, 1977. See Memorandum from Malenka to Kuebler (Mar. 9, 1977), copy in AC (FOIA docs); SNI, Mar. 7, 1977 (noting CBS camera crew’s presence); see also M.L. Gaughan Phone Notes, MLSB (handwritten notes from fielding media inquiries after the Journal article and inscribing Gary Sheppard’s name).

“We’re trying to get:” SNI, Dec. 8, 1976.

“What I’m trying to:” RE, Mar. 6, 1977 (AP story) (MLSB); PI, Mar. 5, 1977 (AP story) (MLSB).
“It’s going to wipe:” PI, Mar. 5, 1977 (AP story) (MLSB); RE, Mar. 6, 1977 (AP story) (MLSB); see also PR, Apr. 6, 1977 (AP story) (MLSB) (Tony says the fire will be under the town in two years). Tony also said the fire would reach Coddington’s gas station within a year. SEH, Nov. 2, 1976. 

Firebreak worked, no danger, no harm: Letter from Morgan to Rep. Flood (June 29, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs)(acting BOM director tells Flood the mine fire has not spread); SNI, July 7, 1976, copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs) (feds told borough officials barrier not breached; odors might be from a nearby burning refuse bank and gases pose no health hazard unless they invade a cellar and someone has contact for 10 to 14 hours); Letter from Kuebler to Flood (July 27, 1976), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (saying CO and elevated temperature readings near Gaughans’ do not mean the fire has breached the mine-fire seal, but the FAB should be reinforced); SNI, Dec. 8, 1976 (Kuebler says there’s no evidence the fire has advanced beyond the FAB; CO readings at Gaughans’ boreholes are normal and to be expected); SNI, Feb. 4, 1977 (MLSB) (state senator Franklin Kury says, in a letter to Mayor McGinley: “your problem is being taken care of,  and additional agitation may prove counterproductive); PR, Apr. 6, 1977 (Paone says fly ash is working and the fire can’t jump the FAB) (MLSB); This Week Magazine (Apr. 10-16, 1977) (Kuebler says the FAB is working and the town faces no danger); SNI, June 15, 1977 (MLSB) (Kuebler says boreholes will reveal the fire has not crossed the barrier, even with elevated temperatures outside Gaughans’); SEH, July 6, 1977 (MLSB) (Kuebler says borehole data show FAB is working, even though CO and 170-degree temperature detected); BOM, Completion Report (July 25, 1977), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (saying FAB is permitting gas seepage but has not been breached); SEH, Aug. 31, 1977 (MLSB) (Kuebler says fire hasn’t spread beyond the FAB and he doesn’t anticipate any threat to the borough); Letter from Kuebler to Shober (June 7, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA docs & DEP/DMS docs) (Kuebler says the FAB has not been breached and the project is working); SNI, June 14, 1978 (MLSB) (Kuebler says residents in no danger and he would not be afraid to live in the area, even though the reinforced FAB will allow seepage in a few years); CCRA, CMF Meeting Transcript (Aug. 9, 1978), p. 3 (Kuebler suggests original CO readings came from sewers and CO detected outside Gaughans’ only recently, when FAB reinforcement began).

Lost sixty pounds and had trouble sleeping: This Week Magazine (Apr. 10-16, 1977).

Shelved mine fire obsession: See Letters from Steve Phillips and Dan Flood (June 7, 1977) (MLSB) (with handwritten notes on the envelope, showing a phone number at Ashland Hospital, where Mary Lou had surgery).

More than two hundred get-well cards: Plain Dealer Magazine, Jan. 19, 1986.

Publicity shot: SEH, Sept. 1, 1977 (MLSB).

“Mine officials assure:” Ibid.

Bargaining with God: Mary Lou’s mother-in-law pitched in, too, enlisting the Seraphic Mass Assocation to tap a missionary priest to say mass for Tony and Mary Lou. See Letter from SMA to Mrs. Gaughan (Sept. 2, 1978) (MLSB).

Mary Lou dragged: This account is based on interviews with several of the participants.

Color-coded map: Centralia Surface Map (Oct. 16, 1978), copy in AC (Goncalves docs). This map, though it bears a different date, bears the same markings and coloration as the map officials received in Wilkes-Barre, according to several persons interviewed. See also BOM, Report: Centralia Mine Fire Control Project (Aug. 25, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (with map showing location of proposed trench and safety zone and affected homes).

McGinley patriarch: Patrick McGinley, a Mayo immigrant who is buried at St. Ignatius, died under a fall of coal at Big Mine Run Colliery on Sept. 10, 1877. For information about his death, see 1877 MIR, p. 42, copy in AC. 
“I guess some kid:” This Week Magazine (Apr. 10-16, 1977).
Bloomsburg caucus: CCRA, CMF Meeting Transcript, (Aug. 9, 1978).

Federal government conceded: Letter from Reece to Krevor (Aug. 7, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (BOM and DER recently concluded the barrier was ineffective and an emergency trench was necessary to stop gas seepage); CCRA, CMF Meeting Transcript (Aug. 9, 1978), p. 5; Memorandum from Malenka to Kuebler (Aug. 11, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA docs). 

Obliterate East Wood and Park Streets: CMF Meeting Transcript (Aug. 25, 1978), pp.1, 2, copy in AC (FOIA docs) (16 homes and a church); SNI, Aug. 23, 1978 (officials have said no homes to be destroyed for the temporary trench, only for the permanent one); SNI, Aug. 26, 1978 (MLSB) (16 homes and a church); BMP, Aug. 26, 1978 (16 homes and a church); PR, Aug. 31, 1978 (23 or 27 homes and a church) (MLSB); SNI, Sept. 8, 1978 (an estimated 27 families).

Including Mary Lou’s and Helen’s: CMF Meeting Transcript (Aug. 25, 1978), pp. 2, 3; Report: Centralia Mine Fire Control Project (Aug. 25, 1978) (with map showing location of proposed trench and safety zone and affected homes).

As much as $9 million: Memorandum from Flynn to BOM Director (Aug. 4, 1978), copy in AC(FOIA docs).

Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act: P.L. 95-87, secs. 401, 402(a) (1977).

Collected $157 million in 1978: Office of Surface Mining, 25th Anniversary of the Surface Mining Law (Washington, D.C.: GPO, 2003), p. 38.

Abandoned Mine Reclamation Fund: The statute refers to this trust as the Abandoned Mine Reclamation Fund. See sec. 401 (a). In common usage, the trust is known as the Abandoned Mine Land(s) Fund or AML Fund. See, e.g., Office of Surface Mining, Abandoned Mine Land Fund: Status (Through Sept. 30, 2005), www.osmre.gov/fundstat.htm (accessed Sept. 24, 2006). 

Announced their position and did not yield: CCRA, CMF Meeting Transcript, (Aug. 9, 1978), p. 3; Letter from McConnell to Morgan (Aug. 17, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Federal government should finance: CCRA, CMF Meeting Transcript (Aug. 9, 1978), p. 3; Letter from McConnell to Morgan (Aug. 17, 1978).

Questioned the logic: Memorandum from Flynn to BOM Director (Aug. 4, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Assessed value of only about half a million dollars: Memorandum from Flynn to BOM Director (Aug. 4, 1978). Federal officials based this appraisal on estimates from Columbia County officials. This memo materialized after an aide to then-freshman U.S. Senator John H. Heinz pestered the bureau for information about the mine fire.

Promoting solar power: See SNI, Mar. 23, 1979 (publicity photo of First Lady Rosalynn Carter bicycling though a solar-heated California subdivision).

Air Force spy plane: SNI, Aug. 16, 1978.

Snare infrared photographs: Letter from Rhodes to Tanney (Aug. 13, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA docs). The plane was an RF-4, a radar-equipped Cold War era jet, based at Shaw Air Force Base in South Carolina.

Flood indictment: SNI, Sept. 6, 1978; SEH, Sept. 6, 1978. He was indicted on Sept. 5, 1978.

Staging fundraisers: SEH, Sept. 7, 1978.

Salvaging his reputation and career: SEH, Sept. 6, 1978 (photo of Flood in front of his Wilkes-Barre home, declaring his innocence); SEH, Sept. 7, 1978 (noting he might have to forsake his appropriations subcommittee chairmanship).

Re entered the fray: PR, Aug. 31, 1978; SNI, Aug. 26, 1978 (MLSB); SNI, Aug. 12, 1978.

Tony would never leave: SNI, Aug. 12, 1978; PR, Aug. 31, 1978.

Chapter Four: Bureaucratic Shuffle
Polish Americans heralded: SNI, Oct. 17, 1978; SEH, Oct. 17, 1978; SEH, Oct. 21, 1978.

Approved, with stipulations: Centralia Borough Council, Meeting Minutes (Oct. 17, 1978), copy in AC; Memorandum from Kuebler to [no recipient] (Oct. 31, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA docs); SNI, Oct. 23, 1978 (MLSB).

Had little choice: SNI, Oct. 23, 1978; PI, Dec. 9, 1979.

Rejected their plea: Letter from Kuebler to Goncalves (Oct. 16, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA & Goncalves docs); SNI, Oct. 23, 1978 (MLSB).

Effort to spare Helen’s and Mary Lou’s: During an October 5, 1978 meeting in Wilkes-Barre with federal and state officials, Helen suggested moving the trench about 100 feet, which would have saved her home. BOM, Meeting Transcript (Oct. 5, 1978), pp. 13-14.

Deflected a demolition contractor: Letter from Paone to Capp (Oct. 16, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Order carbon-monoxide monitors: Letter from Kuebler to Shober (Oct. 17, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Memorandum from Shober to Vicinelly (Oct. 19, 1978), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs); DOI/BOM, Order Form (Oct. 20, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Burke family history: Schuylkill County, Pennsylvania: Geneaology, Family History, Biography, Containing Historical Sketches of Old Families and of Representative and Prominent Citizens Past and Present (Chicago: J. H. Beers & Co. 1916), pp. 182-84, copy at SCHS & in AC.

Life at NSHS: See North Schuylkill High School, Fountain Springs, Pa., Odyssey 77 and Odyssey 1978, copies in AC.

A thousand adolescents: NSHS no longer maintains enrollment records from the 1977-78 academic year, but, according to the yearbook, 231 seniors graduated in 1978. See Odyssey 1978.

Spotted a cave-in: SEH, Nov. 22, 1979; SEH, Nov. 23, 1979.

Ten inches wide: PI, Dec. 9, 1979.

About ten feet from: Memorandum from Malenka to Biggi (Dec. 10, 1979), copy in AC (FOIA docs). Cf. Letter from Lazarski to Sen. Heinz (Nov. 25, 1979), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (35 feet).

Daily watch: Memo from Malenka to Biggi (Dec. 10, 1979).

Within five days, the temperature doubled: Ibid.

Ordered Coddington to drain: Memorandum from Brass to Vicinelly (Dec. 10, 1979), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs); Memo from Malenka to Biggi (Dec. 10, 1979); SEH, Dec. 8, 1979; SNI, Dec. 8, 1979.

About twelve feet from: Memo from Brass to Vicinelly (Dec. 6, 1979).

Basement temperature: Memo from Brass to Vicinelly (Dec. 6, 1979), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs); Memo from Malenka to Biggi (Dec. 10, 1979).

Sixty degrees shy: SEH, Dec. 8, 1979; SNI, Dec. 8, 1979.

Heated to 64 degrees, 14 degrees higher: Memo from Malenka to Biggi (Dec. 10, 1979); SEH, Dec. 8, 1979.

March 1979: SEH, Jan. 18, 1980.

Eight hundred feet west: Letter to Dr. Riehl (Aug. 20, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Two furnace repairmen: Memo from Rogers to Vicinelly (June 6, 1979), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs); SEH, Jan. 18, 1980.

Dizzy and head ached: Memo from Rogers to Vicinelly (June 6, 1979).

Safety lantern extinguished: Ibid.

Doctor’s regimen: See Letter from Dr. L. Tuft to Charles Beasley (Mar. 31, 1978), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Felt trapped: PI, Dec. 9, 1979.

“They’re going to wait:” Ibid.

Foot sank into: Memorandum from Rogers to Shober (Jan. 30, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Exposed a bootleg-mine entrance: Memo from Rogers to Shober (Jan. 30, 1980); see SEH, Feb. 5, 1980 (Malenka says some mining operations conducted under the Lambs’ home, but he doubts they were extensive because the outcrop there is shallow); Memorandum from Rogers to Vicinelly (June 6, 1979), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs) (with map of Lambs’ basement, including furnace and concrete pad).

Previous owner: Memorandum from Rogers to Vicinelly (June 6, 1979), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs).

Inside the slope: Memo from Rogers to Shober (Jan. 30, 1980).

From Nance Maloney’s house: BOM, Gas Monitoring Log: Carbon Monoxide, copy in AC (FOIA docs) (Monitor No. 10 was transferred from Mrs. Maloney’s to Lambs’ on Jan. 17, 1980); SEH, Jan. 18, 1980.

Traces of carbon monoxide: BOM, Gas Monitoring Log: Carbon Monoxide (Jan. 17-31, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Maximum allowable: Under OSHA guidelines, the maximum permissible exposure to carbon monoxide during an eight-hour shift is 50 parts per million. See Red Book, p. 34; DHHS, NIOSH Alert, p. 4; U.S. DOL, Occupational Safety & Health Administration, Occupational Safety and Health Guideline for CO, p.2, http://www.osha.gov.SLTC/healthguidelines/carbonmonoxide/recognition.html (accessed Aug. 15, 2005).

Sewer vents: SEH, Jan. 16, 1980; see also SNI (June 28, 1979) (state and federal officials blame sewer vents for black damp at Lambs’ and Coddingtons’).

Officials had cased: DOL, MSHA Laboratories, Mount Hope, W.V. (Mar. 20, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs); DOL, MSHA Laboratories, Mount Hope, W.V. (Mar. 28 & Mar. 31, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Procured a copy: Wilbert Malenka, a BOM official, also read the lab results at a borough-council meeting on Thursday, April 10. SEH, Apr. 14, 1980.

Helen Womer’s coal bin: DOL, MSHA Laboratories, Mount Hope, W.V. (Mar. 28 & Mar. 31, 1980).

Coddington’s washing machine: DOL, MSHA Laboratories, Mount Hope, W.V. (Mar. 28 & Mar. 31, 1980). On April 11, two days before Mary Lou wrote to Booker, Coddington placed a collect call to the bureau of mines in Pittsburgh about the carbon dioxide in his basement, asking for an inspection over the weekend. Memorandum from Murphy to the file (Apr. 14, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Borehole X-33: DOL, MSHA Laboratories, Mount Hope, W.V. (Mar. 28 & Mar. 31, 1980).

More than twice: According to NIOSH, the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, a level of 4 percent carbon dioxide is “immediately dangerous to life or health.” See National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, International Chemical Safety Cards: Carbonic Acid Gas (CO2) (Oct. 25, 1994, peer reviewed), http:// www.cdc.gov/niosh/ipcsneng/neng0021.html (accessed Aug. 15, 2005).

UMW President: Mary Lou and Tony wrote W.A. Boyle, the UMW president, on June 2, 1969, after the Birsters’ canary died. See Letter from Boyle to Gaughans (June 10, 1969) (MLSB).

Drafted a letter: Letter from M.L. Gaughan to Booker (Apr. 13, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

“Dear Mr. Booker:” Ibid.

“My name is:” Ibid.

“Mr. Booker, if you:” Ibid.

Carbon dioxide at the Oakums’: DOL, MSHA Laboratories, Mount Hope, W.V. (Mar. 28 & Mar. 31, 1980); SEH, Apr. 14, 1980. Chrissie Oakum posed for an Evening Herald photographer holding a plant, with leaves she said had withered from the carbon-dioxide build-up inside her home. Her four sons, who ranged in age from 6 to 16 months, posed kneeling around the bird cage housing Freddie, their pet canary.

“There is no way:” Letter from M.L. Gaughan to Booker (Apr. 13, 1980).

“The mine fire is:” Ibid.

“We took as much:” Ibid.

“We can’t take any:” Ibid.

Eight East Park Street homes: Memorandum from Assistant Secretary for Energy and Minerals [initials JMD] to OSM Director (Apr. 18, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs). The assistant secretary at this time was Joan M. Davenport; the OSM director was Walter Heine. See MOU Between BOM and OSM (May 16, 1980).

“In particular, the Centralia:” Memo from JMD to OSM Director (Apr. 18, 1980).

Gases inside his home had soared: DOL, MSHA Laboratories, Mount Hope, W.V. (Apr. 23, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs); see also Routing Slip from Malenka to Williams (Apr. 25, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Routing Slip from Malenka to Williams & Biggi  (May 8, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs). 

Kitchen and dining room: Routing Slip from Malenka to Williams (Apr. 25, 1980). 

Wound up in the hospital: SEH, Apr. 30, 1980; SNI, Apr. 30, 1980.

Ordered her not to return: SEH, Apr. 30, 1980; SNI, Apr. 30, 1980.

Broke through to Earl Cunningham: OSM, CMF Meeting Transcript (June 3, 1980), pp. 10-11, copy in AC (FOIA docs). Cunningham recounted his conversation with Dave several weeks later, during a public meeting at borough hall.

Cunningham’s title: Memorandum from Beasley to Flynn re: CMF Control Project (May 21, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Dr. Charles A. Beasley: DeKok, Unseen Danger, p. 128.

Beasley’s title: Memorandum from Beasley to Flynn re: CMF Control Project (May 21, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Around 8:00 a.m.: DeKok, Unseen Danger, p. 128.

Dipped into its own till: OSM, CMF Meeting Transcript (June 3, 1980), pp. 10-11, 24; SEH, Apr. 30, 1980.

A state of emergency: SEH, Apr. 30, 1980; SEH, May 1, 1980 (MLSB); SNI, Apr. 30, 1980; OSM, CMF Meeting Transcript (June 3, 1980), pp. 10-11.  

Effort to mitigate: SEH, May 5, 1980; SEH, Apr. 30, 1980; SNI, Apr. 30, 1980.

Several hundred copies: Memorandum from Murphy to Forshey (Sept. 18, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

The Red Book: The report was prepared under Interagency Agreement No. J5101026 between BOM and OSM and released on Sept. 10, 1980. Red Book, p. 2; SEH, Sept. 10, 1980; SNI, Sept. 9, 1980. 

Unveil their design: In a pre-meeting press release, OSM said officials planned to discuss “development of a plan to deal with the mine fire” and options for solving the mine-fire problem. DOI news release, “OSM plans public meeting in Centralia, Pa. to discuss options for solving mine fire problem,” Sept. 19, 1980, copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Three-dimensional temperature studies: Red Book, p. 58 (fig. 17).

Computer-generated thermal contour maps: Red Book, (fig. 20).

Evaluated eleven options: Red Book, pp. 65-97.

Excavation to flooding, flushing and controlled burnout: Ibid, pp. 65-94.

From $20 million to $84 million: Red Book, p. 97 ($20 million for a water-curtain isolation barrier); Ibid, p. 69 ($84 million for total excavation of the fire area, an effort spanning 140 acres and requiring demolition of 109 structures).

By September 29, 1980: Officials convened for the first of two public meetings to discuss the Red Book. SEH, Sept. 30, 1980; SNI, Sept. 30, 1980. 

Between three hundred and five hundred: SEH, Sept. 30, 1980 (about 500); SNI, Sept. 30, 1980 (more than 300). 

One-third to one-half: See Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, p. 110 (listing 1980 population as 1,019 residents).

Federal presentation: The presenter’s name was Dr. John Murphy. SEH, Sept. 30, 1980; SNI, Sept. 30, 1980.

How mine fires spread: SNI, Sept. 30, 1980.

Proposed fire control modes: SEH, Sept. 30, 1980.

Structures would perish: SNI, Sept. 30, 1980; see also Red Book, pp. 65-94.

How inspectors would track: SEH, Sept. 30, 1980; SNI, Sept. 30, 1980.

When should we call: SNI, Sept. 30, 1980.


Will we receive: Ibid.

Worried about her daughter’s safety: Ibid.

Side-effects develop slowly: Ibid.

Time to react: Ibid. 

Failure to level: The state’s public health officials insisted, for example, that mine-fire gases had not caused Rachel Lamb’s asthma. See Letter from Evan Riehl, M.D. to Lambs (Nov. 7, 1980), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

East Park Street and the trench: See Centralia Borough Council Minutes (Sept. 8, 1978), copy in AC; Memorandum from Malenka to Kuebler (Sept. 15, 1978), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Letter from Pasipanko to Malenka (Jan. 21, 1979), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (signed by Owens, Fryes, Monar, Kranzels); Letter from McConnell to Kuebler (Jan. 22, 1979), copy in AC (FOIA docs); SEH, Jan. 24, 1979; Letter from C. Molnar to BOM (Jan. 26, 1979), copy in AC (FOIA docs); RE, Jan. 28, 1979; Letter from Pasipanko et al. to Sen. Schweiker (Feb. 3, 1979), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Letters from E. Park Street Residents to Markle, Johnson and Paone (Feb. 3-7, 1979), copies in AC (FOIA docs); SEH, Feb. 13, 1979; Letter from Pasipanko, et al. to Gov. Thornburgh (Feb. 15, 1979), copy in AC (FOIA docs). 

Everyone should have access: SNI, Sept. 30, 1980; see also SEH, Sept. 30, 1980.

Nance Maloney: SNI, Sept. 30, 1980; see also SEH, Sept. 30, 1980.

Helen had contrived: In May 1979, she told state officials to stop weekly CO testing in her cellar. See Memorandum from Rogers to Shober (May 23, 1979), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs). They tested anyway, during the summer of 1980. See E. Narcavage Daily Logs (July-Sept. 1980), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs). On Sept. 18, 1980, she wrote “do not reveal” on a report chronicling .08 percent CO2 and 20.5 percent oxygen in her basement -- with the window open. See Gas Sample Report for Carl Womer House (Sept. 18, 1980), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs). By mid-October 1980, state inspectors had typed “DO NOT RELEASE” next to the Womer name on their pre-printed daily report forms, underlining it three times. See E. Narcavage Daily Log (Oct. 16, 1980), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs). They also noted the Womer home should only be tested once a week. See E. Narcavage Daily Report (Oct. 18, 1980), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs). By November, Helen barred state officials from entering her home at all to test for gases. SEH, Feb. 16, 1981; see E. Narcavage Daily Logs (July – Oct. 1980), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs). According to OSM, the Privacy Act barred officials from disclosing individual results to other residents. See 5 U.S.C. sec. 552(a); SEH, Sept. 30, 1980; SNI, Sept. 30, 1980.

Registered 10 percent oxygen and 6 percent carbon dioxide: See E. Narcavage Daily Log (Sept. 29, 1980), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs).

Emissions had surged in Helen’s basement: See E. Narcavage Daily Logs (July-Sept. 1980), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs).

Over the summer: DOL, MSHA Laboratories, Mount Hope, W.V. (Aug. 7, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs & MLSB).

Commissioned another study: SEH, Sept. 30, 1980.

Did not explore: The Red Book devoted only two paragraphs to letting the fire burn and relocating the community, options beyond the report’s

technical scope. Red Book, p. 94; Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, p. 3.

Landslide defeat: SEH, Nov. 5, 1980; SNI, Nov. 5, 1980.

Beat of the 1950s: SEH, Nov. 22, 1980 (ad for a Centralia Legion Saturday-night dance featuring music by “Class of ‘59”); SNI, Mar. 7, 1981 (same); SNI, Jan. 22, 1983 (same).

Backing Carter two to one: Centralia supported Carter 293 votes to 149. SNI, Nov. 5, 1980.

Pinstripes and cowboys: See WP, Dec. 31, 1980. The Style section’s annual year-end tally of the fabulous and the forsaken said Stetsons, businessmen and wingtips were in, gold chains, discos and overalls were out.

Released the socioeconomic impact analysis: SNI, Jan. 9, 1981; see SEH, Jan. 10-15, 1981.

Six weeks interviewing residents: Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, p. 27.

Unmasked widespread confusion: Ibid, pp. 31, 158

About half accepted excavation: Ibid, pp. 158-59. 

Other half opposed: Ibid, p. 159.

Less than half stood ready: Ibid, p. 159.

Quitting the borough unacceptable: See ibid, pp. 157-59.

A town divided: Ibid, p. 159.

Chapter Five: Squaring Off
Hounding him en route to school: PI, Dec. 6, 1981.

Australia to New York and Sweden: PI, Dec. 6, 1981; SEH, Feb. 17, 1981 (world-wide press coverage, including Australia); SEH, Feb. 24, 1981; SNI, Feb. 24, 1981; VV (May 20-26, 1981); NBC Nightly News (Feb. 25, 1981), copy in AC; NYT, Mar. 28, 1981.

Transformed Todd into a celebrity: The St. Ignatius school yearbook that year referred to him as “celebrity” and “miracle boy.” Original yearbook in the collection of Anne Marie Devine, reviewed by the author, Apr. 20, 2004.

Nikes and corduroy pants: See NBC Nightly News (Feb. 25, 1981), copy in AC.
Hear it breathing: HSS, Feb. 23, 1981; Daily Item (Sunbury, Pa.), Feb. 21, 1981 (MLSB).

Photographer after photographer: See, e.g., SEH, Feb. 16, 1981; SNI, Feb. 16, 1981; HSS, Feb. 16, 1981; PR, Feb. 16, 1981; RE, Feb. 22, 1981; PI, Feb. 23, 1981 (MLSB).

Pottsville to Hazelton to Reading: HSS, Feb. 16, 1981; PR, Feb. 16, 1981; RE, Feb. 22, 1981.

Opening that swallowed him: SEH, Feb. 16, 1981 (photo).

Mount Carmel obstetrician said: SEH, Feb. 20, 1981 (warning about CO).

Thuds in their basements: SEH, Feb. 17, 1981; SEH, Feb. 23, 1981; SNI, Feb. 20, 1981.

Dispatched a deputy: SEH; Feb. 20, 1981; SNI, Feb. 19, 1981.

Touted relocation within days: PR, Feb. 16, 1981 (Nelligan said he favored relocating 10 to 15 families in the fire’s path); SEH, Feb. 16, 1981 (Nelligan lobbied for relocation of families in immediate danger during the Feb. 14 borough-hall meeting, before Todd fell); HSS, Feb. 17, 1981. 

Called for a referendum: SEH, Feb. 16, 1981.

Borough council endorsed: SNI, Feb. 16, 1981; SNI, Feb. 17, 1981.

Looming as a distinct: See SNI, Feb. 16, 1981; PR, Feb. 16, 1981; SEH, Feb. 16, 1981; SNI, Feb. 17, 1981; SEH, Feb. 20, 1981; SNI, Feb. 21, 1981 (based on an informal street survey, Centralians favor relocation).

NBC camera crew: The reporter and camera crew were in Centralia on Sunday Feb. 22, 1981. See SNI, Feb. 24, 1981. The Broadcast aired on Feb. 25, 1981.

Mine fire scrapbooking: See PP, Mar. 6, 1983.

Helen’s letter-to-the-editor: SNI, Feb. 24, 1981. 

Fire not under borough: Ibid.

“Documented factual information:” Ibid.

“As long as there:” Ibid.

Reversing New Deal: NYT, Jan. 18, 1981 (inaugural marks the end of 50 years of Democratic liberalism).

Reagan Inaugural Address: For full text of the speech, see President Ronald W. Reagan, Inaugural Address, Jan. 20, 1981, http://www.reagan.utexas.edu/archives/speeches/1981/12081a.htm (accessed Oct. 4, 2005).
Without the racism: NYT, Mar. 4, 1981.

“In this present crisis:” Reagan Inaugural Address, Jan. 20, 1981, http://www/reagan.utexas.edu/archives/speeches/1981/12081a.htm (accessed Oct. 4, 2005).
First official act: President Ronald W. Reagan, Remarks on Signing the Federal Employee Hiring Freeze Memorandum and the Cabinet Member Nominations, Jan. 20, 1981, http://www.reagan.utexas.edu/archives/speeches/1981/12081b.htm (accessed Oct. 4, 2005). The president spoke at approximately 1 p.m., in the presidents’ room of the U.S. Capitol.

Pare travel expenses: Memorandum from R. Reagan to Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies, Jan. 22, 1981, http://www.reagan.utexas.edu/archives/speeches/1981/12281b.htm (accessed Oct. 4, 2005).

Trim payments to outside consultants: Ibid.

Suspend furniture purchases: Ibid.

No redecoration: Ibid.

Economic recovery package: President Ronald W. Reagan, Address Before a Joint Session of Congress on the Program for Economic Recovery, Feb. 18, 1981, http://www.reagan.utexas.edu/archives/speeches/1981/21881a.htm (accessed Oct. 4, 2005).
Relief from federal regulation: Ibid.

Slice income taxes by 30 percent: Ibid.

Boost military spending: Ibid.
Reagan identified with: NYT, Mar. 4, 1981. Reagan said he had “a very warm feeling” in his heart for the Sagebrush Rebellion. During the 1980 presidential campaign, he advocated increased drilling, mining, grazing and state and private ownership of federally owned and managed land.

Sagebrush Rebellion: NYT, Jan. 6, 1981 (editorial); NYT, Feb. 26, 1981; NYT, Mar. 4, 1981. 

Hundreds of millions of acres: NYT, Jan. 6, 1981 (editorial); NYT, Feb. 18, 1982 (50 percent of land in the west); NYT, Mar. 4, 1981 (BLM owns 470 million acres). 

States’ rights’ westerners and industry insiders: NYT, July 3, 1981. For EPA chief, Reagan tapped Ann M. Gorusch, a 39-year old Denver lawyer who, as a Colorado legislator, spearheaded an effort to insulate the state from liability for toxic waste and shift responsibility to the counties. For Interior’s Bureau of Land Management, which oversaw 470 million acres of public-domain lands, he selected Robert F. Burford, a third-generation rancher and former Colorado house speaker who sponsored state legislation to invalidate federal land ownership. To head the Office of Surface Mining, Reagan picked James R. Harris, an Indiana state senator who instigated his state’s challenge to the surface-mining act. See NYT, Mar. 26, 1981; NYT, Mar. 4, 1981; NYT, July 3, 1981; NYT, Mar. 29, 1981; NYT, Sept. 6, 1981; see also Hodel v. Indiana, 452 U.S. 314 (1981) (Indiana’s challenge to surface-mining act).

Democrats’ protests: NYT, Jan. 23, 1981.

Editorial and opinion page opposition: NYT, Jan. 6, 1981 (editorial & Tom Wicker column); NYT, Mar. 26, 1981 (A. Lewis); NYT, May 1, 1981 (John. B. Oakes). 

Blamed Joseph Coors: NYT, Mar. 26, 1981; NYT, Sept. 6, 1981.

Launched the Heritage Foundation: NYT, Mar. 18, 2003 (obituary).

Conservative think tank and policy: See The Heritage Foundation, About the Heritage Foundation: Our Mission, http://www.heritage.org/about (accessed July 19, 2006).

Alarm about Watt: NYT, Jan. 6, 1981 (editorial); NYT, Jan. 23, 1981 (Democratic senators lambaste the nomination – but the full senate still votes to confirm him, 83 to 12).
Six-foot-two-inch: NYT, Apr. 27, 1982.

Evangelical Christian: NYT, Apr. 27, 1982; see Leilani Watt, Caught in the Conflict: My Life with James Watt (Eugene, Ore.: Harvest House Publishers, 1984), pp. 94-96. In her memoir, Mrs. Watt describes her husband’s born-again experience and his decision to commit his life to Christ. As Interior Secretary, she recounts, he read the Bible every morning before heading to work. 

The Waltons: NYT, Apr. 27, 1982.

Watt’s early career: President Ronald W. Reagan, Nomination of James G. Watt to be Secretary of the Interior, Jan. 20, 1981, http://www.reagan.utexas.edu/archives/speeches/1981/12081d.htm (accessed Oct. 4, 2005); see also L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 31.

Milward L. Simpson: Biographical Directory of the U.S. Congress, Milward L. Simpson, http://bioguide.congress.gov/scripts/biodisplay.pl?index=S000434 (accessed July 19, 2006).

Alan K. Simpson: Biographical Directory of the U.S. Congress, Alan K. Simpson, http://bioguide.congress.gov/scripts/biodisplay.pl?index=S000429 (accessed July 19, 2006).
In August 1977: L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 31; Nomination of James G. Watt, Jan. 20, 1981.

Public interest law firm: See Mountain States Legal Foundation, Home page, http://www.mountainstateslegal.org (accessed July 19, 2006).


Founded and subsidized by Coors: NYT, Jan. 6, 1981; NYT, Sept. 6, 1981; NYT, Nov. 16, 1997; NYT, Mar. 18, 2003 (obituary). 

Carved from conservative bedrock: See Mountain States Legal Foundation, Statement of Purpose, http://www.mountainstateslegal.org/mission.cfm (accessed July 19, 2006).

Individual liberty: Ibid.

Private property and free enterprise: Ibid.
Foundation’s president: L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 31; NYT, Jan. 6, 1981 (Wicker).
Industry benefactors: NYT, Jan. 6, 1981 (UPI wire story & Wicker piece).


Constitutional challenge: See Hodel v. Virginia Surface Mining and Recl. Ass’n, 452 U.S. 264 (1981); Hodel v. Indiana, 452 U.S. 314 (1981).

Friend-of-the-court brief: See U.S. Supreme Court, Oct. Term 1980, Brief of Amicus Curiae Mountain States Legal Foundation, Nos. 79-1538, 80-231 & 79-1596 (signed by James G. Watt and Gale A. Norton) (reviewed by the author at the Library of Congress); NYT, June 16, 1981.

Usurped state government functions: MLSF Amicus Brief, p. 2; NYT, June 16, 1981.

Threatened to destroy: MLSF Amicus Brief, p. 2; NYT, June 16, 1981.

Nascent enterprise: See OSM, Annual Reports for the Fiscal Years 1979 & 1980 (CD-Rom). According to OSM, Wyoming produced 58 million tons of coal in 1979 and 87 million tons in 1980. See also U.S. Congress, Interior and Insular Affairs Committee, House Report No. 95-218, Apr. 27, 1977, pp. 595, 597-98; Jeff Goodell, Big Coal: The Dirty Secret Behind America’s Energy Future (New York: Houghton Mifflin, 2006), p. 35.

Two vetoes: See U.S. Congress, House Report No. 95-218, p. 595.

Necessary evil: Ibid, pp. 595, 598-99.

Environmental legacy of Appalachia: Ibid, pp. 595-97, 666.

Police up front: Ibid, p. 598.

National standards: Ibid, pp. 595-96, 599.

Safeguard the environment: Ibid, p. 595.

Compel reclamation: Ibid, pp. 595-96.

Operators bristled: See Hodel v. Virginia Surface Mining and Recl. Ass’n, 452 U.S. 264 (1981); Hodel v. Indiana, 452 U.S. 314 (1981); NYT, Jan. 11, 1981.

Permits and performance bonds: OSM, 25th Anniversary of the Surface Mining Law, p. 6.

Inspections and fines: Ibid., p. 7.

Wealth of publicly owned lands: According to OSM’s own estimate, the federal government owned or controlled 80 percent of the 240 billion tons of identified coal reserves in Colorado, Montana, New Mexico, North Dakota, Utah and Wyoming. In 1980,Wyoming alone accounted for 55 percent of the total coal production on federal lands. OSM, Annual Report (1980), pp. 3, 5 (CD-Rom).

Prohibits mining in parks: Ibid.

Shared their predilections: Early in his tenure, Watt declined to publish his predecessor’s annual report for fiscal year 1980 – the first and only time in the history of the surface mining act that the Interior Department did not release such a report, which included details about federal ownership of western coal lands. See OSM, 25th Anniversary (CD-Rom). In July 1981, OSM spokesman Dick Leonard said the agency based its priorities on what was causing “the most harm to the most people”  -- and the west had massive mine fires, but nobody saw them except the cows. SNI, July 29, 1981. In a 1982 letter to Thornburgh, Watt said his discretionary AML budget was finite and emergency projects arose across the country, with funding needs far exceeding his resources and “fiscal constraints” barring him from spending large amounts on any single project. These emergency projects included, he said “conditions that present serious problems which endanger the health and safety of many citizens in the coal producing states throughout the nation.” Letter from Watt to Thornburgh (Jan. 4, 1982), Thornburgh Papers, PSA, copy in AC.  Finally, during a 1983 phone call with Centralia congressman Frank Harrison, Watt complained that Pennsylvania, with its many mine fires, was already receiving a significant percentage of federal AML funds – even without Centralia. DeKok, Unseen Danger, p. 260.

Pledged to restore: See Watt’s opening statement at his confirmation hearing, NYT, Jan. 8, 1981; NYT, Feb. 14, 1982 (Watt’s year-end-1981 report to the president); NYT, Oct. 10, 1983 (Watt’s resignation letter). For his introductory press conference, see NYT, Jan. 6, 1981 (editorial).

Offshore oil and gas: NYT, Feb. 12, 1981.

Terminating land acquisition: NYT, Feb. 20, 1981.

The steward: See NYT, Feb. 12, 1981; NYT, Oct. 10, 1983; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 98.

From Scripture: See WP, May 24, 1981.

Occupy the land: Luke 19, v. 11-27; WP, May 24, 1981; NYT, June 29, 1981.

“I do not know:” WP, May 24, 1981; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 98. 

“Whatever it is, we:” Ibid.
Interpretations varied: See L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, pp. 91-104. 

Environmentalists deciphered it: See WP, May 24, 1981; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, pp. 93, 99.

Size 12D cowboy boots: NYT, Apr. 27, 1982. 

Deny the allegation: L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, pp. 100-02.

Own admission, intended to rewrite: NYT, Feb. 14, 1982 (Watt’s year-end-1981 report to the president); NYT, Oct. 10, 1983.

Alter the shape of government: See NYT, Feb. 14, 1982; NYT, Feb. 18, 1982.

A half-dozen witnesses: Confirmed Schedule, Centralia Tour and Briefing (Mar. 12, 1981), copy in AC (Polites docs); SNI, Mar. 13, 1981. 

Riveted the panel: SNI, Mar. 13, 1981.
“If any of you:” BMP, Mar. 13, 1981 (MLSB).
Helen Womer’s testimony: Unless otherwise indicated, references to Helen Womer’s March 12 testimony before the state mines and energy management committee are from a local reporter’s tape recording of the proceedings, now archived at Bucknell University. See David DeKok collection, Ellen Clarke Bertrand Library, Special Collections, Bucknell University, Lewisburg, Pa. (hereafter, “DeKok cassette”).

Estimated 24 million tons: See Red Book, pp. 16, 94; see also Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, p. 89. Officials disagreed about the magnitude of the reserves, however, with BOM estimating 24 million tons, worth about $480 million, and OSM, in a second report, saying much less. LAT, Apr. 22, 1981. For more about the vagaries inherent in estimating coal reserves, see Goodell, Big Coal, pp. 12-15.
Resonated with her neighbors: See Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, pp.  161-63; 168 for attitudes about the mineral rights during 1980 interviews. Six percent of residents said they would use force to stop any relocation that enabled operators to harvest the coal. Tony Gaughan had long espoused the conspiracy theory as well.

Mineral-rights controversy: BMP, May 29, 1974; SNI, May 29, 1974; BMP, May 31, 1974; SNI, May 31, 1974; SNI, June 3, 1974; June 4, 1974; SNI, June 7, 1974. 

About one-third: SEH, Mar. 13, 1981 (estimating 350 residents attended); HPN, Mar. 13, 1981 (same).

Credibility gap: SEH, May 1, 1981 (noting Helen had been subjected to hostility and ridicule by other residents).

Recent letter to the editor: SNI, Feb. 24, 1981.

Gases plaguing her house: Memorandum from Shober to Rogers (June 7, 1978), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs); Memorandum from Rogers to Shober (June 7, 1978), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs).

Licked Helen’s back fence: See, e.g., Memorandum from Rogers to Shober (May 23, 1979) copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs).

 “Very, very interesting:” See MLSB.

Gases spreading north and south: Helen made a similar claim at a borough-council meeting in early February. See SEH, Feb. 4, 1981.

“How come I’m getting:” DeKok cassette.

Terry Burge, who testified earlier: Confirmed Schedule, Centralia Tour and Briefing (Mar. 12, 1981); SNI, Mar. 13, 1981. 
Five hundred feet west: Letter to Dr. Riehl (Aug. 20, 1980) (FOIA docs).

Unsafe for habitation: SEH, Feb. 25, 1981; SNI, Feb. 25, 1981; HSS, Feb. 26, 1981; PR, Mar. 21, 1981; SNI, Feb. 19, 1981; SNI, Feb. 11, 1981.

Borough hall fell silent: DeKok cassette.

“That I can’t answer:” Ibid.
“Oh, okay:” Ibid.

“I strongly recommend:” Ibid.
Six seconds: Ibid.

Chided Thornburgh: SNI, Mar. 16, 1981; see also SNI, Mar. 21, 1981.

Trickling into the governor’s office: See Papers of Governor Richard J. Thornburgh, Centralia, Pa. Mine Fire, MG 404, Container No. 442, PSA, Harrisburg, Pa. (hereafter, “Thornburgh Papers”).

“Is a half-hour visit:” SNI, Mar. 16, 1981.

“We think not:” Ibid.

Nance Maloney’s cave-in: PR, Mar. 12, 1981; HSS, Mar. 12, 1981; SEH, Mar. 13, 1981; SNI, Mar. 11, 1981; BMP, Mar. 13, 1981 (MLSB).

About 75 yards: SNI, Mar. 11, 1981.

Stay out of their back yards: SEH, Mar. 13, 1981; HSS, Mar. 12, 1981; SNI, Mar. 11, 1981.

Petition to Thornburgh: See Concerned Citizens, Petition (Mar. 30, 1981), Thornburgh Papers, PSA, Harrisburg, Pa, copy in AC. The original document, complete with coffee stains, is in the state archives.

“Dear Governor Thornburgh:” Ibid.

“Because of the danger:” Ibid.

NBC Nightly News: Broadcast on Feb. 25, 1981.

The Los Angeles Times: LAT, Mar. 15, 1981.
$40 million reclamation budget: OSM, 25th Anniversary of the Surface Mining Law, p. 38; Testimony of Robert Biggi, OSM’s assistant regional director, Governor’s Task Force on Centralia, Transcript of Hearing, Centralia, Pa. (Mar. 12, 1981), p. 6, copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Twenty percent of the annual haul: See OSM, 25th Anniversary of the Surface Mining Law, p. 38; Biggi Testimony (Mar. 12, 1981), p. 6.

Enough to relocate Centralia’s entire: See Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, pp. 90-91(estimating the cost of relocation at $8 million to $15 million).

With $25 million to spare: Ibid.

Broad discretion to tap: SMCRA, secs. 410(a)(1) & (2).

Tailor-made for the mine fire: See OSM, 25th Anniversary of the Surface Mining Law, pp. 8-9 (citing mine and coal waste fires as an emergency posing an immediate danger to public health, safety or general welfare, along with landslides, susbidences, and open shafts).

Lamented failure to establish: President James Carter, Remarks on Signing H.R. 2 Into Law, Aug. 3, 1977, reprinted by OSM from the presidential papers, http://www.osmre.gov/jcarter.pdf (accessed July 19, 2006); NYT, Jan. 11, 2006.

Not received its slice: Briefing Paper from Acting Director of OSM [Bailey] to Pendley (Mar. 17, 1981), p. 3, copy in AC (FOIA docs).

An estimated $30 million: Ibid.

Mired in litigation: Ibid.

Continued to assume: See SEH, Mar. 13, 1981; HPN, Mar. 13, 1981; Transcript of Hearing of the Governor’s Task Force on Centralia (Mar. 12, 1981), testimony of DeWitt Smith, pp. 12, 14,15; Don Fowler (DER), pp. 9, 29; Bob Biggi (OSM), pp. 6-8, 25; SNI, Mar. 21, 1981; SNI, Feb. 19, 1981 (Vicinelly says the state would probably to undertake a long-range program in Centralia).

Underwritten the relocation: See NYT, Apr. 3, 1990; NYT, Aug. 5, 1988; NYT, July 15, 1982.

About a thousand families: NYT, Aug. 5, 1988; cf. NYT, July 15, 1982 (more than 600 homes purchased by government agencies).

A working-class neighborhood: NYT, Mar. 18, 2004.

Atop a nineteenth-century canal: NYT, Mar. 18, 2004; NYT, July 15, 1982.

Toxic industrial chemicals: NYT, Mar. 18, 2004; NYT, July 15, 1982.

One day after: LAT, Mar. 15, 1981; Memorandum from Acting Director of OSM [Bailey] to Pendley (Mar. 17, 1981), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Briefing Paper from [Bailey] to Pendley (Mar. 17, 1981), p. 2.

Floated his mine fire solution: Memo from [Bailey] to Pendley (Mar. 17, 1981) (“concerning implementation of the activities suggested by the Secretary”); Briefing Paper from [Bailey] to Pendley (Mar. 17, 1981), p. 2 (recommended option as proposed March 16, 1981).

Remove, buy, demolish and transfer: Briefing Paper from [Bailey] to Pendley (Mar. 17, 1981), p. 2. See also SEH, Feb. 16, 1981 (In the Feb. 14 meeting at borough hall, Congressman Nelligan said Watt and other Washington officials believed Centralia had to choose between short- and long-term solutions). 

Future liability: See Briefing Paper from [Bailey] to Pendley (Mar. 17, 1981), p. 2.

Reversed the legislative intent: Congress sought, of course, to establish uniform national standards to protect the environment during mining and reclaim the land after extraction. States had the lead role in implementing the surface mining act, but not until the Secretary of the Interior approved their reclamation plan and they achieved what the act called primacy. In the interim, OSM retained responsibility for high-priority and emergency reclamation projects, such as abandoned mine fires. See OSM, 25th Anniversary of the Surface Mining Law, pp. 10-12. 

Flush out in writing: See Memo from [Bailey] to Pendley (Mar. 17, 1981) (Bailey briefing paper addresses implementation of Watt’s approach).

Perry Pendley: See Mountain States Legal Foundation, MLSF Staff, William Perry Pendley, http://mountainstateslegal.org/staff.cfm (accessed Oct. 15, 2005). Several years later, a GAO report implicated him in mismanagement of a Watt-era coal-leasing program. See NYT, Dec. 29, 1983; NYT, Feb. 9, 1984; NYT, Feb. 12, 1984. Pendley later became president and chief legal officer of the MLSF, where he filed a lawsuit contesting President Clinton’s creation of five national monuments, affecting 1.5 million acres in Arizona, Colorado, Oregon and Washington. NYT, Aug. 30, 2000. He has written several books, including Warriors for the West: Fighting Bureaucrats, Radical Groups, and Liberal Judges on America’s Frontier (Washington, D.C.: Regnery, 2006).

U.S. Senator Clifford P. Hansen: Biographical Directory of the U.S. Congress, Clifford P. Hansen, http://bioguide.congress.gov/scripts/biodisplay.pl?index=H000170 (accessed Oct. 17, 2005); 106th Congress, Report of House of Representatives, 2d session, 106-828 (bill to designate the Clifford P. Hansen federal courthouse in Jackson, Wyoming), http://thomas.loc.gov//cgi-bin/cpquery/R?cp106:FLD010:@1(hr828) (accessed Oct. 17, 2005).

Mountain States Legal Foundation’s board: See Mountain States Legal Foundation. MLSF Boards (listing Hansen as a director emeritus), http://mountainstateslegal.org/boards.cfm (accessed July 19, 2006).

Signed a memo saying: Quoted in NYT, Oct. 17, 1981. When reporters later raised questions about the memo, Bailey said, through a spokesperson, he signed it without reading it thoroughly. 

“Inflammatory words:” NYT, Oct. 17, 1981.

“These are words used:” Ibid.

Lead off spot as supporters: See Concerned Citizens, Petition (Mar. 30, 1981), Thornburgh Papers, PSA, Harrisburg, Pa.

Kicker: Ibid.

Nine months and a day: Tom was born on January 18, 1940. His parents celebrated their wedding anniversary on April 17, nine months earlier.

Legal and political considerations: Briefing Paper from [Bailey] to Pendley (Mar. 17, 1981), pp. 3-4.

Emergency powers: Bailey cited SMCRA, secs. 407(c) & 410. See Briefing Paper from [Bailey] to Pendley (Mar. 17, 1981), pp. 3-4.

Estimated one million dollars: Briefing Paper from [Bailey] to Pendley (Mar. 17, 1981), p. 3.

Several advantages: Ibid, p. 4.

Knew it would spark controversy: See ibid, pp. 5-8 (discussing “points of contention” and “state of Pennsylvania concerns”).

As high as a hundred million dollars: Ibid, p. 5. See Red Book, p. 97 (estimating cost of excavating the mine fire, Plan A, at $84 million); Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, pp. 4, 90 (revising the excavation cost to $93 million).

To offset criticism: Briefing Paper from [Bailey] to Pendley (Mar. 17, 1981), p. 5.

Selling points for the state: Ibid, pp. 7-8.

A federal mining official: In the spring of 1981, Robert Biggi was the assistant regional director of OSM’s division of abandoned mine lands, based in Charleston, WV. See Letter from R. Biggi to E. Polites (Apr. 22, 1981), copy in AC (Polites docs). In his previous post, he managed OSM’s Wilkes-Barre field office. See Letter from Malenka to Biggi (Jan. 29, 1981) (FOIA docs); see also SEH, Feb. 20, 1981 (Biggi scheduled to assume new duties in W.V.); SNI, Feb. 23, 1981 (Biggi assumed W.V. duties today).

Advisory group recommendation: PR, Mar. 21, 1981; SEH, Mar. 21, 1981; SNI, Mar. 21, 1981. For background, see Biggi testimony (Mar. 12, 1981). 

Red Book Plan A: See Red Book, pp. 69-72, 97.

Coddington passed out: SEH, Mar. 20, 1981; PR, Mar. 20, 1981; SNI, Mar. 20, 1981; LAT, Mar. 21, 1981. Inside Coddington’s garage, oxygen levels fluctuated between 7 and 17 percent, with readings of 4 to 6-plus percent carbon dioxide. See Gas Testing at Centralia Mine Fire Area, Coddingtons (Mar. 19, 1981 & Mar. 20, 1981), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs); E. Narcavage, Centralia Project No. 53, Chart Reading Indicating CO, Coddington (Mar. 19, 1981), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs) (indicating an emergency call from Coddington, with a CO reading of 14 ppm at 10:25 p.m.).

Nelligan press conference: SEH, Mar. 21, 1981; PR, Mar. 21, 1981; Times News (Lehighton), Mar. 21, 1981; SNI, Mar. 21, 1981.

Officials expressed surprise: SEH, Mar. 21, 1981; SNI, Mar. 21, 1981.

Seized control of press and policymaking: SNI, Mar. 27, 1981.

Reagan assassination attempt: SNI, Mar. 31, 1981.

Memorandum of understanding: MOU Between Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the U.S. Department of the Interior (Mar. 30, 1981) (Thornburgh docs, PSA & O’Hearn docs).

“As soon as practicable:” Ibid.

State police helicopter: SNI, Apr. 1, 1981.

Thornburgh poised to announce: SNI, Mar. 31, 1981.

Audience burst into applause: SNI, Apr. 1, 1981.

Colonial America and the Mayflower: Dick Thornburgh, Where the Evidence Leads: An Autobiography (Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press, 2003), p. 1.

Thornburgh announcement: Governor Richard J. Thornburgh, untitled news release, Mar. 31, 1981, copy in AC (Thornburgh Papers); SEH, Apr. 1, 1981; SNI, Apr. 1, 1981.

Remain voluntary: Thornburgh news release, Mar. 31, 1981; NYT, Apr. 1, 1981; SEH, Apr. 1, 1981; SNI, Apr. 1, 1981.

“No one, whether for:” Thornburgh news release, Mar. 31, 1981; SEH, Apr. 1, 1981; SNI, Apr. 1, 1981.

“Those who feel threatened:” Thornburgh news release, Mar. 31, 1981; SEH, Apr. 1, 1981; SNI, Apr. 1, 1981.

“This is a sensitive:” Thornburgh news release, Mar. 31, 1981; SEH, Apr. 1, 1981; SNI, Apr. 1, 1981.

Inspired by yellow ribbons: See SNI, Jan. 30, 1981 (photo of a third grader hanging a yellow ribbon outside a Shamokin-area school).

Symbolized the fire and red tape: SEH, Apr. 1, 1981; SNI, Mar. 30, 1981.

Snipped them down, triggering a shouting: VV (May 20-26, 1981); cf. SNI, Nov. 24, 1981 (Helen cut the ribbons down twice).

“When the church goes:” Photograph in Anne Marie Devine’s scrapbook, reviewed by the author, Apr. 12, 2005.

Battery of medical tests: SEH, Mar. 20, 1981; SNI, Mar. 21, 1981.

Offered to install: SEH, Mar. 20, 1981; SNI, Mar. 23, 1981; SNI, Mar. 30, 1981; Letter from Donald Reid, M.D. to Willard Kile, Jr. (Mar. 21, 1981) (O’Hearn docs), copy in AC.

Wariness: SNI, Mar. 30, 1981.

Abandoned or barred: Ibid.

Coffee in Andrades’ kitchen: Photo in SEH, Apr. 1, 1981.

Son’s athletic trophies: SNI, Apr. 2, 1981.

Inspected the monitor: Ibid.

“A heck of a:” SNI, Apr. 1, 1981 (photo caption). 

Knelt and held: SNI, Apr. 1, 1981.

“We’d better get you:” Ibid.

“We don’t want you:” Ibid.

Rachel Lamb’s letter: Ibid.

Thornburgh petition: Concerned Citizens, Petition, Thornburgh Papers, PSA, Harrisburg; see also SNI, Apr. 1, 1981.

Reporter tarried with questions: See SNI, Apr. 1, 1981.

Chapter Six: Outside the Norm

Newly installed carbon-monoxide monitor: E. Narcavage, Centralia Project No. 53, Chart Reading Indicating CO, Jurgill, copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs)(CO monitor installed Apr. 2, 1981).
Elaine Jurgill letter-to-the-editor: SNI, May 1, 1981.

“If council and other:” Ibid.

Ill health and surgery: Letter from Bishop Daley to O’Hearns (May 12, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); VV, (May 20-26, 1981); SNI, Apr. 2, 1981 (anonymous letter-to-the-editor).

Deferring to the government: CW, Dec. 5, 1980 (MLSB & FOIA docs).

Dark-haired athleticism: See Jacobs, Slow Burn, p. 91 (photo of Catharene and Peacho).
Official entity: CC Incorporation documents, filed Apr. 9, 1981, copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Charter and bylaws: CC Incorporation documents, filed Apr. 9, 1981, copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); CC, Meeting Minutes (Apr. 22, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Provide remedies for the mine fire: CC Incorporation documents (Apr. 9, 1981). 

About three dozen: CC, Meeting Minutes (Apr. 28, 1981) (23 members), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs) (23 memberships); CC, Meeting Minutes (May 5, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs) (noting 9 additional memberships); CC, Membership List, 1981, copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Five dollars in annual dues: CC Minutes (Apr. 28, 1981).

Elected Tom president: CC Membership List, 1981; CC Minutes (Apr. 28, 1981); SNI, Apr. 23, 1981; SEH, Apr. 24, 1981; SNI, May 2, 1981.

Brazilian camera crew: CC Minutes (May 5, 1981). 

Ralph Nader’s organization: CC, Meeting Minutes (Apr. 26, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); VV (May 20-26, 1981). 

Railing against Interior: Letter from Larkin to the Editor (May 7, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); see CC Minutes (Apr. 28, 1981). 

Copies to Reagan and Watt: Letter from Larkin to the Editor (May 7, 1981). 

Organizing a protest march: CC Minutes (Apr. 22, 1981). 

Burst of enthusiasm: CC Minutes (Apr. 22, 1981); CC Minutes (Apr. 28, 1981). 

Visibility would trump indifference: See CC Minutes (Apr. 28, 1981). 

Alliance and its planned demonstration: SNI, Apr. 23, 1981; SEH, Apr. 24, 1981; SNI, May 2, 1981.

Signs and red armbands: SEH, Apr. 24, 1981; see CC Minutes (Apr. 22, 1981).

Surgical masks: SNI, May 2, 1981; see CC Minutes (Apr. 22, 1981) (wear sterile or gas masks); CC Minutes (Apr. 28, 1981) (possibly wear sterile masks). 

Free of charge: SEH, May 12, 1981. A free ad also ran in the SNI. CC, Meeting Minutes (May 5, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs). See CC, Meeting Minutes (June 2, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

“March for survival:” SEH, May 12, 1981.

 “If we don’t care:” Ibid.

“We need your help:” Ibid.

Even an orderly one: CC Minutes (Apr. 28, 1981).

Concerned Citizens’ vice president: CC Membership List, 1981; CC Minutes (Apr. 28, 1981); SNI, Apr. 23, 1981; SEH, Apr. 24, 1981; SNI, May 2, 1981.

Federal officials disclosed: SNI, Apr. 24, 1981; LAT, Apr. 25, 1981; SEH, Apr. 25, 1981; HSS, Apr. 27, 1981.

Devolved to the state: SNI, Apr. 24, 1981; LAT, Apr. 25, 1981; SEH, Apr. 25, 1981; HSS, Apr. 27, 1981.

Under Andrew Bailey’s guidance: SEH, Apr. 30, 1981; HSS, Apr. 30, 1981; SNI, Apr. 29, 1981. Bailey oversaw day-to-day administration of the Centralia buy-out, including correspondence with residents. See Bailey Letter to Wondoloski (Apr. 29, 1981), copy in AC (Polites docs); Pendley played a more behind-the-scenes role. See Letter from Sen. Heinz to Watt (May 26, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

As much as 50 percent: SNI, Apr. 29, 1981; SEH, Apr. 30, 1981; HSS, Apr. 30, 1981; Memorandum from Simpson to Murphy (May 15, 1981), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Only ten days: Memo from Simpson to Murphy (May 15, 1981).

The march: Unless otherwise indicated, this account is based on multiple sources. The author reviewed footage of the march from ABC News broadcasts aired on July 26, 1981 (from the Vanderbilt University Television Archives) and Oct. 20, 1981 (Nightline), still photographs featured in Anthony Mussari’s 1982 documentary, “Centralia Fire,” still photographs from next-day coverage in the Shenandoah Evening Herald and the Shamokin News-Item and CC meeting minutes about the demonstration. The author also interviewed several participants and observers. 

Announced kick-off time: SEH, May 12, 1981; CC Minutes (Apr. 28, 1981).

About three dozen: Based on photos and video of the march and interviews with participants.

Volunteers such as Catharene: CC Minutes (Apr. 22, 1981); CC Minutes (Apr. 28, 1981).

Lambs recently moved: SNI, May 18, 1981 (saying the Lambs moved into their trailer at the end of April). In late April, their carbon-monoxide monitor logged a reading of 96 ppm. See E. Narcavage, Centralia Project No. 53, Chart Reading Indicating CO, Lamb (Apr. 25, 1981), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs) (no readings for May).
Pro-life demonstrators rallied in Washington: SNI, May 2, 1981; see, e.g., SNI, Apr. 24, 1981 (photo).

Drew the analogy: SNI, May 2, 1981.

Already an evening-news veteran: CBS featured an interview with Rachel Lamb during an Apr. 19, 1981 evening-news broadcast (Vanderbilt Archives).

Greatest purveyor of violence: See David J. Garrow, Bearing the Cross: Martin Luther King, Jr., and the Southern Christian Leadership Conference (New York: W. Morrow, 1986), p. 552.

Declined to participate: See Letter from Boggs to Gaughans (May 28, 1981), copy in AC (MLSB); SEH, May 28, 1981.

Name and address landed: See SEH, Apr. 7, 1981; SNI, Apr. 7, 1981.

Ordered Narcavage to remove: E. Narcavage, Centralia Project No. 53, Chart Reading Indicating CO, Tony Gaughan (Apr. 15, 1981) (DEP/DMS docs) (during a weekly test, the first since April 6th, Tony ordered Narcavage to remove the CO monitor).
Managed to answer: HSS, May 20, 1981; SEH, May 20, 1981.

“I never thought it:” SEH, May 20, 1981.

“We are going to:” Ibid.

 “To vote ‘yes’ means:” Ibid.

 “In my opinion, Centralia:” Ibid.

 “I think everybody in:” HSS, May 20, 1981.
“I love everyone here:” Ibid.

Ballot question: See Specimen Ballot, May 19, 1981, copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Polls closed at eight p.m.: SEH, May 20, 1981; SNI, May 20, 1981.

Waiting for the results: SEH, May 20, 1981; SNI, May 20, 1981.

Carpooled elderly voters: SNI, May 20, 1981.

Babysitting: Ibid.

A button saying, “Yes Means Help:” PI, May 20, 1981.

Around 8:30 p.m.: SNI, May 20, 1981.

Tally on borough hall door: HSS, May 20, 1981.
With 68 percent, 434-204: PI, May 20, 1981; HPN, May 20, 1981; HSS, May 20, 1981; SEH, May 20, 1981; SNI, May 20, 1981.

Turnout: PI, May 20, 1981; HPN, May 20, 1981; HSS, May 20, 1981; SEH, May 20, 1981; see SNI, May 19, 1981. 

Three of four: SEH, May 20, 1981; SNI, May 20, 1981.

Only Byrnesville: SEH, May 20, 1981; SNI, May 20, 1981.

Few enjoyed the option: See Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, pp. A-3, A-6 (Finding 95 percent of respondents had no relocation plans unrelated to fire-control activities and, even in the impact area, only 12 percent would relocate at their own expense). 

Village Voice cover story: Teresa Carpenter, “Burn, Centralia, Burn,” The Village Voice, May 20-26, 1981.

Nabbed a Pulitzer: Carpenter won a feature writing Pulitzer in April 1981, after The Washington Post discovered its reporter, Janet Cooke, had fabricated her prize-winning account of an eight-year-old heroin addict. The Pulitzer jury had originally picked Carpenter’s stories for the prize, but was overruled by the board, which tapped Carpenter after the Cooke revelations. See NYT, Apr. 16, 1981.

“If you have a:” VV, May 20-26, 1981.

“Some people, all they:” Ibid.

“That’s not the way:” Ibid.

Greg Walter: His byline appeared on the story, “A Town with a Hot Problem Decides not to Move Mountains but to Move Itself,” People Magazine, June 22, 1981, pp. 34-36.

Time: See Time, “The Hottest Town in America,” June 22, 1981, p. 22.

Article about fetal exposure:  SNI, Mar. 30, 1981. 

Urged women in her neighborhood: SEH, May 13, 1981; SNI, May 13, 1981.

Inside her home, the monitor: Centralia Project No. 53, Chart Reading Indicating CO, K. [sic] Jurgill (April & May, 1981), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs).

Like a guinea pig: People Magazine, June 22, 1981, p. 36.

“Nobody knows what the:” Ibid.

 “I guess I’m the:” Ibid.

Larkin photo shoot: This account is based on interviews with Tom Larkin and Leif Skoogfors.

Lady Diana Spencer: People Magazine, June 22, 1981 (cover) (MLSB).

“A Town with a:” Ibid, p. 34.
“Hot time in the:” Ibid.

“Tilt crazily out of:” Ibid.

“Abyss of fire:” Ibid.

Father Suknaic halted: SEH, Jan. 30, 1981.

Chrissie Oakum, Agnes Owens and Catharene: People Magazine, June 22, 1981, pp. 34, 36.

“We’re not afraid of:” Ibid, p. 36.

“I’m not going to:” Ibid.

Larkin photograph: Ibid, p. 35.
“Chef Tom Larkin shows:” Ibid, p. 34.

The National Examiner: “Poison gas from the earth terrifies entire town,” National Examiner, July 21, 1981 (MLSB).

“Hideous birth deformities:” Ibid.

“I’m scared to death:” Ibid.

Chapter Seven: Inside the Beltway
Three Mile Island Disaster: See Thornburgh, Where the Evidence Leads, pp. 112-24

Blamed Catharene’s activist colleagues: See, e.g., SEH, Dec. 8, 1981 (Mary Lou Gaughan, an ally of the Jurgills, blamed CC for the relocation of the 27 families).

Leon Jurgill’s letters-to-the-editors: SNI, Sept. 29, 1981 (MLSB); SEH, Sept. 30, 1981; CW, Oct. 9, 1981 (MLSB).

“Give me PROOF that:” SEH, Sept. 30, 1981.

“Any other nonsense, we:” Ibid.

Washington trip: This account is based on interviews with several of the participants as well as contemporaneous and subsequent media coverage. See, e.g., SEH, Oct. 19-21, 1981; SNI, Oct. 19-21, 1981; PI, Dec. 6, 1981; Nightline, Show No. 117, Raging Fire in Coal Country (Oct. 20, 1981); PBS, The Press and the Public Project, Inc., Inside Story, Program No. 308, Baptism By Fire (May 26, 1983), transcript in AC.

First ever by Centralia residents: PI, Dec. 6, 1981.

A single goal: CC, Meeting Minutes (Oct. 6, 1981), copies in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Bumper stickers: CC Minutes (Sept. 22, 1981).

Public interest law firm: See SNI, Oct. 20, 1981; SEH, Oct. 25, 1981; CC Minutes (Sept. 22, 1981).

Warning them not to seem greedy: SNI, Oct. 21, 1981; PI, Dec. 6, 1981.

Laugh him off the floor: SNI, Oct. 21, 1981; see PI, Dec. 6, 1981.

“It may be necessary:” SNI, Oct. 21, 1981.

Larkin letter to Watt: Letter from T. Larkin to J. Watt (Sept. 29, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

O’Hearn telegram to Watt: Telegram from O’Hearns to J. Watt (Oct. 19, 1981) (9:47 a.m.), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

“Centralia is worth saving:” Ibid.

“We are a small:” Ibid.

Dump Watt news conference and petition: NYT, Oct. 20, 1981; PI, Oct. 20, 1981.

Fundraising and membership ploy: NYT, Oct. 20, 1981.

“I think this will help:” Ibid.

“It strengthens the image:” Ibid.

Most serious of Pennsylvania’s mine fires: SNI, Aug. 14, 1981; SEH, Aug. 15, 1981; see SNI, July 29, 1981 (12 uncontrolled fires in PA and 292 nationwide, according to BOM’s Thomas Flynn). Several observers, including a BOM scientist, Gov. Thornburgh and the OSM chief, deemed the Centralia blaze the nation’s worst underground mine fire. See NYT Magazine, Nov. 22, 1981 (quoting anonymous BOM scientist); Letter from Thornburgh to Watt (Jan. 21, 1982) (Thornburgh Papers, PSA, Harrisburg, Pa.); Letter from Harris to Girolami (Feb. 12, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs) (saying the “complexity, severity and persistence of the Centralia mine fire are unmatched in the recorded history of abandoned mine fires”). Watt, however, resisted the characterization. See Letter from Watt to Thornburgh (Jan. 4, 1982) (Thornburgh Papers) (saying CMF is “one of the most difficult of America’s abandoned mine fires”).

Watt’s deputy, Donald P. Hodel: NYT, Mar. 29, 1981. More recently, Hodel has served as the president of the Christian Coalition and Focus on the Family, the evangelical Christian ministry founded by Dr. James Dobson. Hodel’s wife Barbara sits on the board of Patrick Henry College in Purcellville, Virginia, where the mission, according to the school’s web site, is to “prepare Christian men and women to lead our nation and shape our culture with timeless biblical values and fidelity to the spirit of the American founding.” See http://www.phc.edu/about/default.asp (accessed Oct. 24, 2006).
Hodel declined to say: SNI, Oct. 21, 1981.

Feasible to drill in winter: Ibid.

Baldwin asked Tom: Ibid.

“Do we have a:” Ibid.

“The Department of the Interior:” Ibid.

“We can only give:” Ibid.

Good Morning America: Tom Larkin and Todd Domboski appeared on GMA on August 4, 1981. See GMA Tape (ABC News: Aug. 4, 1981) (Domboski & Larkin with Joan Lunden); PI, Dec. 6, 1981.

Strike by air-traffic controllers: See NYT, Aug. 3, 1981 (negotiations between the federal government and the air-traffic controllers’ union broke off at 2:30 a.m., with a 7 a.m. strike deadline); PI, Dec. 6, 1981.

Times Square, Natural History, the Dakota: PI, Dec. 6, 1981.

Thornburgh Letter to Watt: Letter from Thornburgh to Watt (Aug. 5,1981) (Thornburgh Papers).

First statement since press conference: SNI, Aug. 5, 1981.

Officials had settled: SEH, Sept. 17, 1981 (listing the 26 families who had settled with OSM).

Twenty-seven property owners: SEH, Sept. 17, 1981; SEH, Oct. 6, 1981; SEH, Oct. 17, 1981; Summary of 1981 Centralia Acquisition Program Costs (Oct. 19, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); SNI, Sept. 24, 1981.

Between $7,500 and $31,000: NYT Magazine, Nov. 22, 1981.

From $9,300 to $15,000: NYT Magazine, Nov. 22, 1981.

Handful of families: SEH, Sept. 17, 1981 (saying three families had moved); MLSB (list of families with moving dates).

Lambs offered $27,000: NYT, Aug. 10, 1981.

Discounting as much as 45 percent: NYT Magazine, Nov. 22, 1981; Letter from Boggs to O’Hearns (Sept. 23, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs) (explaining appraisal methods and relocation allowances and saying even before the mine fire, Centralia real estate was depressed). The discounts reflected the mine fire’s effect on real-estate values: NYT, Aug. 10, 1981; NYT Mag, Nov. 22, 1981; Memo from Simpson to Murphy (May 15, 1981).

Almost doubling other offers: The government offered Flo Domboski $11,500 for her home. PI, Dec. 6, 1981. Officials offered Tony Andrade $14,500 for his. NYT, Aug. 10, 1981. 

Dave didn’t blame the mine fire: NYT, Aug. 10, 1981.

At least not entirely: NYT, Aug. 10, 1981; PI, Dec. 6, 1981.

Red ribbon and spray paint: D. Lamb Photographs (pre-demolition, fall 1981), copies in AC.

Red “2”s: SEH, Oct. 6, 1981 (Andrade row); SNI, Sept. 24, 1981 (MLSB) (100 block); Nightline (Oct. 20, 1981); see also M.L. Gaughan Photographs, MLSB (pre-demolition photos of Wood Street, fall 1981).

Roamed with spray-paint: SEH, Oct. 6, 1981 (photo); SNI, Sept. 24, 1981 (MLSB).

Second such initiative: SEH, Oct. 6, 1981; SNI, Sept. 24, 1981; SEH, Apr. 28, 1980 (MLSB); OSM, Director Memo (April 18, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

On East Park Street: SNI, Sept. 24, 1981.

Alerting demolition contractors: Ibid.

County’s purchase of the Laughlin row: CCRA, Meeting Minutes (Jan. 12, 1970), copy in AC.

If they had stuck together: Tony had ascribed to this view for many years. See CW, Dec. 5, 1980.

American Bible Society Ad: SEH, Aug. 15, 1981 (MLSB).

“Most of our life:” Ibid.

“But there are times:” Ibid.

“In such lonely moments:” Ibid.

Nightline: This account is based on interviews with several of the participants, including Centralia guests and former ABC correspondent George Strait. The author also reviewed an ABC News videotape of the broadcast, an ABC News transcript of the broadcast, a Hodding Carter interview with Nightline producer Bill Lord about the broadcast, Inside Story No. 308, Baptism By Fire (May 26, 1983) and Ted Koppel’s reflections on his role as Nightline anchor, including: Kyle Gibson & Ted Koppel, Nightline: History in the Making and the Making of Television (New York: Random House, 1996) and Ted Koppel, Interview with Terry Gross on Fresh Air (WHYY, Philadelphia Nov. 17, 2005) (discussing his interview techniques, guests who refused to answer questions and his role as the viewers’ surrogate).

Video technology revolutionized broadcast: See Gibson & Koppel, Nightline, History in the Making, pp. xii-xv, 13-14.

CNN launched in 1980: Ibid, p. 39.

Iran hostage crisis: Nightline, then dubbed America Held Hostage, aired its first broadcast on November 8, 1979, four days after militants seized the American embassy in Teheran. Ibid, pp. 7-9.

Across the globe and linking: Ibid, pp. xii, xv, 154.

Opening a line: SNI, TV Preview (Oct. 31-Nov. 6, 1981).

Groomed the guests: See Gibson & Koppel, Nightline, History in the Making, p. 154 (confirming what Centralia guests were told: look straight into the camera to address Koppel and his voice is fed to them through an earpiece).

About twelve feet: Inside Story No. 308, Baptism By Fire, (PBS, May 26, 1983), p. 4.

More than a dozen such voids: See, e.g., Letter to Dr. Riehl (Aug. 20, 1980) (FOIA docs).

Dictating the location: See Inside Story No. 308, Baptism by Fire (PBS, May 26, 1983), pp. 3-4 (Interview with Bill Lord).

Inside WNEP’s studios: SNI, TV Preview (Oct. 31-Nov. 6, 1981).

Hunkered over a manual typewriter: Ibid.

Shirt sleeves: Ibid.

Revising the script: Ibid.

Burnishing page 6: Ibid.

Three assistants: Ibid.

Five phones: Ibid.

Executives in New York and Washington: Ibid.

Downstairs, a producer pored: Ibid.

“This small town has:” Ibid.

At 11:23 p.m: Ibid.

Slid his briefcase: Ibid.

Two minutes later: Ibid.

Requested a sound check: Ibid.

Nudged two fingers against: Ibid.

Hidden behind his ear: Ibid.

Couldn’t hear one of the guests: Ibid.

“I hope this clears:” Ibid.

“If it doesn’t, we:” Ibid.

Focus piece, to provoke debate: Gibson & Koppel, Nightline, History in the Making, p. 36.

Scrutinized invitees on a monitor: Ibid, p. 14.

The surface looked blank: Ibid.

Looming in viewers’ minds: Koppel believed his audience identified with him as the interviewer, and, if he did his job properly, he posed the questions viewers wanted him to ask, provoking the answers they wanted to hear. Ibid, pp. 146, 157. 

Balked at delegating: Ibid, pp. 40, 149.

A booker handed him: Ibid, p. 40.

“Do not ever, ever:” Ibid.

Approached interviews like a seminar: Ibid, pp. 40, 149.

Word, phrase or remark warranting: Ibid, pp. 40-41, 149.

Had just moved: Letter from Shober to Sefton (Nov. 16, 1981), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs) (Coddington’s CO monitor removed Oct. 8, 1981); SNI, Nov. 10, 1981 (photo of demolished gas station, with caption saying Coddington and his family had moved to a housing development near Locust Dale).

Urged him to evacuate: CW, Dec. 5, 1980; SNI, Feb. 19, 1981.

Save receipts for his expenses: CW, Dec. 5, 1980. 

Deduct from the purchase price: Ibid.

Lost his livelihood: Ibid.

Offered him a trailer: HSS, April 15, 1981; SEH, Apr. 15, 1981 (photo).

Could not have shouldered: See CW, Dec. 5, 1980. In this respect, of course, he was in the same position as most, if not all, of his neighbors, including the 26 other families. See PI, Feb. 17, 1983 (saying residents could not afford to abandon homes in which they had invested a lifetime). Even measures that may have ensured the Coddingtons’ survival imposed a financial burden, with increased fuel and maintenance costs from keeping their windows open during the winter, including the repair of burst pipes. SEH, Feb. 4, 1981.

Sunk eight thousand dollars: NYT, Aug. 10, 1981. Many other families found themselves in similar straits: they poured their savings into their homes, only to find them worthless several years later. See PI, Dec. 6, 1981 (Flo Domboski discussing improvements she made to her home, including wood paneling, dropped ceilings, mirror walls, oil heat, a new roof, aluminum siding, new doors and windows, new bathroom fixtures and a built-in tub); WP, Sept. 25, 1982 (Joan Girolami saying everything they had was in the house, including a $6,000 backyard swimming pool); PI, Feb. 17, 1983 (Mary Theresa Gasperetti saying who could afford to leave a house behind?).

Declared their dwelling unsafe: See HPN, Feb. 16, 1981; SNI, Feb. 19, 1981.

Offered him $14,500: NYT, Aug. 10, 1981. 

Emergency trailer: Ibid.

Pride in their homes: PI, Dec. 6, 1981 (Centralians are house-proud); NYT, Nov. 22, 1981; NYT, Aug. 10, 1981 (Tony Andrade still mowed the lawn at his Locust Avenue home, even after moving into a trailer).

Respect for family, place stability: NYT Mag., Nov. 22, 1981; RE, Jan. 16, 1983; see also Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, pp. 7, 122, 124, 174. 

Sleeping in the town or bedroom: See RE, Jan. 16, 1983 (Centralia resident Michael Zublick says he sleeps in the bedroom where he and his father were born); SNI, Mar. 7, 1983 (Mayor Wondoloski, at Unity Day, says many residents trace their roots back three or four generations and some live in the homes in which they were born).

Fifteen times in four months: CO Monitor Log, Andrade (Jan. 5, 1981-Apr. 29, 1981), copy in AC (DEP/DMS Docs).

Deepened divisions: See, e.g., NYT, Aug. 10, 1981 (Joan Girolami says people hate her); NYT Magazine, Nov. 22, 1981 (Joan Girolami frustrated by her exclusion).

Remorse among those who qualified: Several journalists touched on this issue during the fall of 1981. See HPN, Nov. 22, 1981; NYT Magazine, Nov. 22, 1981; PI, Dec. 6, 1981.

Eight million viewers: SNI, TV Preview (Oct. 31-Nov. 6, 1981).

Trying to dodge me: Koppel on occasion communicated directly with his audience, alerting viewers when guests refused to answer his inquiries. Gibson & Koppel, Nightline, History in the Making, p. 164. 

“Forgive me:” See ibid., pp. 146, 151.

Role as surrogate: Ibid, pp. 146, 157.

Chapter Eight: Which Side Are You On?

Ramming the Chapman homestead: SEH, Oct. 27, 1981; MLSB (demolition list with dates); NYT, Nov. 22, 1981.

“United we stand, divided:” SEH, Nov. 3, 1981.

“We all started off:” SNI, Nov. 3, 1981.

“Unless we are unified:” Ibid.

Did not soften: SEH, Nov. 3, 1981 (no evidence of mine-fire gases).

Violated her constitutional rights: Ibid.

Evoking the horrors: Ibid.

Sinister satisfaction: Ibid.

Gestapo tactics: Ibid.

“[W]e will be a fortress:” Ibid.

Six write-in votes: SNI, Nov. 4, 1981.

Lauding Helen’s overture: SNI, Nov. 4, 1981 (editorial).

“The dissension in the:” Ibid.

“When all is said:” Ibid.

Approved the borehole project, earmarking $850,000: SEH, Nov. 13, 1981; SNI, Nov. 13, 1981.

Interior department’s $7.5 billion appropriations: SEH, Nov. 13, 1981.

Exploratory drilling and related work: SNI, Nov. 13, 1981.

A more limited effort: SNI, Nov. 13, 1981; Letter from Larkin to Specter (Nov. 16, 1981), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Removing CO monitors: SNI, Nov. 17, 1981; Letter from Larkin to Specter (Nov. 16, 1981).

Roughly 20 homes: Letter from Shober to Sefton (Nov. 16, 1981), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs) (supplying inventory of CO monitors and their locations).

Long-smoldering intra-mural friction: See Memorandum of Understanding Between BOM and OSM (May 16, 1980), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (OSM elbows the bureau into an advisory role).

Anonymous bureau of mines scientist: NYT Magazine, Nov. 22, 1981, p. 167.

Worst underground mine fire: NYT Magazine, Nov. 22, 1981, p. 167; cf. Letter from Watt to Thornburgh (Jan. 4, 1982) (Thornburgh Papers) (among the worst in the nation). 

A Harrisburg reporter: SNI, Nov. 25, 1981. The reporter worked for the Harrisburg Evening News. SEH, Nov. 27, 1981.

Republican governors’ conference in New Orleans: SNI, Nov. 25, 1981; SEH, Nov. 27, 1981.

“No threat to heath:” SNI, Nov. 25, 1981; SEH, Nov. 27, 1981; PI, Nov. 29, 1981 (editorial).

Eventually burn itself out: SNI, Nov. 25, 1981; SEH, Nov. 27, 1981; PI, Nov. 29, 1981 (editorial).

Federal liability confined: SNI, Nov. 25, 1981; SEH, Nov. 27, 1981; see Memorandum from Schwartz to Taylor (Nov. 24, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Ricocheted across the wires: Memo from Schwartz to Taylor (Nov. 24, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); SEH, Nov. 27, 1981 (AP story).

Radio airwaves: Memo from Taylor to Schwartz (Nov. 24, 1981).

A spate of reactions and editorials: SEH, Nov. 27, 1981 (saying Specter vigorously disagreed with Watt’s remarks and a state representative denounced them as arrogant); SNI, Nov. 27, 1981 (editorial calling on Watt to visit Centralia); PI, Nov. 29, 1981 (editorial denouncing Watt for his “appalling insensitivity” to Centralia residents).

Pivoted on fidelity: See SNI, Nov. 3, 1982; Thornburgh, Where the Evidence Leads, pp. 178-89. Thornburgh, who began weighing a bid for a second term in the fall of 1981, ran for re-election, of course, on his record, especially his efforts to combat corruption and trim bureaucratic bloat. But with in-state unemployment skirting 11 percent and Thornburgh’s opponent blaming him for the state’s economic woes, his allegiance to President Reagan cost him throughout the campaign.
Declined to comment: SNI, Nov. 25, 1981.

Interview with a local reporter: Ibid.

“Let him put his:” Ibid.

“Let him come here:” Ibid.

“Where’s his backbone:” Ibid.

“It’s about time the:” Ibid.

Casting gaffe as misunderstanding: Letter from Thornburgh to Watt (Nov. 25, 1981) (Thornburgh Papers).

100 parts per million: Centralia Project No. 53, Chart Reading Indicating CO, Jurgill (Nov. 8, 1981-Jan. 9, 1982), copy in AC (DEP/DMS docs).

Seventy parts per million: Ibid.

Katrina might wander: WP, Sept. 5, 1982.

Might not notice: Ibid.

Mary Lou and Helen objected: SNI, July 13, 1982.

String of illnesses: SNI, Jan. 20, 1982.

Lay sleepless: WP, Sept. 5, 1982.

Handsomest building he had ever seen: The Pennsylvania Capitol (Harrisburg: Pennsylvania General Assembly, undated) copy in AC (hand-out available from visitors’ center).

Graft: National Geographic, Susquehanna: America’s Small-Town River, p. 371 (March 1985).

Construction consumed only $4 million: National Geographic, Susquehanna: America’s Small-Town River, p. 371.

A $278 filing cabinet: Ibid.

Urging him to dispatch: Letter from Daley to Thornburgh (Dec.1, 1981), copy in AC (Danner docs).

One of Thornburgh’s surrogates: Pennsylvania Catholic Conference, news release & Harrisburg itinerary, Dec. 3, 1981, copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); SEH, Dec. 8, 1981.

PEMA director: SEH, Dec. 8, 1981; Letter from Smith to Bishop Daley (Jan. 11, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

St. Peter’s Basilica: National Geographic, Susquehanna: America’s Small-Town River, p. 371 (March 1985); The Pennsylvania Capitol.

Paris Opéra staircase: National Geographic, Susquehanna: America’s Small-Town River, p. 371; The Pennsylvania Capitol.

Just after 10 a.m.: Pennsylvania Catholic Conference, news release & Harrisburg itinerary (Dec. 3, 1981). Bernie Shire, PCC spokesman, said his group was acting as a facilitator, showing the Centralia residents how to be politically effective. SNI, Dec. 7, 1981 (AP story).

Lectern: SEH, Dec. 8, 1981 (photo).

Red ribbons: SEH, Dec. 7, 1981 (AP story); SNI, Dec. 7, 1981 (AP story).

“Hell on Earth” bumper sticker: SEH, Dec. 7, 1981 (AP story); SNI, Dec. 7, 1981 (AP story).

Local news outlets and wire services: SEH, Dec. 7, 1981 (AP story); HPN, Dec. 8, 1981 (UPI story); SEH, Dec. 8, 1981; SNI, Dec. 8, 1981.

Republican clout: See also SNI, Dec. 7, 1981 (AP story); SEH, Dec. 7, 1981 (AP story).

Republican governor, two Republican senators and Republican congressman: SEH, Dec. 7, 1981 (AP story).

To extinguish: SEH, Dec. 8, 1981.

“The state and federal:” HPN, Dec. 8, 1981 (UPI story).

“There are people’s lives:” Ibid.

Carbon monoxide in the nursery: SNI, Jan. 20, 1982.

Pediatrician told her to leave: Ibid.

Thornburgh, Watt and their agents squabbled: Letter from Watt to Thornburgh (Jan. 4, 1982) (Thornburgh Papers); Letter from Smith to Bishop Daley (Jan. 4, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs) (Interior not swayed, despite pressure from the governor and state legislators); Letter from Lt. Gov. Scranton to Bishop Daley (Jan. 14, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs) (referring to recent encouraging developments with the Interior Department); Letter from Thornburgh to Watt (Jan. 21, 1982) (Thornburgh Papers); Letter from Harris to Girolami (Feb. 12, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs) (saying Pennsylvania had resubmitted its AML plan for approval); Letter from Miller to Yates (Jan. 28, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs) (saying efforts to retard the fire by restricting oxygen within the mine would buy time until Pennsylvania received its $39 million in AML funding).

President’s fiscal-accountability commission: SNI, Jan. 22, 1982 (photo).

Most prudent expenditure: Letter from Watt to Thornburgh (Jan. 4, 1982) (Thornburgh Papers).

Embraced “new federalism:” See Thornburgh, Where the Evidence Leads, pp. 20-21, 180, 359, 364; SNI, July 13, 1982 (AP story) (Thornburgh spokesman hails Pennsylvania’s AML primacy as “another positive example” of federal government relinquishing power to the states). Reagan touted “new federalism” as the cornerstone of his domestic policy. NYT, Feb. 18, 1982; SNI, Jan. 27, 1982 (Reagan’s state-of-the-union message outlined “new federalism.”) Thornburgh, a self-described fiscal conservative who campaigned for the Reagan-Bush team in the fall of 1980, remained a loyal booster of the president’s policies, including his view of federal-state relations. See Thornburgh, Where the Evidence Leads, pp. 9, 21, 177, 180-81, 358-59, 364.

“Unfortunate misunderstanding:” Letter from Watt to Thornburgh (Jan. 4, 1982) (Thornburgh Papers). Watt also said the Centralia blaze was “one of the most difficult” in the nation. 

Responded with a counter-offer: Letter from Thornburgh to Watt (Jan. 21, 1982) (Thornburgh Papers). 

State would assume 25 percent: Letter from Thornburgh to Watt (Jan. 21, 1982) (Thornburgh Papers). 

Answer lay in the inter-office mail: See Routing Slip from Malenka to Simpson (Jan. 13, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Letter from Malenka to Koschoff (Jan. 12, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Letter from Malenka to Downing (Jan. 12, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Routing Slip from Malenka to Simpson (Feb. 26, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Memorandum from Malenka to Simpson (Mar. 11, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs)  (technician felled by CO poisoning after checking boreholes); Letter from Malenka to Koschoff (Apr. 21, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Memorandum from Lewis to Malenka, copy in AC (FOIA docs) (re: May 24, 1982 Centralia readings); Letter from Malenka to Koschoff (July 13, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Memorandum from Malenka to Downing (OSM, Pittsburgh) (July 13, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Memorandum from Malenka to Simpson (July 14, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs). 

Probing underground voids: Lewis, Delaney & Stockalis, Centralia Mine Fire Temperatures (Jan. 5-8, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Lewis, Delaney& Stockalis, Centralia Mine Fire Temperatures (Apr. 5, 8 & 12-16, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Summary of Borehole Temperatures (Apr. 19, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Memorandum from Lewis to Malenka (re: May 24, 1982 Centralia readings), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Lewis, Delaney & Stockalis, Centralia Mine Fire Temperatures (May 24-28, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Lewis, Delaney & Stockalis, Centralia Mine Fire Temperatures (June 28-30, July 1 & July 8, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Summary of Borehole Temperatures (July 12, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Snow melt at the surface: Lewis, Delaney, Stockalis, Centralia Mine Fire Temperatures (Jan. 5-8, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (with handwritten memo, describing events of Jan. 6, 1982).

Temperatures spiked at 32 of the 144: Lewis, Delaney & Stockalis, Centralia Mine Fire Temperatures (Jan. 5-8, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

In public, officials minimized: SEH, Jan. 16, 1982 (MLSB); SNI, Jan. 16, 1982; SEH, Feb. 18, 1982 (MLSB).

Routed copies of: Letter from Malenka to Koschoff (Jan. 12, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Letter from Malenka to Koschoff (Apr. 21, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Letter from Malenka to Koschoff (July 13, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

New borough council president: SNI, Jan. 5, 1982.

The 25-year-old: DeKok, Unseen Danger, p. 229. 

Son of a former councilman: See Centralia Borough Council, Meeting Minutes (May 7, 1962), copy in AC (John Koschoff, Sr. was secretary).

Funnel all correspondence through him: Letter from J. Koschoff to Malenka (Jan. 26, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Moments after assuming: See SNI, Jan. 5, 1982; SEH, Jan. 12, 1982 (MLSB).

Dismissed the borough solicitor: SNI, Jan. 5, 1982; SEH, Jan. 12, 1982 (MLSB).

A Mount Carmel lawyer who finessed Centralia’s legal matters for 10 years: SEH, Jan. 12, 1982 (MLSB). 
Replaced him with his brother-in-law: SNI, Jan. 5, 1982; SEH, Jan. 12, 1982 (MLSB). Koschoff denied conflict-of-interest allegations, saying Rapkin was not a blood relative. SEH, Jan. 12, 1982 (MLSB).

A workman’s compensation lawyer: SNI, Oct. 27, 1981; Letter from J. Koschoff to Malenka (Jan. 26, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Hailed from the basin: John Koschoff lived at 415 Locust Ave. See Letter from J. Koschoff to Malenka (Jan. 26, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs). Rapkin’s wife was Helen Koschoff, John’s sister. SEH, Jan. 12, 1982 (MLSB).

Failed to disclose the temperature data: SEH, Oct. 5, 1982; Centralia Borough Council, Meeting Minutes (Oct. 4, 1982), copy in AC; SNI, Oct. 5, 1982; Letter from Shire to Koschoff (Sept. 30, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Voters who elected him: SNI, Jan. 5, 1982. Koschoff was appointed to fill a council vacancy in the fall of 1980 and then elected in November 1981. Early in his tenure, he blasted Frank Duffy, the council president, for sending a telegram to Watt and asking the secretary to meet with Concerned Citizens. SEH, Nov. 4, 1981 (MLSB). 

Rally marking the one-year anniversary: CC, Meeting Minutes (Feb. 2, 1982 & Feb. 16, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); SNI, Feb. 15, 1982.

“A Year of Change:” NYT, Feb. 14, 1982.

From “far left field:” Ibid.

“As we move the:” Ibid. He also said he had fostered better government through good management and decisive leadership and improved the federal government’s relations with state and local officials by promoting a good neighbor policy.

Backed the state’s version: Governor Richard J. Thornburgh, untitled news release, Mar. 4, 1982 (Thornburgh Papers).

First step in the battle: Thornburgh news release, Mar. 4, 1982.

Barred officials from speaking to reporters: NYT, Feb. 14, 1982. The agency also prohibited employees from talking to reporters about the mine fire, dubbing it a “very sensitive issue.” Memorandum from Horton to T. Flynn & [illegible] (Nov. 30, 1981), copy in AC (FOIA docs); see Memorandum from Forshey to Murphy (Dec. 1, 1981), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Memorandum from Murphy to Deul, Simpson, Craft, Krantz & Wade (Dec. 3, 1981), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (referring to “politically-sensitive questions re: Centralia”).

Ceased issuing news releases, citing budgetary constraints: NYT, Feb. 14, 1982.

Canceled a twenty-thousand dollar research grant: NYT, Mar. 8, 1982; Letter from Specter to Gorusch (Mar. 9, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs). The EPA explained its decision in a letter dated February 25. News of the decision reached Centralia on March 2, the same day as the borehole-project announcement. SNI, Mar. 3, 1982.

Measure carbon monoxide levels: NYT, Mar. 8, 1982.

Public health research near Three Mile Island: Ibid.

Exceeded the agency’s jurisdiction: Ibid.

Lacked regulatory power: Ibid.

“I wonder if James:” SNI, Mar. 3, 1982.

Symptoms of carbon monoxide poisoning: Memo from Malenka to Simpson (Mar. 11, 1982); Memorandum from Malenka to Simpson (Mar. 17, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

M-2 borehole sat about a hundred feet: See Letter to Dr. Riehl (Aug. 20, 1980) (FOIA docs). The M-2, M-3 and M-4 boreholes, aligned in a row between Mary Lou’s bedroom window and the eastern boundary of Nance Maloney’s lot, tapped into an alley – actually the real Wood Street, which ran north-south -- between Mary Lou’s house and the site of the long-demolished Laughlin row, above the fly-ash barrier’s western flank. 

A hundred feet underground hovered at 196 degrees: Lewis, Delaney & Stockalis, Centralia Mine Fire Temperatures (Apr. 5, 8 & 12-16, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (readings for M-2 borehole).

Rocketed past 500 degrees: Summary of Borehole Temperatures (June 3, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (from monitoring May 24-28, 1982) (saying maximum temperature recorded in Centralia borough was 502 degrees in the M-2, more than a three-hundred degree increase in one month); see GAI Consultants, Inc., Engineering Analysis and Evaluation of the Centralia Mine Fire (July 1983), Fig 1.6 (hereafter, “GAI Report”); Borehole Data Chart, copy in AC.

Soared by 494 degrees in one month: Summary of Borehole Temperatures (Apr. 19, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

From 190 to 684 degrees: Summary of Borehole Temperatures (Apr. 19, 1982).

Liquefying three 500 degree thermometers: Lewis, Delaney & Stockalis, Centralia Mine Fire Temperatures (Apr. 5, 8 & 12-16, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Seven fold increase in one year: Centralia Mine Fire Temperatures (Apr. 5, 8 & 12-16, 1982) (with borehole log from March 27, 1980, when the temperature in the X-31 borehole hovered between 84 and 112 degrees).

Data suggested: See, e.g., GAI Report, Figs. 1.6 & 1.7.

Reconfigured the Interior seal, realigning the buffalo: NYT, May 21, 1982.

Measurements mirroring the federal results: See MLSB (Temperature readings, Sept.-Nov. 1982).

Notched her own daily gas logs: Letter from Helen & Carl Womer to Lowrie (Apr. 24, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Technician who culled: See, e.g.,  Lewis, Delaney & Stockalis, Centralia Mine Fire Temperatures (Apr. 5, 8 & 12-16, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Memo from Lewis to Malenka (re: May 24, 1982 Centralia readings); Lewis, Delaney & Stockalis, Centralia Mine Fire Temperatures (May 24-28, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); Lewis, Delaney & Stockalis, Centralia Mine Fire Temperatures (June 28-30, July 1 to July 8, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs); see Letter from Womer to Lowrie (Apr. 24, 1982).

Reinforce the fly-ash barrier: Letter from Womer to Lowrie (Apr. 24, 1982); SNI, May 11, 1982; SEH, May 11, 1982.

Helen sat up in her chair: Centralia Fire, directed by Tony Mussari (Dallas, Pa.: M.L.A. Productions, Inc., 1982). 

“We have to wait:” Mussari, Centralia Fire (1982).

“The fire still burns:” Ibid.

At 7:55 a.m.: OSM, Conversation Record (May 13, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs). This account relies on the staffer’s contemporaneous notes of the conversation.

Climbed to 522 degrees: Summary of Borehole Temperatures (July 12, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Soared to 810 degrees: Summary of Borehole Temperatures (July 12, 1982).

Approximately $900 million: OSM, 25th Anniversary of the Surface Mining Law, p. 38.

$102 million from Pennsylvania operators: See OSM, Annual Report for Fiscal Year 1982, p. 31 (CD-ROM). 

Almost $100 million: OSM, Annual Report for Fiscal Year 1982, p. 34 (CD-ROM). This largesse reflected OSM’s commitment to “return AML funds to the states.” Ibid, p. 2.
$34 million for Pennsylvania: Ibid, p. 34 (CD-ROM).

Watt had stalled: See Letter from Miller to Yates (Jan. 28, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); OSM, Annual Report for Fiscal Year 1981 (CD-ROM) (saying OSM hoped all states to attain primacy by mid-1982).

When he did: In 1981, OSM said the agency intended to approve Pennsylvania’s reclamation plan by mid-1982. See OSM, Annual Report for Fiscal Year 1981, Executive Summary, p. 2 (CD-ROM).

Estimated $40-million share: PI, July 13, 1982; SNI, July 13, 1982 (AP story); Letter from Miller to Yates (Jan. 28, 1982).

Transfer all future costs: See Miller Letter to Yates (Jan. 28, 1982); Draft Letter to Mr. & Mrs. Womer (circa May 7, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Ceremony marking his approval: PI, July 13, 1982; SNI, July 13, 1982 (AP story).

The twenty-first of twenty-four states: SNI, July 13, 1982 (AP story); see OSM, Annual Report for FY 1982, pp. 2, 10 (CD-ROM).

Victory for Reagan-era federalism: “We believe that this is another positive example of how a function which had been handled by the federal government has been more properly handed down to the state,” the governor’s spokesman said. SNI, July 13, 1982 (AP story).

Recession and 10 percent unemployment: SNI, Nov. 5, 1982 (recession began in late summer of 1981; September and October unemployment topped 10 percent); SEH, Nov. 6, 1982 (September and October unemployment topped 10 percent). Pennsylvania’s statewide unemployment rate surpassed 11 percent during the campaign. SNI, Nov. 3, 1982; see also Thornburgh, Where the Evidence Leads, p. 179.

Highest since the Depression: SEH, Nov. 6, 1982 (September and October unemployment data); SNI, Nov. 5, 1982 (same).

Approximately $11 million: SNI, July 13, 1982 (AP story); cf. OSM, Annual Report for FY 1982, pp. 11-12 (CD-ROM).

Projects in Scranton and Pittsburgh: SNI, July 13, 1982 (AP story). At the same time, Pennsylvania officials disclosed they had asked the Interior department for a $6 million grant, to finance 75-percent of an $8 million mine-fire-control project, with the commonwealth pledging $2 million. SNI, July 13, 1982. Watt’s intransigence left little doubt about the outcome. See Letter from Miller to Thornburgh (Mar. 18, 1982), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (Interior has no funding for a 75/25 split of future projects and no funding other than the $850,000); SNI, Aug. 4, 1982 (DOI rejects PA’s request for $6 million); SNI Aug. 5, 1982 (OSM reverses and says it will wait until after the borehole study to decide); see also OSM, Annual Report for FY 1982 (CD-ROM). Thornburgh won re-election in November 1982, after outspending his opponent by a 3-1 margin, capturing 52 percent of the vote. SNI, Nov. 3, 1982. 

CHD grant announcement: CW, Aug. 27, 1982 (Danner docs & MLSB).

Nationwide anti poverty program: CHD, Fact Sheet (Sept. 19, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Headquartered in Washington, D.C.: Ibid.

Photograph of a vent pipe: CW, Aug. 27, 1982 (Danner docs & MLSB).

One of twelve in a seven-state region: Ibid.

“If you want peace:” CHD, Fact Sheet (Sept. 19, 1982).

In November: Ibid.

Parishes across the country: Ibid.

With 25 percent slated: Ibid.

Since its creation in 1970: Ibid.

Collected almost $97 million: Ibid.

Façade of neutrality: Faithful readers of the Catholic Witness, of course, knew Bishop Daley had taken an interest in Centralia, at least from afar. CW, July 31, 1981 (MLSB). Under his guidance, Pennsylvania’s 23 Catholic bishops had adopted a statement expressing their concern for Centralians’ health and welfare and urging the federal government to extinguish the fire. CW, July 31, 1981 (MLSB); SNI, Nov. 20, 1981; SEH, Nov. 20, 1981.

Announcing his decision: SEH, Jan. 30, 1981.

Stop selling cemetery plots: Ibid.

Revived and retooled: PI, Dec. 6, 1981; PP, Mar. 6, 1983.

Condemned the town to burn: PI, Dec. 6, 1981; PP, Mar. 6, 1983.

Ducked the issues: CW, Dec. 5, 1980. (Rev. Suknaic said no one knew the future of the parish; it was up to the government to decide).

A $7,500 check: CW, Sept. 17, 1982 (Goncalves docs).

Photographer tarried nearby: Ibid.

Protest letters streamed into the bishop’s office: Stephen R. Couch & J. Stephen Kroll-Smith, The Real Disaster is Above Ground: A Mine Fire and Social Conflict (Lexington, Ky: The University Press of Kentucky, 1990), p. 105.

Group’s motives and intentions: CW, Sept. 17, 1982 (Goncalves docs).

 As well as his own: Ibid.

“The money will be:” Ibid.

“I want to see:” Ibid.

Three times the median: Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, pp. 7, 119.
Four times council’s revenues and spending: See Centralia Borough Council, Financial Statement for Month Ended Apr. 30, 1981, General Fund, copy in AC (Polites docs) (showing one-month receipts of $7,000).

Netted about $700: Ibid.

Pocketed about $600: Ibid.

High homeownership rates: Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, p. 7 (94 percent of Centralia families owned their homes).

More than 90 percent: Ibid.
During the grant application process: CHD, 1982 Application for Funding (Centralia Concerned Citizens), p. 7, copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Minimum wage: Minimum wage in 1981 was $3.35 per hour, according to the Department of Labor. See http://www.dol.gov/esa/minwage/chart.htm.

Fell below poverty guidelines: CHD, 1982 Application for Funding, p.7 (Centralia Concerned Citizens).

Cornered a delegation: See SNI, Sept. 14, 1982; Centralia Borough Council, Meeting Minutes (Sept. 13, 1982), copy in AC.

Barred from borough hall: Centralia Borough Council, Meeting Minutes (Sept. 7, 1982), copy in AC; Centralia Borough Council, Meeting Minutes (Oct. 4, 1982), copy in AC.

St. Ignatius school basement, at a rental cost of twenty-five dollars: CC, Meeting Minutes (Sept. 20, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); CC, Meeting Minutes (Oct. 29, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Bishop heard from parishioners: Letter from F. & E. O’Hearn to Bishop Daley (May 6, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Investigated for himself: See CW, July 31, 1981 (MLSB).

Shutter St. Ignatius school: On May 21, 1980, Bishop Daley announced the school would close at the end of the following academic year, in June 1981, due to declining enrollment. 

Dispatched a community organizer: See CW, July 31, 1981 (MLSB); SNI, Nov. 20, 1981. Margaret Danner, the community organizer, traveled with Concerned Citizens to Washington and Harrisburg and wrote the CHD grant proposal.

Plucking comments: Profile of Centralia CC (Sept. 28, 1982), copy in AC.

Two days later: D. DeKok, Tape of CC Meeting (Sept. 28, 1982), D. DeKok archives, Bucknell University, Lewisburg, Pa. (hereafter, “CC Meeting Tape, Sept. 28, 1982”).

Legal-sized paper: Profile of Centralia CC (Sept. 28, 1982), copy in AC.

Heading: Ibid.

Chronological order: Ibid.

Tom’s demands for Harrisburg: Profile of Centralia CC (Sept. 28, 1982); see Letter from Larkin to Thornburgh (Dec. 7, 1981), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs). 

Town was doomed: Profile of Centralia CC (Sept. 28, 1982); see CW, Dec. 5, 1980.

Joan Girolami quotation: Profile of Centralia CC (Sept. 28, 1982), p. 2.

“And that’s the kind:” Ibid.

“The other side is:” Ibid.

“They do not deny:” Ibid.

Later that evening: CC, Meeting Minutes (Sept. 28, 1982). In addition to the sources noted here, this account is based on interviews with several of the participants.

Helen Womer: Ibid.

John Koschoff: Ibid.

Emissaries from the diocese and CHD: Nancy Wisdo, Margaret Danner and Rev. Kumontis. See ibid.

“Father, the overwhelming mistrust:” CC Meeting Tape, Sept. 28, 1982.

“Please believe me, I:” Ibid.
“I am just presenting:” Ibid.
Returned to Centralia in 1980: Profile of Centralia CC (Sept. 28, 1982), p. 2.

Reading from her profile: CC Meeting Tape, Sept. 28, 1982.

Copy of the grant application: CC, Meeting Minutes (Sept. 28, 1982); CC Meeting Tape, Sept. 28, 1982.

Borough council’s ineffectiveness: CHD, Application for Funding (Centralia Concerned Citizens), p. 4.

Offered to share the grant objectives: CC Meeting Tape, Sept. 28, 1982.

Praised the compromise: Ibid.

“Father, we’re the council:” Ibid.

“I think you should:” Ibid.

Priest hedged: Ibid.

“Civil authorities?:” Ibid.

“They should be accountable:” Ibid.

Local newspapers broke the news: SEH, Oct. 5, 1982; SNI, Oct. 5, 1982; SNI, Oct. 1, 1982. 

Catharene demanded Koschoff’s resignation: Centralia Borough Council, Meeting Minutes (Oct. 4, 1982), copy in AC; see SEH, Oct. 5, 1982; SNI, Oct. 5, 1982.

Running better than ever: SNI, Oct. 5, 1982.

Route them all future data: Letter from Roscoe to All Government Agencies and Officials (Oct. 13, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Concealed reports from them: Centralia Borough Council Minutes (Oct. 4, 1982); SEH, Oct. 5, 1982; SNI, Oct. 5, 1982.

Read correspondence out loud: SEH, Nov. 2, 1982.

Including a Philadelphia Inquirer article: SEH, Nov. 2, 1982.

Erupted, decrying: SEH, Nov. 2, 1982; SNI, Nov. 2, 1982.

Several fled the room: SNI, Nov. 2, 1982.

Wayne Rapkin stormed out: SEH, Nov. 2, 1982; SNI, Nov. 2, 1982.

Followed by Concerned Citizens: SNI, Nov. 2, 1982.

Three-and-a-half-hour: Ibid. Borough-council minutes provide little insight into the chaos at the meeting. See Centralia Borough Council, Meeting Minutes (Nov. 1, 1982), copy in AC.

So much time: SNI, Nov. 2, 1982.

Attacking and accusing falsely: Ibid.

At 4:41 a.m.: More than two decades later, Dave still recalled the clock said 4:41 a.m.; for years, he played this three-digit sequence in the lottery. According to the Evening Herald’s next-day story, the incident happened shortly before 5 a.m. The News-Item, citing the state police, reported the incident took place at about 4:40 a.m. SEH, Nov. 3, 1982; SNI, Nov. 4, 1982. 

Man at the door: One report identified him as David Spiels [sic] of Ashland and said he notified the fire department. SNI, Nov. 4, 1982. Another, based on an interview with Dave, referred to him as a neighbor. RE, Jan. 16, 1983. Years later, Dave recalled him as a stranger.

Fire extinguisher: SNI, Nov. 4, 1982; SNI, Dec. 23, 1982. 

Interior of shop: SEH, Nov. 3, 1982 (next-day photo); SNI, Nov. 4, 1982 (photo).

Filled with gasoline: The state police determined the bottle contained gasoline. SNI, Dec. 23, 1982. 

Convulsed by16 percent unemployment: SNI, Nov. 6, 1982 (AP story).

Brezhnev’s health: Ibid.

Insiders guarded: Several months later, the Centralia police told a Philadelphia Inquirer reporter the firebombing was never linked to friction between the town’s rival factions. PI, July 14, 1983.
 Chapter Nine: This is Still America


Dinosaur figurines and dolls: HSS, Feb. 1, 1983 (photo).

Three of five officers resigned: CC, Meeting Minutes (Nov. 9, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Circumstances beyond her control: Eleanor O’Hearn Resignation Letter (Nov. 9, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Dave Lamb didn’t attend: CC Minutes (Nov. 9, 1982).

Thanking them for their service: Ibid.

Acted on her physician’s advice: Joan Girolami Resignation Letter (Nov. 9, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Just elected interim vice president: CC Minutes (Nov. 9, 1982).

More than 300 families: Socioeconomic Impact Analysis, pp. 114, 166.

Patrolled his beat with a pit bull: See SNI, July 27, 1982.

Photographed for a Washington Post article: WP, Sept. 5, 1982 (photo).

Helping residents cope with stress: CCHD, Meeting Minutes (Jan. 11, 1983), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); Couch & Kroll-Smith, The Real Disaster is Above Ground, p. 115.

Typed his address and the date: Tom Larkin Resignation Letter (Dec. 13, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

“It is with deep:” Tom Larkin Resignation Letter (Dec. 13, 1982).

“It has been a:” Ibid.

“Be assured that the:” Ibid.

“And I shall pray:” Ibid.

Severed his ties: Dave told an interviewer he couldn’t afford to jeopardize his family’s health and safety. See RE, Jan. 16, 1983.

“I will always feel:” Dave Lamb Resignation Letter (Dec. 29, 1982), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

“Good luck to all:” Ibid.

Crack, measuring ten feet long: SEH, Jan. 6, 1983; SNI, Jan. 7, 1983; SEH, Jan. 8, 1983.

Twenty feet below: SEH, Jan. 6, 1983; SEH, Jan. 8, 1983.

Natural gas pipeline coursed: SEH, Jan. 6, 1983; SNI, Jan. 7, 1983.

Surged to 770 degrees: SEH, Jan. 6, 1983; SEH, Jan. 10, 1983; 

Borough officials had fretted for years: See CCRA, CMF Meeting Transcript (Aug. 9, 1978), p. 5 (Mayor Joseph McGinley said: “We have a 4-inch gas line and 8,000 gallons of gas near that fire. That’s what we’re sitting on top of.”); see also SNI, circa Dec. 8, 1979 (MLSB) (editorial predicting the next threat will be to the natural gas pipeline).
In early January 1983: SEH, Jan. 6, 1983; SNI, Jan. 7, 1983.

Within days, the fissure: SEH, Jan. 11, 1983.

Pavement buckled: SEH, Jan. 11, 1983.

Spiked from 140 to 770 degrees: SEH, Jan. 11, 1983.

Floated over Locust Mountain: SNI, Jan. 10, 1983; SEH, Jan. 11, 1983; see Lazarski photo (Feb. 13, 1983). 

Couldn’t see across Locust: Letter from F. McKeefery to P. Solono (May 18, 1983), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Officials closed the road: SEH, Jan. 11, 1983; SNI, Jan. 11, 1983.

Forcing Ashland-bound motorists to detour: SEH, Jan. 11, 1983.

No risk of explosion: SEH, Jan. 11, 1983; SNI, Jan. 11, 1983.

Emergency cut-off valve: SEH, Jan. 11, 1983; SNI, Jan. 11, 1983.

Reacted only to emergencies: RE, Jan. 16, 1983.

Cared more about the highway: Ibid.

Long-term health consequences: Ibid.

Couldn’t play in the yard: Ibid.

No sense of safety: SEH, Jan. 31, 1983 (AP story); HSS, Feb. 1, 1983 (same).

Preferably not a coal town: RE, Jan. 16, 1983.

Starting over: SEH, Jan. 31, 1983 (AP story); HSS, Feb. 1, 1983 (same).

Couldn’t wait to leave: SEH, Jan. 31, 1983 (AP story); HSS, Feb. 1, 1983 (same); PI, Feb. 17, 1983 (same).

An interview with Catharene: SEH, Jan. 31, 1983 (AP story); HSS, Feb. 1, 1983 (same); PI, Feb. 17, 1983 (same).

Not worth all the money: SEH, Jan. 31, 1983 (AP story); HSS, Feb. 1, 1983 (same); PI, Feb. 17, 1983 (same).

At the end of January: Deed for Centre Street property (Jan. 27, 1983), Schuylkill County Courthouse, Office of Recorder and Deeds, Pottsville, Pa.

A $34,000 Dutch Colonial: Deed for Centre Street property (Jan. 27, 1983).

As soon as they moved, Catharene planned to quit: RE, Jan. 16, 1983.

Revived her plea for unity: SEH, Feb. 1, 1983.

United Centralia Area Mine Fire Task Force: Ibid.

Salvage the town: Ibid; CCHD, Meeting Minutes (Jan. 18. 1983), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

About forty residents: SNI, Jan. 21, 1983; M.L. Gaughan Photos (MLSB).
Cramming around: M.L. Gaughan Photos (MLSB).

Interest groups across the community: SNI, Jan. 21, 1983; M.L. Gaughan Photos (MLSB); CCHD, Meeting Minutes (Jan. 18. 1983), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Ambulance association to … teen club: SNI, Jan. 21, 1983; M.L. Gaughan Photos (MLSB); SNI, Feb. 10, 1983 (teen club circulating door-to-door to collect signatures); PP, Mar, 6, 1983.

Within days: SEH, Feb. 1, 1983.

More than a thousand signatures: Ibid.

 “Set Centralia Free in ’83:” Ibid.

Calling for funds: Ibid; SNI, Feb. 9, 1983 (reprinting the petition).

Mounted a press offensive: See SEH, Feb. 1, 1983; SNI, Feb. 9, 1983; SEH, Feb. 25, 1983 (MLSB); SNI, Mar. 3, 1983; SNI, Mar. 4, 1983; SEH, Mar. 5, 1983.

More than ten thousand signatures: SEH, Feb. 1, 1983; SNI, Feb. 9, 1983.

Every state: SEH, Feb. 1, 1983.

Deliver to the president and Watt: SEH, Feb. 1, 1983; SNI, Feb. 9, 1983.

Press release touting Unity Day: SEH, Feb. 15, 1983 (MLSB).

Fire engine parade: Ibid; Unity Day Invitation.

Interfaith service: SEH, Feb. 15, 1983 (MLSB); Unity Day Invitation, copy in AC (O’Hearn docs & FOIA docs).

Cake-and-coffee social: SEH, Feb. 15, 1983 (MLSB); Unity Day Invitation.

“Centralia-Byrnesville will bloom:” SEH, Feb. 15, 1983 (MLSB); Unity Day Invitation.

Gray skies: SNI, Mar. 7, 1983.

Fog and steam: SEH, Mar. 7, 1983; WP, Mar. 7, 1983; CW (no date) (Goncalves docs).

Sirens wailed: SEH, Mar. 7, 1983; WP, Mar. 7, 1983 NYT, Mar. 7, 1983. 

Church bells pealed: SEH, Mar. 7, 1983; WP, Mar. 7, 1983; NYT, Mar. 7, 1983; see Unity Day Invitation (calling for church bells to ring throughout the community at 1 p.m.).

Focused on reconciliation: Unity Day Program (Mar. 6, 1983), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); CW (no date) (Goncalves docs).

St. Ignatius Interior: St. Ignatius Diamond Jubilee, pp. 34-35; B. Lazarski Photos (June 17-18, 1995 & June 26, 1995), copies in AC.

Dignitaries amassed up front: CW (no date) (photo) (Goncalves docs); HP, Mar. 7, 1983.

Unseated Nelligan: See PR, Mar. 7, 1983 (noting Harrison’s maiden speech on the House floor addressed the mine fire).

Marigold-yellow cover: Unity Day Program (Mar. 6, 1983). 

 “Faith of Our Fathers:” Unity Day Program (Mar. 6, 1983); SNI, Mar. 7, 1983.

First letter of Paul to the Corinthians: Unity Day Program (Mar. 6, 1983); CW (no date) (Goncalves docs).

“God Bless America” and “Let There Be Peace on Earth:” Unity Day Program (Mar. 6, 1983); SNI, Mar. 7, 1983.

Never seen the church so full: CW (no date) (Goncalves docs).

From Catholic and Greek Catholic to Methodist: Unity Day Program (Mar. 6, 1983).

Only the Russian Orthodox: See ibid; cf. Unity Day Invitation (saying a representative from each area church would speak).

The Lord’s Prayer: Ibid.

 “The Battle Hymn of the Republic:” Unity Day Program (Mar. 6, 1983); SNI, Mar. 7, 1983.

Elaine’s daughter: Unity Day Program (Mar. 6, 1983).

Volunteers fanned: Unity Day Invitation.

Miniature American flags: SEH, Mar. 7, 1983; PR, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo); HP, Mar. 7, 1983; Unity Day Invitation.

Unity Day buttons and balloons: SEH, Mar. 7, 1983; HP, Mar. 7, 1983; PR, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo); SNI, Mar. 7, 1983; Unity Day Invitation.

Red against white: Years later, several Centralia residents still had their Unity Day buttons. 

“Set Centralia Free in ’83:” SEH, Mar. 7, 1983; HP, Mar. 7, 1983.

Mine fire vapors wafted: SEH, Mar. 7, 1983.
Around 2:30 p.m.: See PR, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo of clock near Center Street, reading 2:45 p.m., as marchers stream past the bank).

The borough’s police car: SNI, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo).

American Legion honor guard: SNI, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo); CW (no date) (photo) (Goncalves docs).

American flag, with rifles: SNI, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo); CW (no date) (photo) (Goncalves docs).

Unity Day buttons: See CW (no date) (photo) (Goncalves docs).

Mahanoy City marching band: SEH, Mar. 7, 1983;
Tubas and slide trombones: HP, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo); PR, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo).

Senior citizens and middle-aged men and women: SEH, Mar. 7, 1983; SNI, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo); PR, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo).

Mount Carmel Cub Scouts: SEH, Mar. 7, 1983; SNI, Mar. 7, 1983.
Children pedaling bicycles: PR, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo).

Teenagers in parkas: SEH, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo); PR, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo).
Sea of bodies and balloons: HP, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo); SNI, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo); PR, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo); CW (no date) (photo) (Goncalves docs).

Babies in strollers: SEH, Mar. 7, 1983.
Garment workers who brandished: SEH, Mar. 7, 1983; PR, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo); SNI, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo).

About five hundred residents and civic leaders: HP, Mar. 7, 1983; SEH, Mar. 7, 1983; CW (no date); SNI, Mar. 7, 1983; but see PR, Mar. 7, 1983 (1,000 participants).

“Centralia Needs More than Lip Service:” SEH, Mar. 7, 1983.
“Burn Coal, Not People:” Ibid.
Flags dangled from porches: PR, Mar. 7, 1983; CW (no date) (Goncalves docs); see HP, Mar. 7, 1983.

Red, white, and blue streamers: SEH, Mar. 7, 1983; PR, Mar. 7, 1983 (photo); CW (no date) (Goncalves docs).

Abandoned store: CCHD Minutes (Jan. 11, 1983 & Jan. 18, 1983) (O’Hearn docs).

Lobbying for a mental health center: CCHD Minutes (Jan. 18, 1983) (O’Hearn docs).

Confided in one: PP, Mar. 6, 1983.

Something he would miss: Ibid.

Endured emotionally and spiritually: Ibid.

Shared his outlook: PP, Mar. 6, 1983. Tom said: “The Irish are very funny about their people, living or dead. I know it seems strange, but I go up to the cemetery and talk to my mother and father and brother.”

Twice a day: Jacobs, Slow Burn, pp. 136 (photo), 140.

“There is more cooperation:” CW (no date) (Goncalves docs).

Dark circles: CW (no date)(photo) (Goncalves docs).

Finalized their review: OSM, Centralia Mine Fire Assessment Drilling and Diagnostic Monitoring: Interim Report (March 1983), copy in AC (FOIA docs); OSM, Centralia Mine Fire Assessment Drilling and Diagnostic Monitoring: Final Report (May 1983), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Consumed 140 acres: OSM, Interim Report (March 1983), pp. 5, 8; OSM, Final Report (May 1983), pp. ii, 2, 27.

Seventy acres near Centralia: OSM, Interim Report (March 1983), p. 5; OSM, Final Report (May 1983), p. 27. 

Another seventy near Byrnesville: OSM, Interim Report (March 1983), p. 8; OSM, Final Report (May 1983), p. 27.

Approached 1,000 degrees: OSM, Interim Report (March 1983), p. 8.

Reputation for political obtuseness: Watt had weathered a string of public-relations gaffes. In February, 1982, the House energy and commerce committee cited him for contempt of Congress for invoking executive privilege and refusing to produce subpoenaed documents. SNI, Feb. 26, 1982. Also, the Government Accounting Office criticized him for improperly billing his agency for two private Christmas parties, hosted by his wife; Watt said she counted as an extension of his office, not a private person. SNI, Apr. 6, 1982.

Banned rock musicians: WP, Apr. 6, 1983; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, pp. 10-21. According to Mrs. Watt, her husband did not cancel the Beach Boys, he banned rock music because he was concerned about illegal drug use on the Mall during the Fourth of July celebrations, especially an annual “smoke-in” protesting the nation’s marijuana laws. He decided instead to offer patriotic music, to attract families and promote wholesomeness and solid, clean American lives. WP, Apr. 6, 1983; NYT, Apr. 6, 1983; NYT, Apr. 8, 1983; SNI, Apr. 7, 1983.

Attracted “the wrong element:” WP, Apr. 6, 1983; NYT, Apr. 6, 1983; NYT, Apr. 8, 1983; SNI, Apr. 7, 1983.

A family-oriented atmosphere: WP, Apr. 6, 1983; NYT, Apr. 8, 1983; see L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 12.

Military bands and Wayne Newton: WP, Apr. 6, 1983; NYT, Apr. 8, 1983.

Avalanche of derision: NYT, Apr. 8, 1983; SNI, Apr. 7, 1983.

Nation’s chief nerd: NYT, Apr. 8, 1983.

Capitol Hill: Ibid.

Reagan and the First Lady were fans: NYT, Apr. 8, 1983; see L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 17, 19.

Plaster trophy: NYT, Apr. 8, 1983; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 18.

Foot pocked with a bullet hole: NYT, Apr. 8, 1983; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 18.

Choreographed façade: See L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, pp. 18-19. According to Mrs. Watt, Secretary Watt fielded an angry phone call from Mrs. Reagan in the White House before participating in a staged presentation with the President, where he accepted the trophy, and appearing before the press corps, with instructions to say the First Lady liked the Beach Boys and they would be welcome back in town any time.

Reinstated as headliners: NYT, Apr. 8, 1983.

White House officials carping: NYT, Apr. 8, 1983; SNI, Apr. 7, 1983 (only Michael Deaver, Reagan’s deputy chief of staff, spoke on the record). 

Cloak of confidentiality: NYT, Apr. 8, 1983; SNI, Apr. 7, 1983.

“Maybe we ought to:” NYT, Apr. 8, 1983.

Torched Watt in effigy: Jacobs, Slow Burn, p. 18, 19 (photo).

Stuffed likeness: Ibid. 

“Let It Burn Jim:” Ibid.

Private consultants: See GAI Report; PDN, July 13, 1983; SNI, July 12, 1983.

Analyze borehole-project data: See GAI Report; SNI, July 12, 1983.

Skyrocketed to $663 million: GAI Report, Vol. I, Fig. 4. 

L-shaped $62 million trench: GAI Report, Vol. I, Figs. 4 & 5.

Measuring 3,900 feet long and up to 450 feet deep: GAI Report, Vol. I, Fig. 4.

Up to 3,700 acres: GAI Report, Vol. I, pp. vii-viii; WP, July 13, 1983; SNI, July 13, 1983; SEH, July 13, 1983.

A century or more: GAI Report, Vol. I, p. v; WP, July 13, 1983.

Front-page graphic: SNI, July 13, 1983; SNI, July 14, 1983.

Almost 200 residents: SEH, July 13, 1983; see PR, July 13, 1983 (DEP/DMS docs) (hundreds of residents); PI (July 14, 1983) (more than 600). 

Diagrams lined the walls: PR, July 13, 1983 (photo); M.L. Gaughan Photographs, MLSB.

All of Centralia and Byrnesville: SEH, July 13, 1983; SNI, July 13, 1983.

About eighty structures: PR, July 13, 1983; PDN, July 13, 1983; SNI, July 13, 1983; GAI Report, Fig. 4.

Three blocks of South Locust: SNI, July 13, 1983; see GAI Report, Vol. I, Figs. 4 & 5.

Most of Park Street: SNI, July 13, 1983; GAI Report, Vol. I, Figs. 4 & 5.

Disrupting almost everyone else: PDN, July 13, 1983; SEH, July 13, 1983.

No guarantee of success: PDN, July 13, 1983; SEH, July 13, 1983.

Did not warrant consideration: OSM staffers were busy finalizing plans for relocation, analyzing the real-estate market within a 50-mile radius of Centralia and the availability and cost of replacement housing. OSM, Centralia Acquisition Project: Relocation Assessment (August, 1983), copy in AC (FOIA docs); OSM, Real Estate Approximate Cost Estimates for Centralia, Pa. (Aug. 4, 1983), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); see Nightline, ABC, Aug. 11, 1983 (OSM director James Harris saying we can’t justify partial relocation, at a cost of $30 to $50 million, and trenching, which would cost about $60 million).

Except as a bargaining chip: In a letter to President Reagan, Governor Thornburgh invoked the $100 million to $600 million price tags as evidence of the need for federal funding -- and requested formation of a federal-state task force to resolve the Centralia crisis. Letter from Gov. Richard Thornburgh to President Ronald Reagan (July 12, 1983) (Thornburgh Papers); see DER, untitled news release (July 12, 1983), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs). 
Relocation becomes something: NYT, July 23, 1983. Congressman Harrison also wrote Secretary Watt, saying many residents were now considering relocation, if the federal government acquired their homes at fair market value. Letter from Rep. F. Harrison to J. Watt (July 20, 1983), copy in AC (FOIA docs).

Who would pay?: See, e.g., Thornburgh, Where the Evidence Leads, p. 164. Secretary Watt said through a spokesman he would entertain a “reasonable request” for federal funding, which the state construed as the mid-point between zero and $660 million, or $330 million. SNI, July 13, 1983; see Letter from Allen O. Perry to Centralia Borough Council (July 28, 1983) (suggesting a shared federal-state approach), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); Nightline, ABC, Aug. 11, 1983 (interview with OSM director James Harris, contemplating a fed-state split). Congressman Harrison, meanwhile, a freshman and rookie lawmaker, knew it would be difficult to persuade a budget-conscious Congress to appropriate resources to Centralia, with the cost of proposed solutions ranging into hundreds of millions of dollars. SEH, July 12, 1983; see Letter from Rep. F. Harrison to Watt (July 20, 1983), copy in AC (FOIA docs) (lobbying for federally financed relocation).

Natural disaster: Letter from Gov. Richard Thornburgh to President Ronald Reagan (July 12, 1983) (Thornburgh Papers). 

Times Beach, Missouri: DER news release (July 12, 1983). 

Environmental Protection Agency announced: NYT, Feb. 23, 1983; NYT, Apr. 8, 1986.

A $33 million initiative: NYT, Feb. 23, 1983; NYT, Apr. 8, 1986.

More than two thousand residents: NYT, Feb. 23, 1983; NYT, Apr. 8, 1986; NYT, Aug. 15, 1991.

Contaminated by dioxin: NYT, Feb. 23, 1983; NYT, Jan. 10, 1983; NYT, Dec. 26, 1982; NYT, Aug. 15, 1991.

Debut buyout project: NYT, Feb. 23, 1983.

The 1980 Superfund law: NYT, Feb. 23, 1983; see NYT, Mar. 18, 2004. The law’s formal name is the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act.

Hazardous waste cleanup measure: NYT, Feb. 23, 1983; NYT, Mar. 18, 2004.

Response to Love Canal: NYT, Mar. 18, 2004.

Not an emergency: Letter from Allen O. Perry to Centralia Borough Council (July 28, 1983), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

State would have to underwrite: Letter from Thornburgh to Pennsylvania Congressional Delegation (Aug. 12, 1983) (Thornburgh Papers) (saying OSM maintained state must pay); Nightline (Aug. 11, 1983). 

Obliterate her home: GAI Report, Vol. I, Fig. 4; SNI, July 13, 1983; SNI, July 14, 1983 (trench graphics).

Today show appearance: Today, NBC, July 13, 1983 (The author reviewed a videotape supplied by NBC).

Not determined the fire’s precise location: Today, NBC, July 13, 1983. 

Fly-ash barrier: SNI, July 26, 1983.

Simultaneous meetings underway: This account is based on interviews with several of the participants. See also Centralight (July 1983); Centralight (August 1983) (summary of neighborhood-area meetings).

Sessions in neighborhood settings: SEH, July 13, 1983; CCHD, Centralight (CCHD Newsletter No. 1, July 1983) (Updated Calendar of Meetings), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); CCHD, Centralight (CCHD Newsletter No. 2, August 1983), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs).

Unveiled a study: Pennsylvania Department of Health, Bureau of Epidemiology and Disease Prevention, Division of Environmental Health, Centralia Health Hazards: Columbia County, Pennsylvania, July 1983 Update (July 25, 1983), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); SEH, Aug. 2, 1983; 

Potential health effects: Pennsylvania Department of Health, Centralia Health Hazards (July 25, 1983); SEH, Aug. 2, 1983. 

From stress to … cancer: Pennsylvania Department of Health, Centralia Health Hazards (July 25, 1983); SEH, Aug. 2, 1983. 

Another non binding referendum: SEH, Aug. 2, 1983.

Restricted the franchise to property owners: SEH, Aug. 9, 1983; SEH, Aug. 11, 1983. 

Stay or relocate: SEH, Aug. 9, 1983; PI, Aug. 12, 1983; SEH, Aug. 11, 1983; HP, Aug. 12, 1983.

Helen and Elaine Jurgill swept: SEH, Aug. 5, 1983.

Preserve Centralia intact: Ibid.

Least disruptive option: SEH, Aug. 5, 1983; SEH, Aug. 9, 1983.

Limited relocation, at fair market value: SEH, Aug. 5, 1983; SEH, Aug. 9, 1983.

Health and welfare legitimately threatened: SEH, Aug. 5, 1983; SEH, Aug. 9, 1983. 

More than three hundred signatures: SEH, Aug. 5, 1983; SEH, Aug. 9, 1983 (412 signatures).

Vast majority did not want: SEH, Aug. 5, 1983.

High-pressure tactics, especially with elderly: SNI, Aug. 6, 1983.

Three days before: PI, Aug. 9, 1983; PDN, Aug. 9, 1983; SEH, Aug. 9, 1983.

No funding appropriated: PI, Aug. 9, 1983.

Reiterated findings: Pennsylvania Department of Health, Centralia Health Hazards (July 25, 1983); SEH, Aug. 2, 1983.

Hazardous gases and stress-related illnesses: Pennsylvania Department of Health, Centralia Health Hazards (July 25, 1983); PDN, Aug. 9, 1983.
Between $5,000 and $26,000: OSM, Real Estate Approximate Cost Estimates for Centralia, Pa. (Aug. 4, 1983), p. 6, copy in AC  (O’Hearn docs); PDN, Aug. 9, 1983; HP, Aug. 12, 1983; PI, Aug. 12, 1983.

Between $10,000 and $55,000: OSM, Real Estate Approximate Cost Estimates for Centralia, Pa., p. 6; PI, Aug. 9, 1983; PDN, Aug. 9, 1983; HP, Aug. 12, 1983; PI, Aug. 12, 1983; SEH, Aug. 9, 1983. 

“Are the only:” PI, Aug. 9, 1983.

“Are two options all:” Ibid.

“That’s correct:” Ibid.

Gray skies and humidity: BG, Aug. 12, 1983.

Scores of journalists: SNI, Aug. 11, 1983.

Grappling: See RE, Jan. 16, 1983; PP, Mar. 6, 1983.

No stoplight or movie theater: PI, Aug. 12, 1983.

No restaurant or grocery: RE, Jan. 16, 1983.

Handwritten sign, barring the media: SEH, Aug. 11, 1983 (photo); SNI, Aug. 11, 1983 (photo).

Loitered on the sidewalk: SEH, Aug. 11, 1983 (photo).

Checks in the box marked “stay:” PI, Aug. 12, 1983.

Several dozen residents: PI, Aug. 12, 1983; BPE, Aug. 12, 1983 (about 70); SEH, Aug. 12, 1983 (same); HP, Aug. 12, 1983 (same).

Cool, damp air: BPE, Aug. 12, 1983.

Just before nine p.m.: BPE, Aug. 12, 1983; SNI, Aug. 12, 1983; PI, Aug. 12, 1983; but see Nightline, ABC, Aug. 11, 1983 (shortly before 10 p.m.).

Shirtsleeves, clutching a piece: Jacobs, Slow Burn, p. 114 (photo); Nightline, ABC, Aug. 11, 1983. 

Boom mikes and tape recorders: Jacobs, Slow Burn, p. 114 (photo). 

First half of its broadcast: Nightline, ABC, Aug. 11, 1983. Lynn Sherr anchored the broadcast from Washington. Steve Shepard reported from Centralia.

Glow of television lights: PI, Aug. 12, 1983; PI, Aug. 12, 1983 (photo).

Microphones bobbed: Jacobs, Slow Burn, p. 114 (photo).

Relocation had won by 345 to 200: PI, Aug. 12, 1983; HP, Aug. 12, 1983; BPE, Aug. 12, 1983; SNI, Aug. 12, 1983; see Nightline, ABC, Aug. 11, 1983).

A few in the crowd gasped: BPE, Aug. 12, 1983.

Cameraman logged: Jacobs, Slow Burn, p. 114 (photo). 

Pantsuit: Ibid.

Younger woman: Ibid.

Middle-aged men with truckers’ caps: PI, Aug. 12, 1983 (photo). 

Another Centralia, at a new location: SNI, Aug. 12, 1983.

“Definitely:” Ibid.

Residents to Save The Borough: Centralia Fact Sheet (bearing handwritten date of Aug. 28, 1983), copy in AC (O’Hearn docs); SNI, Aug. 31, 1983.

Weekly gatherings in Devine’s garage: Residents to Save The Borough Fact Sheet No. 2 (No date), copy in AC (MLSB; Goncalves docs & O’Hearn docs); NYT, Dec. 4, 1983.

Fact sheets: The first Centralia Fact Sheet appeared in late August, refuting information from CCHD. See Centralia Fact Sheet (Aug. 28, 1983). 

Alleged referendum vote fraud: Ibid. 

Full information about the trench: Ibid. 

Independence, patriotism and solidarity: See Residents to Save The Borough Fact Sheet No. 2.
“This is still America:” Ibid.

“Our forefathers came to:” Ibid.

Controversy again engulfed Watt: Watt had already made controversial remarks about Indian reservations, pro-choice activists and Jewish liberals. See L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 20; WP, Sept. 22, 1983.

Federal coal leasing program: NYT, July 27, 1983; NYT, Sept. 18, 1983; NYT, Sept. 21, 1983. 

Environmental groups decried: NYT, July 27, 1983.

Integrity of several national parks: Ibid.

Anasazi archaeological sites: Ibid.

Overrun wildlife habitats: Ibid.

Uncovered oversight flaws: Ibid.

Lease of the Powder River Basin: Ibid.

Yielded $100 million less: Ibid.

Moratorium: NYT, Sept. 18, 1983.

Declared the prohibition unconstitutional: Ibid.

Auctioned eight tracts near the North Dakota-Montana border: Ibid.

Emergency order blocking the sale: Ibid.

Day of the SOBs’ meeting: NYT, Sept. 21, 1983.

Senate voted 63 to 33: NYT, Sept. 21, 1983. The Senate later voted 76 to 18 to incorporate the moratorium into an $8 billion Interior Department spending bill. NYT, Sept. 22, 1983; WP, Sept. 22, 1983. Watt condemned the measure, saying: “The world [is] ready to ignite, and your secretary of the Interior has to deal with 535 members of Congress that don’t seem to be concerned about the future supply of energy in America.” NYT, Sept. 22, 1983; WP, Sept. 22, 1983.

Breakfast speech before the Chamber: NYT, Sept. 22, 1983; WP, Sept. 22, 1983.

Obsession with sex, controversy and scandal: NYT, Sept. 22, 1983.

Failing to endorse his energy program: NYT, Sept. 22, 1983.

Congressionally mandated commission: WP, Sept. 22, 1983; NYT, Sept. 24, 1983; NYT, Oct. 2, 1983.

“We have every kind:” WP, Sept. 22, 1983 (“mix”); L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 162 (same); cf. NYT, Sept. 22, 1983 (“mixture”).

“I have a black:” NYT, Sept. 22, 1983; WP, Sept. 22, 1983.

“And we have talent:” NYT, Sept. 22, 1983; WP, Sept. 22, 1983.

Remark provoked laughter: NYT, Sept. 22, 1983; WP, Sept. 22, 1983.

Inquired about its wisdom: NYT, Sept. 22, 1983; WP, Sept. 22, 1983.

“If you can’t joke:” NYT, Sept. 22, 1983.

Gearing up for re-election: NYT, Sept. 23, 1983; NYT, Oct. 9, 1983. Governor Thornburgh had agreed to spearhead Reagan’s Pennsylvania re-election bid. SEH, Sept. 22, 1983.

Within hours: WP, Sept. 22, 1983; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 162.

Phoned one of the Jewish commissioners: NYT, Sept. 22, 1983; WP, Sept. 22, 1983.

PDN, Sept. 23, 1983; SNI, Sept. 22, 1983.

A paralyzed arm: NYT, Sept. 22, 1983; PDN, Sept. 23, 1983 (commissioner Richard L. Gordon, a coal-policy expert from Penn State University, was Jewish and had a paralyzed right arm); WP, Sept. 22, 1983 (same).

Apologize: NYT, Sept. 22, 1983; WP, Sept. 22, 1983; PDN, Sept. 23, 1983.

Countdown, like a death watch: See NYT, May 13, 2006 (recounting speculation about the much-rumored and imminent departure of then-Treasury Secretary John Snow). Watt called his wife at home the afternoon of the remark, saying he thought he was in trouble. L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 162. The next morning’s Washington Post confirmed his fears. Ibid, p. 163.

Days, not weeks: NYT, Sept. 24, 1983; NYT, Sept. 26, 1983; SEH, Sept. 26, 1983; NYT, Oct. 7, 1983; SEH, Oct. 8, 1983.

“Liberals and Americans:” WP, Sept. 22, 1983; NYT, Sept. 24, 1983; NYT, Oct. 10, 1983.

Engineering his own irrelevance: Watt dodged the press after a September 22 meeting with Thornburgh, the inaugural session of a federal-state mine-fire-task force Thornburgh requested. SEH, Sept. 23, 1983. The next day, a Watt assistant said he supported using AML funds to relocate Centralia. SNI, Sept. 24, 1983. 

Congressman Joseph M. McDade: Governor Thornburgh, untitled news release (Oct. 5, 1983) (Thornburgh Papers). McDade, who hailed from Scranton, was the ranking Republican on the House Interior Appropriations Subcommittee. After the GAI Report’s release, he said he stood ready to help procure the federal funds necessary to end the Centralia nightmare. SNI, July 12, 1983.

Amendment to a supplemental appropriations bill: PDN, Sept. 23, 1983; SEH, Sept. 23, 1983; SNI, Sept. 23, 1983.

Earmarking $42 million to relocate: SEH, Sept. 22, 1983; SEH, Sept. 23, 1983; PDN, Sept. 23, 1983; Thornburgh news release (Oct. 5, 1983).
Later that evening: WP, Sept. 23, 1983; SEH, Sept. 22, 1983.

Battled to preserve: Watt’s support eroded across the capital, with six Republican senators calling on him to resign. The president’s spokesman, Larry Speakes, issued a tepid endorsement, saying Reagan retained confidence in his Interior Secretary “until I tell you differently.” Even the president’s daughter, Maureen Reagan, entered the fray, saying Watt would quit if he were truly loyal. SNI, Sept. 24, 1983.

Fair market value, with no penalty: Thornburgh news release (Oct. 5, 1983).

Charged 75 percent to: PDN, Sept. 23, 1983; SNI, Sept. 23, 1983.

Thornburgh pitched from the outset: PI, Aug. 14, 1983; Letter from Thornburgh to Pennsylvania Congressional Delegation (Aug. 12, 1983) (Thornburgh Papers); Gov. Thornburgh, untitled news release (Aug. 12, 1983) (Thornburgh Papers); PI, Aug. 13, 1983.

Only 25 percent: PDN, Sept. 23, 1983; SNI, Sept. 23, 1983.

Rebuffed on Nightline, six weeks earlier: Nightline, ABC, Aug. 11, 1983 (interview with OSM director, James Harris, saying the state had to decide how much of its AML funding to allocate to Centralia).

Resounded across the capital: PDN, Sept. 23, 1983; SEH, Sept. 28, 1983.

Washington Post’s editorial pages: WP, Sept. 22, 1983; WP, Oct. 11, 1983.

Dole said the comment offended him: NYT, Sept. 27, 1983; see L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 164, for an account of a private conversation between Senator Dole and Watt.

Conceded his mistake: NYT, Sept. 23, 1983.

Asked Reagan’s forgiveness: NYT, Sept. 23, 1983.

Off the record: PDN, Sept. 23, 1983; see NYT, Sept. 27, 1983; NYT, Sept. 29, 1983; NYT, Oct, 7, 1983; NYT, Oct. 9, 1983.

Accept his decision to quit: PDN, Sept. 23, 1983; see NYT, Sept. 29, 1983 (administration officials said Reagan was unwilling to dismiss Watt); NYT, Oct. 7, 1983 (aides said privately Reagan did not want to be part of a “lynching”); NYT Oct. 9, 1983 (aides said privately Watt would be gone soon); see L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, pp. 166, 170 (Reagan staffers James Baker and Edwin Meese initially rebuffed Watt’s offer to resign).
Resolution urging resignation: NYT, Sept. 27, 1983; SNI, Oct. 6, 1983; SNI, Oct. 7, 1983; NYT, Oct. 7, 1983; NYT, Oct. 8, 1983; NYT, Oct. 10, 1983.

Friend’s ranch near Santa Barbara: NYT, Oct. 8, 1983; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 170.
Cheney and Simpson distanced: NYT, Oct. 7, 1983; NYT, Oct. 8, 1983. Originally, Senator Simpson said Watt made a very unfortunate comment, but he should not resign. PDN, Sept. 23, 1983. 

Phoned Reagan at Camp David and resigned: NYT, Oct. 10, 1983; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 177.

Only way to deal: L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, pp. 177-78. According to his wife, Secretary Watt took notes of his conversation with the president.

On horseback to a pasture: NYT, Oct. 10, 1983; SNI, Oct. 10, 1983; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, pp. 174, 179.

Texas longhorns grazed: L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 174.
Beneath an oak tree: Ibid.

Reporters waited: NYT, Oct. 10, 1983; SNI, Oct. 10, 1983; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 179.

President Reagan’s ranch: L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 172.

Watt dismounted: NYT, Oct. 10, 1983; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 179.

Helped his wife: Ibid.
Clipped a microphone: Ibid.

Farmer’s daughter: Ibid, p. 34.

Wedding: Ibid, p. 30.

And inaugural ball gowns: Ibid, p. 34.

Held the reins: SNI, Oct. 10, 1983; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 179.

Read his resignation letter: NYT, Oct. 10, 1983; SEH, Oct. 10, 1983; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 179.

Voice quavering at times: SNI, Oct. 10, 1983.

“The time has come:” NYT, Oct. 10, 1983 (reprinting the complete text of Watt’s resignation letter); L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, pp. 179-80 (same).

“We confronted the neglect:” Ibid.
“We gave purpose and:” Ibid.
“In fact, all the:” Ibid.
“Our actions to reduce:” Ibid.
“The balance is being:” Ibid.
“It is time for:” Ibid.
“It is my view:” Ibid.

“A different type:” Ibid.
“I leave behind people:” Ibid.
“Our people and their:” Ibid.
Reporters quizzed him: NYT, Oct. 10, 1983.
“We will continue our:” NYT, Oct. 10, 1983; see SNI, Oct. 10, 1983; L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 181.

Back at the ranch: L. Watt, Caught in the Conflict, p. 181.
Leilani’s hand and prayed: Ibid.
East steps: PI, Nov. 19, 1983.

Red grosgrain ribbon: PI, Nov. 19, 1983; Jacobs, Slow Burn, p. 119 (photo); NYT, Nov. 20, 1983.

Kevin Troup: HP, Nov. 19, 1983; SNI, Nov. 19, 1983.

Chartered bus earlier: PI, Nov. 19, 1983; SNI, Nov. 18, 1983.

Contingent of thirty: NYT, Nov. 20, 1983; PI, Nov. 19, 1983; PDN, Nov. 19, 1983.

In the House gallery: NYT, Nov. 20, 1983; PI, Nov. 19, 1983; PDN, Nov. 19, 1983; HP, Nov. 19, 1983.

Last day: PI, Nov. 19, 1983.

The 98th Congress’ first session: Ibid.

A $302 million catch-all: PI, Nov. 19, 1983; HP, Nov. 19, 1983.

International Monetary Fund: SEH, Nov. 18, 1983; PI, Nov. 19, 1983; HP, Nov. 19, 1983.

Centralia’s $42 million relocation: See 97 Stat. 1153 (Nov. 30, 1983) (West Supp. 1999). The $42 million appropriation, derived from AML receipts, provided fair market-value acquisition of private homes and businesses in Centralia. Under the final legislation, 75 percent of the $42 million hailed from the Interior secretary’s discretionary AML funds – the outcome Watt had resisted. The remaining 25 percent flowed from Pennsylvania’s share of AML proceeds. See HP, Nov. 19, 1983; 97 Stat. 1153; Gov. Thornburgh, untitled news release (Dec. 1, 1983) (Thornburgh Papers).

Measure passed, 226-186: PI, Nov. 19, 1983; PDN, Nov. 19, 1983.

Clapped and cheered: PI, Nov. 19, 1983.

Approved by the Senate: SEH, Nov. 18, 1983.

Had not triggered debate: PI, Nov. 19, 1983; SEH, Nov. 18, 1983 (no debate in the Senate either).

Roots back five generations: HP, Nov. 19, 1983.

Father McDermott’s curse: Tom knew most Centralians referred to the curse as the handiwork of Father McDermott. Tom’s family, however, attributed the curse to Father Field, Father McDermott’s successor. Tom, whose great-grandfather witnessed the event, remains convinced his version is correct. I derive my account from George Korson’s book, which attributed the curse to Father McDermott, based on an eyewitness interview.

Epilogue: Home

Razed in 1997: HPN, July 29, 1997; YDR, Sept. 4, 1997; Johnson, Centralia, pp. 93-97 (photos of Thanksgiving-weekend demolition).

Buried in Carl’s shoulder: SEH, June 26, 1995 (photo).

Son of a Scranton miner: NYT, June 1, 2000. 

Invoked his eminent domain: Letter from Rosenn, Jenkins & Greenwald, Attorneys for CCRA, to David and Patricia Lamb (Feb. 18, 1992), copy in AC (Lamb docs); SNI, Feb. 19, 1992; SNI, Feb. 20, 1992; PI, Feb. 21, 1992.

Threatened to evict: See Letter from Rosenn, Jenkins & Greenwald to D. and P. Lamb (Feb. 18, 1992), copy in AC (saying if any of the remaining residents rejected the redevelopment authority’s purchase offers, the commonwealth would attempt to buy their properties through its powers of eminent domain).

Remaining eighty-odd residents: PI, Feb. 21, 1992 (84 residents); SNI, Feb. 28, 1982 (84 residents); SNI, Feb. 20, 1992 (43 households and two businesses); cf. PR, Feb. 28, 1992 (58 residents).

Reagan inked his signature: Thornburgh news release (Dec. 1, 1983) (now “we can turn our attention to the difficult task of stopping the fire itself”); SEH, Dec. 1, 1983; SNI, Dec. 1, 1983.

Relocation would remain voluntary: PI, Nov. 25, 1983 (editorial); NYT, Dec. 4, 1983; see Thornburgh news release (Dec. 1, 1983). 

Responded with a Saint Patrick’s Day card: Letter from H. Womer to M.L. Gaughan (Mar. 17, 1999), copy in AC.

“I feel there has:” Ibid.

“So glad you accepted:” Ibid.

Son Tony just died: SNI, Aug. 10, 2001.

November 2001: SNI, Nov. 19, 2001.

A few days after: According to Helen’s tombstone at St. Ignatius Cemetery, she was born on November 12, 1928 and died on November 18, 2001.
Leveled Catharene and Peacho’s: See Jacobs, Slow Burn, pp. 143-45 (photos).

Fundamental difference: See Jacobs, Slow Burn, pp. 89, 90.
Counseling communities: NOTP, Aug. 15, 1995. 

“They move whole communities:” Ibid.

“We tell everybody you:” Ibid.

An Irish American: Tom insists the newspaper was American Irish not Irish American, destined for an audience of American-born sons and daughters of Ireland.

Thornburgh as Attorney General: Thornburgh, Where the Evidence Leads, pp. 199-206, 300-03.

CBS News tapped him: NYT, Sept. 24, 2004.

Charged with investigating: NYT, Jan. 11, 2005; NYT, Sept. 24, 2004.

First broadcast on 60 Minutes: NYT, Sept. 24, 2004.

Raising questions about: NYT, Sept. 24, 2004; NYT, Jan. 11, 2005.

In private practice: Thornburgh is of counsel to Kirkpatrick & Lockhart Nicholson Graham LLP. See www.klng.com/locations/detail/aspx?office=2 (accessed Oct. 2, 2006).
Twenty-five felony counts: NYT, Feb. 23, 1995; NYT, Jan. 3, 1996.

Independent counsel: NYT, Feb. 23, 1995; NYT, Jan. 3, 1996.
Influence peddling: NYT, Feb. 23, 1995. 

HUD during the 1980s: Ibid.

Lying about the extent: Ibid.

Withholding documents potentially relevant: NYT, Feb. 23, 1995; NYT, Jan. 3, 1996.

Work as a private consultant: NYT, Feb. 23, 1995; NYT, Jan. 3, 1996.

Seeking federal HUD aid: NYT, Feb. 23, 1995; NYT, Jan. 3, 1996.

After he resigned: NYT, Jan. 3, 1996.

Originally maintained his innocence: NYT, Feb. 23, 1995; NYT, Jan. 3, 1996.

Pleaded guilty: NYT, Jan. 3, 1996.

Single misdemeanor charge: Ibid.

Trying to influence a federal grand jury: Ibid.

A $5,000 fine: NYT, Mar. 13, 1996.

Five hundred hours of community service: Ibid.

Five years’ probation: Ibid.

A “serious mistake:” Ibid.

“I didn’t take it:” Ibid.

Maybe a century: See GAI Report, p. v.

Launch into overdrive: See OSM, 25th Anniversary of the Surface Mining Law, p. 9 (“Because public health, safety, and property can be seriously threatened by abandoned mine emergencies, the capability for rapid response is critical. Reported emergencies are usually investigated within 24 hours and abated within less than a month.”)
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